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PROCEEDINGS RESUME ON 08 JANUARY 2021  

CHAIRPERSON:    Good morn ing  Ms S ib i ya ,  good morn ing  

everybody.  

ADV SIBIYA:   Good morn ing  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:   I s  everybody f ine  in  the  new year?  

ADV SIBIYA:   We are  he re  de f in i te ly.  

CHAIRPERSON:   You are  here .   Okay a re  you ready? 

ADV SIBIYA:   Yes thank you very  much Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay.  

ADV SIBIYA:   Th is  morn ing  we w i l l  be  dea l ing  w i th  the  10 

ev idence o f  A lexkor  and… 

CHAIRPERSON:   I  th ink  you have  a  so f t  vo ice  you have to  

ra ise  your  vo ice  and –  and a lso  make sure  the  m icrophone 

you are  no t  too  fa r  away f rom the  microphone.  

ADV SIBIYA:   Thank you Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay.   Yes.  

ADV SIBIYA:   Thank you Cha i r.   Wi th  me there  are  some 

lega l  rep resenta t i ves  o f  some o f  the  par t ies  tha t  a re  

ment ioned in  the  ev idence i f  may be they can p lace  

themse lves on  record?  20 

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes le t  us  take  care  o f  tha t .   I f  you  are  

ab le  to  do  i t  f rom where  you are  tha t  i s  acceptab le  i f  no t  

you can jus t  have  to  swi tch  on  the  m icrophone.  

ADV WILD:   Than you Cha i r.   Duncan Wi ld  b r i e fed  by  

Webber  Wentze l  A t to rneys fo r  Gamera Adv isory  Serv ices .  
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CHAIRPERSON:   Thank you we w i l l  have to  doub le  check  

whethe r  the  t ransc r ibe rs  cou ld  hear  you because 

somet imes when the  mask i s  on  –  when you have got  the  

mask on they m ight  no t  be  ab le  to  –  ja  maybe jus t… 

ADV WILD:   Le t  us  –  thank you Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:   You can jus t  repeat  ja .  

ADV WILD:   I  w i l l  doub le .   Duncan Wi ld  b r ie fed  by  Webber  

Wentze l  ac t ing  fo r  Gamera Adv isory  Serv ices .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Thank you.  

ADV BHAM:   Thank you Cha i r  Azhar  Bham I  am ins t ruc ted  10 

by  Wand i le  Ndabambi  o f  ENS At to rneys and we appear  fo r  

the  S ta te  D iamond Trader.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Thank you ve ry  much.   Thank you.  

ADV SIBIYA:   Thank you Cha i r  –  t hank you Cha i r  there  had  

been an ind ica t ion  tha t  there  m ight  be  some issues in  

re la t ion  to  the  ev idence tha t  we in tend to  p resent  th is  

morn ing  procedura l  aspects .   I  jus t  need to  check w i th  my 

co l leagues whether  they w i l l  be  ra is ing  any o f  those 

issues.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Wel l .  20 

ADV SIBIYA:   P r io r  to  the  … 

CHAIRPERSON:   Wel l  you can jus t  p ress  ahead  i f  and  

when they want  to  say someth ing  they know what  to  do .   

Jus t  p ress  ahead  and i f  they  –  i f  and when you reach a  

po in t  where  they have someth ing  they w i l l  ind ica te .  
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ADV SIBIYA:   Thank you Cha i r.   Cha i r  th is  morn ing  we are  

dea l ing  w i th  the  ev idence re la ted  to  m in ing .   Tha t  i s  the 

m in ing  s t ream and the  ev idence  spec i f i ca l l y  dea ls  w i th  

A lexkor  and i r regu lar i t ies  tha t  re la te  to  A lexko r  wh ich  is  a  

s ta te  owned ent i t y.  

CHAIRPERSON:   As  you exp la in  the  ev idence tha t  w i l l  be 

led  jus t  take  in to  account  tha t  members  o f  the  pub l i c .  

ADV SIBIYA:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Migh t  no t  even  know what  A lexkor  i s .   

Exp la in  what  A lexkor  i s  and what  i s  invo lved  in  the 10 

ev idence tha t  we w i l l  be  look ing  a t  so  tha t  as  the  ev idence  

is  g iven they w i l l  fo l low.  

ADV SIBIYA:   Thank you Cha i r.   A lexkor  i s  a  s ta te  owned  

ent i t y  tha t  i s  –  tha t  dea ls  in  the  m in ing  o f  d iamonds in  

South  A f r i ca .   I t  repor t s  to  the  Depar tment  o f  Pub l ic  

Enterp r ises  and the  name der ives  f rom the  area where  the  

m in ing  o f  d iamonds was meant  to  be  tak ing  p lace and tha t  

i s  in  A lexander  Bay.   So A lexkor  der ives  f rom tha t .  

 The ev idence tha t  we w i l l  be  dea l ing  w i th  came 

about  when there  was a  wh is t le  b lower  tha t  came to  the  20 

commiss ion  and ind ica ted  w i th  some a l legat ions in  re la t ion  

to  the  captu re  o f  A lexkor  and the  na tu re  o f  the  –  the  

capture  tha t  he  ind ica ted  was tha t  there  was capture  in  two 

ways.  

 There  was the  capture  i n  the  fo rm o f  ge t t ing  ho ld  o f  
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the  produce o f  the  m ines wh ich  is  d iamonds.   So get t ing  

access to  tha t  p roduce and the  o ther  capture  tha t  was 

ind ica ted  was in  red i rec t ing  the  purposes o f  –  o f  A lexkor  

f rom i t s  main  mandate  o f  m in ing  d iamonds in to  m in ing  

coa ls  and –  in to  m in ing  coa l  and thereby pos i t ion ing  i t  fo r  

–  fo r  en t i t ies  tha t  a re  l inked the  Gupta  fami ly  to  be  ab le  to  

p rov ide  coa l  to  Eskom.  

 The Min i s te r  a t  the  t ime had changed the  – had  

changed the  –  had agreed w i th  the  board  in  chang ing  the  

d i rec t ion  o f  A lexkor  in to  coa l  m in ing  as  we l l  bu t  no t  to  be 10 

per fo rmed in  A lexander  Bay wh ich  is  the  p lace tha t  A lexkor  

was crea ted to  serve  main l y  bu t  the  coa l  was go ing  to  be  

mined in  Mpumalanga and a l l  the  o ther  a reas tha t  a re  no t  

in  A lexander  Bay  and thereby red i rec t ing  a l l  the  focus o f  

A lexkor  and depr iv ing  the  communi ty  tha t  A lexkor  was  

crea ted par t l y  to  serve .  

  Th i s  was –  th is  fo l lowed the  –  the  announcement  

tha t  there  were  go ing  to  be  oppor tun i t ies  to  serve  Eskom 

by p rov id ing  coa l  fo r  them.  

 Now what  happened was tha t  the  –  the  idea or  the  20 

a im was to  pos i t ion  Gupta  compan ies  to  p rov ide  the  coa l  

and there  has been ev idence tha t  re la tes  to  tha t .   So 

A lexkor  was a lso  be ing  pos i t ioned fo r  tha t .  

 The ev idence –  tha t  was what  the  wh is t le  b lower  

ind ica ted  but  he  a lso  ind ica ted  o ther  i r regu la r i t ies  tha t  
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were  tak ing  p lace  a t  A lexko r.  

 Hav ing  rece ived  tha t  submiss ion  f rom the  wh is t le  

b lower  then the  commiss ion ’s  invest iga tors  conducted the i r  

own invest iga t ions and the  f ind ings tha t  were  made  or  the  

conc lus ion  tha t  was drawn was tha t  the  a l legat ions tha t  

had been made by  the  wh is t le  b lower  cou ld  be  suppor ted  

by  the  ev idence tha t  was uncovered by  the  invest iga tors .  

 So our  w i tnesses  w i l l  be  –  th is  ev idence addresses  

the  te rms o f  re fe rence 1 .1  and 1 .5  o f  the  commiss ion  and  

the  –  in  A lexander  Bay there  was a  land c la im tha t  was  10 

made by  the  communi ty  o f  R i tch te rsve ld t .   They succeeded  

in  the i r  land c la im.   The e f fec t  o f  the i r  success was tha t  

they cou ld  now have access to  the  land tha t  had been 

a l loca ted  to  A lexkor  fo r  m in ing .  

 So a  consent  o r  an  orde r  by  consent  was taken by  

the  par t ies  to  tha t  l i t i ga t ion  wh ich  inc luded the  government  

o f  South  A f r i can,  A lexkor  and the  communi ty  o f  

R i tch te rsve ld t  in  te rms o f  wh ich  i t  was agreed tha t  there  

wou ld  be  a  Jo in t  Venture  tha t  wou ld  be  crea ted tha t  wou ld  

rep resent  the  in te res t  o f  the  communi ty  as  we l l  as  the  20 

in te res t  o f  A lexko r.  

 And tha t  Jo in t  Venture  wou ld  –  and par t  o f  the  

agreement  was tha t  the  –  the  in te res t  in  the  Jo in t  Ventu re  

wou ld  be  he ld  in  the  fo l low ing manner :  

 A lexkor  wou ld  have 51% in teres t  and shareho ld ing  
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and the  communi ty  wou ld  have 49%.  

 So in  e f fec t  a  Jo in t  Venture  was then c rea ted and  

the  pu rpose –  the  ag reement  was  tha t  the  communi ty  go t  

access to  49  –  to  the  m in ing  –  the  land min ing  r igh ts  and  

A lexkor  wh ich  a lways had concess ions to  m ine in  tha t  a rea  

i t  had had concess ions to  m ine the  land and a lso  to  m ine  

the  ocean.   So there  was a l so  Mar ine  Min ing  and the  resu l t  

was tha t  in  te rms o f  th is  agreement  the  communi ty  ge ts  

49% of  the  –  o f  the  share  in  the  Jo in t  Ventu re  bu t  they 

come wi th  the  land min ing  r igh ts .   And A lexkor  ge ts  51% 10 

and i t  comes w i th  the  Mar ine  m in ing  r igh ts .  

 So th is  Jo in t  Ven ture  meant  tha t  they were  go ing  to  

pu l l  the i r  resources together  so  they wou ld  share  in  the  – 

in  the  benef i t s  wh ich  was good g iven tha t  the  land 

ava i lab le  fo r  m in ing  or  the  d iamonds in  the  land had been  

dep le ted  whereas  the  d iamonds in  the  ocean had no t  been  

dep le ted .  

 So i t  meant  tha t  wh i le  the  communi ty  go t  th is  

v ic to ry  o f  be ing  awarded the  land tha t  inc luded a  m in ing  

r igh t  wh ich  cou ld  a lso  have become a  –  an  ant i -v ic to ry  20 

because there  was very  l i t t le  le f t  to  m ine i t  meant  tha t  

there  was a  benef i t  to  the  communi ty  by  the  fo rmat ion  o f  

the  Jo in t  Venture  and the  fac t  tha t  they were  go ing  to  

share  together  in  the  poo led  resources.  

 That  i s  the  nub o f  the  ev idence bu t  what  a l so  came 
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ou t  and what  had  been exp la ined by  the  wh is t le  b lower  was 

tha t  the  Jo in t  Venture  a l though i t  had been es tab l i shed to  

ensure  the  in te res t  o f  the  commun i ty  were  guarded  had in  

fac t  –  had in  fac t  appo in ted  a  cont rac tor  wh ich  was not  

inco r rec t .   They appo in ted  a  person or  an  en t i t y  tha t  was  

go ing  to  be  tasked w i th  the  market ing  and sa le  o f  a l l  the  

d iamonds tha t  were  m ined by  the  PSJV.  

 So tha t  meant  tha t  whether  i t  i s  m ined on the  land 

or  in  the  mar ine  i t  wou ld  go  to  th is  en t i t y  and f rom th is  

en t i t y  i t  wou ld  be  marketed and so ld  and then the  p roceeds 10 

wou ld  come to  be  shared in  accordance w i th  the 

agreement .  

 The a l legat ions tha t  came wi th  the  wh is t le  b lower  

ind ica ted  tha t  the  en t i t y  tha t  was  awarded the  cont rac t  o f  

ensur ing  –  o f  market ing  and se l l ing  the  d iamonds on  beha l f  

o f  the  communi ty ;  on  beha l f  o f  A lexkor  and on beha l f  o f  the  

Jo in t  Venture  the  ev idence was  tha t  tha t  en t i t y  was a  

Gupta  l inked ent i t y.   So –  and the i r  powers  were  ex tens i ve  

because the  m inors  themse lves –  ne i ther  the  m iners  nor  

the  Jo in t  Venture  wou ld  in  fac t  va lue  the  d iamonds tha t  20 

they were  g iv ing  to  th is  en t i t y  to  market  and se l l .  

 So  they wou ld  take  the  raw mater ia l  and g ive  i t  to  

th is  en t i t y  and on ly  th is  en t i t y  cou ld  then determine  th is  i s  

how much we va lue  these d iamonds tha t  you have g iven to  

us  and they had no way o f  doub le  check ing  tha t .    
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 And then in  the  sa le  –  in  the  se l l ing  what  a lso  came 

out  was tha t  there  were  no  proper  records  to  show who the  

sa les  were  be ing  made to  and how much.   So there  was a  

lo t  o f  d isgrunt lement  tha t  had happened.  

 There  was an invest iga t ion  tha t  was commiss ioned 

by  the  Depar tment  o f  Pub l ic  Enterp r ises  and our  f i rs t  

w i tness w i l l  be  ta lk ing  to  tha t  invest iga t ion .  

 We have w i tnesses tha t  w i l l  tes t i f y  today tha t  we  

have schedu led  fo r  tes t i f y ing  today.   I t  i s  two w i tnesses i t  

i s  Mr  To r res  who  is  the  au thor  o f  the  invest iga t ion  repor ts  10 

tha t  was commiss ioned by  the  Depar tment  o f  Pub l ic  

Enterp r ises  and we a lso  have Mr  Gav in  Craythorne  who is  

the  wh is t le  b lower  tha t  approached  commiss ion .  

 We a lso  have o ther  w i tnesses tha t  we hope to  be  

ab le  to  accommodate  in  the  fu tu re  tha t  have –  tha t  w i l l  ta lk  

to  the  l inks  in  the  ev idence tha t  was uncovered  and –  and  

te l l  –  and put  the  s to ry  a l togethe r.  

 One is  Jan Decker  he  is  a  fo rens ic  accountant  and 

he conducted an  invest iga t ion  in to  the  va lua t ion  process 

among o ther  th ings and is  ab le  to  ta lk  to  how much the  –  20 

the  d iamonds were  in  fac t  underva lued because h is  

conc lus ion  was tha t  they were  be ing  underva lued  by  the  

en t i t y.   And the  o ther  w i tness i s  Peter  B ishop he conducted 

fu r ther  invest iga t ions in to  the  –  in to  the  a l legat ions by  the  

wh is t le  b lower  and he drew conc lus ions f rom tha t  and he  
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was ab le  to  go  fu r the r  than what  the  wh is t le  b lower  had 

done due to  the  powers  g iven to  the  commiss ion .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay thank you;  thank you.   A re  you  

ready fo r  your  f i rs t  w i tness to  take  the  oa th?  

ADV SIBIYA:   Yes,  yes .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay p lease  admin is te r  the  oa th  or  

a f f i rmat ion .  

REGISTRAR:   P lease s ta te  your  fu l l  names fo r  the  record .  

MR TORRES:   My  name is  A lber t  Tor res .  

REGISTRAR:   Do you have any  ob jec t ion  to  tak ing  the  10 

prescr ibed oath?  

MR TORRES:   I  do  no t  have.  

REGISTRAR:   Do you cons ider  the  oa th  to  be  b ind ing  on  

your  consc ience?  

MR TORRES:   Yes I  do .  

REGISTRAR:   Do you swear  tha t  tha t  ev idence you w i l l  

g ive  w i l l  be  the  t ru th ;  the  who le  t ru th  and noth ing  e lse  bu t  

the  t ru th ;  i f  so  p lease ra ise  your  r igh t  hand and say,  so  

he lp  me God.  

MR TORRES:   So  he lp  me God.  20 

CHAIRPERSON:   Thank you;  you may be seated.   Yes you 

may proceed Ms S ib iya .  

ADV SIBIYA:   Thank you Cha i r.   Good morn ing  Mr  Tor res .  

MR TORRES:   Okay thank you.  

ADV SIBIYA:   Cha i r  i f  the  Cha i r  can have in  f ron t  o f  h im 
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the  bund le  tha t  i s  marked Min ing  Bund le  01? 

CHAIRPERSON:   I s  tha t  the  bund le  you a re  go ing  to  be  

us ing  a t  the  moment?  

ADV SIBIYA:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay tha t  i s  Bund le  –  Min ing  Bund le  01 .   

R igh t ;  yes .  

ADV SIBIYA:   Thank you.   Mr  Tor res  i f  I  can  take  you –  

when I  re fe r  you  to  th is  bund le  I  w i l l  be  ta lk ing  about  the  

number ing  on  the  le f t  hand s ide  where  i t  i s  wr i t ing  –  where  

i t  i s  t yped in  b lack  and where  i t  says  Min ing  –  i f  you  tu rn  10 

underneath  the  f lap  tha t  i s  marked  1 .1  you w i l l  see  tha t  on  

the  f i rs t  page tha t  you open to  on  the  le f t  hand s ide  o f  your  

page i t  says  Min ing  01001,  can you see tha t?  

MR TORRES:   Yes I  have got  i t .  

ADV SIBIYA:   Okay.   When I  re fe r  you to  a  page I  w i l l  no t  

say  Min ing  01  or  001 I  w i l l  say  page 1  and tha t  i s  where  I  

w i l l  be  tak ing  to  –  okay.   Thank you.   P lease look  a t  tha t  

page?  

MR TORRES:   Okay.  

ADV SIBIYA:   A re  those your  fu l l  names wr i t ten  there  and  20 

your  ID Number?  

MR TORRES:   Yes i t  i s .  

ADV SIBIYA:   I s  tha t  your  in i t ia l  a t  the  bo t tom? 

MR TORRES:   Pa rdon.  

ADV SIBIYA:   Your  in i t ia l .  
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MR TORRES:   S ignature  –  tha t  i s  my s ignatu re .  

ADV SIBIYA:   Your  in i t ia ls  o r  your  fu l l  s ignature?  

MR TORRES:   The in i t ia ls  on  page  1 .  

ADV SIBIYA:   Yes.  

MR TORRES:   And then I  go t  my fu l l  s ignature  on  page 2 .  

ADV SIBIYA:   Okay.   Do you  conf i rm tha t  th is  i s  a  

document  tha t  you prepared?  

MR TORRES:   Yes I  do  conf i rm.  

ADV SIBIYA:   And tha t  you –  you deposed to  i t  in  f ron t  o f  a  

Commiss ioner  o f  Oaths?  10 

MR TORRES:   Yes I  do .  

ADV SIBIYA:   And do you conf i rm the  contents  tha t  i t  i s  

t rue  to  the  best  o f  your  knowledge? 

MR TORRES:   Yes I  do  conf i rm the  contents .  

ADV SIBIYA:   Have you had a  chance to  go  th rough i t  jus t  

recent ly  in  p repara t ion  fo r  today?  

MR TORRES:   No  I  have a  chance yes.  

ADV SIBIYA:   Thank you.   Cha i r  w i th  your  leave may I  ask  

tha t  th is  document  tha t  i s  marked – tha t  i s  t i t led 

Conf i rmatory  A f f idav i t  appear ing  on  pages 1  and 2  tha t  i t  20 

be  admi t ted  as  an  exh ib i t  –  Exh ib i t  XX1.1? 

CHAIRPERSON:   Has i t  go t  any annexures or  no t?  

ADV SIBIYA:   I t  does –  i t  does Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:   I t  does?  

ADV SIBIYA:   Yes.  
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CHAIRPERSON:   I  see  there  is  another  a f f idav i t  by  Ms 

D ineo Petun ia  Tomo.  

ADV SIBIYA:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   I s  tha t  an  annexure  to  Mr  Tor res ’ a f f idav i t  

o r  i s  i t  a  separa te  a f f idav i t?  

ADV SIBIYA:   I t  i s  a  separa te  –  i t  i s  a  separa te  a f f idav i t  

Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:   So  where  are  the  annexures to  Mr  Tor res ’ 

a f f idav i t?  

ADV SIBIYA:   In  fac t  Cha i r  Mr  Tor res  maybe I  shou ld  take  10 

h im f i rs t  th rough  the  sect ions tha t  I  wanted to  t ake  h im 

because i t  i s  a  very  shor t  a f f idav i t  and i t  ind ica tes  what  i t  

i s  –  what  i t s  purpose is .   So i t  t i t l ed  Conf i rmato ry  A f f idav i t .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Wel l  be fore  I  –  I  admi t  i t  I  want  to  know 

whethe r  when I  admi t  i t  I  admi t  i t… 

ADV SIBIYA:   Wi th  the  annexures.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Together  w i th  i t s  annexures or  i t  i s  no t .  

ADV SIBIYA:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   That  i s  why I  am ask ing  whethe r  i t  has  

go t  annexures.  20 

ADV SIBIYA:   I t  has  go t  annexures Cha i r.   He re fers  to  

them in  [? ] .  

CHAIRPERSON:   A re  they re fer red  to  in  the  a f f idav i t?  

ADV SIBIYA:   Yes.   Yes they are  re fer red  to  Cha i r  in  h is  

a f f idav i t  and they  appear  f rom page 5  and they go  a l l  the 
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way to  page 1079 .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Wel l  the  –  I  th ink  the  prob lem is  tha t  the  

a f f idav i t  does not  say  fo r  example  in  paragraph 4 .  

ADV SIBIYA:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   What  annexure  the  repor t  i s .   I t  jus t  

re fe rs  to  the  repor t .   I s  i t  no t  –  i s  tha t  r igh t?  

ADV SIBIYA:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   I t  looks  l i ke  the  repor t  i s  the  on ly  

annexure  is  tha t  cor rec t?  

MR TORRES:   No Cha i r.   The repor t  i t se l f  has annexures 10 

to  i t .  

CHAIRPERSON:   No,  no ,  no  I  am not  ta lk ing  about  

annexures to  the  repor t  I  am ta lk ing  about  annexures to  

the  a f f idav i t  –  to  Mr  Tor res ’ a f f idav i t .  

ADV SIBIYA:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   I t  looks  l i ke  the  repor t  i s  the  on ly  

annexure  to  Mr  Tor res ’ a f f idav i t  am I  r igh t?  

ADV SIBIYA:   And then inc lude exh ib i t s  yes ,  yes  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

ADV SIBIYA:   Yes.  20 

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay then I  th ink  –  I  th ink  Ms Tomo’s  

a f f idav i t  shou ld  no t  have been p laced where  i t  i s  p laced 

because i f  i t  i s  no t  an  annexure  to  Mr  Tor res ’ a f f idav i t  and I  

unders tand why i t  shou ld  no t  i t  shou ld  no t  come between  

Mr  Tor res ’ a f f idav i t  and annexures to  Mr  Tor res ’ a f f idav i t .   
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That  i s  no t  the  r i gh t  p lace .  

ADV SIBIYA:   Cha i r  I  concede  tha t  however  i t  was  

necessary  to  do  i t  in  th is  way because her  a f f idav i t  a lso  

conf i rms the  same repor ts .  They were  work ing  together  and  

whereas he conf i rms tha t  he  was the  lead she conf i rms tha t  

she was the  jun io r  tha t  worked togethe r.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja  bu t  cou ld  tha t  ach ieve the  same 

purpose even i f  i t  came a f te r  the  repor t?  

ADV SIBIYA:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   I s  i t  no t?  10 

ADV SIBIYA:   Yes,  yes  I  accept  tha t  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Because i t  now comes between the  

a f f idav i t  o f  Mr  To r res  and the  annexures and documents  or  

the  repor t  wh ich  is  an  annexure  to  tha t  a f f idav i t  and ye t  i t  

i s  no t  an  annexure  to  h is  a f f idav i t .  

ADV SIBIYA:   I t  de lves in  annexure  yes,  yes  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:   So  i t  may be tha t  i t  shou ld  be  –  maybe  

you must  th ink  about  where  –  are  you go ing  to  be  re fer r i ng  

to  i t  to  h is  ev idence?  

ADV SIBIYA:   No  Cha i r.   We wi l l  no t  be  re fer r ing  to  i t .  20 

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja  maybe what  we –  what  you –  what  you 

w i l l  need to  do  dur ing  the  b reak  maybe is  to  take  i t  ou t  

f rom there  and pu t  i t… 

ADV SIBIYA:   Somewhere  e l se .  

CHAIRPERSON:   A t  the  repor t .   And then a t tend –  then the  
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number ing  w i l l  obv ious l y  w i l l  change.   The best  th ing  m ight  

be  to  no t  to  in te r fe re  w i th  the  number ing  i f  poss ib le  and 

have –  have i t  numbered r igh t  a t  the  end or  a f te r  the 

repor t .  

ADV SIBIYA:   We wi l l  a t tend to  tha t  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay a l r igh t .   The a f f idav i t  o f  Mr  A lber t  

Tor res  wh ich  s ta r ts  a t  page 1  together  w i th  i t s  annexure  

namely  the  f ina l  repor t  re fe r red  to  in  paragraph 4  o f  h is  

a f f idav i t  i s  admi t ted  and w i l l  be  marked as  Exh ib i t   

ADV SIBIYA:   XX1.1  10 

CHAIRPERSON:   XX1.1 .   So Exh ib i t  XX1 is  Mr  Tor res ’ 

a f f idav i t  together  w i th  the  repor t  wh ich  is  an  annexure  to  

the  a f f idav i t .  

ADV SIBIYA:   Thank you Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay.  

ADV SIBIYA:   Thank you Cha i r.   Mr  Tor res  i f  we  can go  

back to  page 1  wh ich  is… 

CHAIRPERSON:   I  th ink  you need to  move your  

m icrophone a  l i t t le  towards the  cent re  because I  do  no t  

th ink… 20 

ADV SIBIYA:   I t  does not  move so  I  need to  move.  

CHAIRPERSON:   No i t  shou ld  be  poss ib le  to  move  i t .   Let  

–  le t  somebody he lp  you who –  you see i f  you are  speak ing  

too  fa r  away f rom i t  you cannot  be  heard  eas i l y.   Okay  

a l r igh t .  
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ADV SIBIYA:   Thank you.   

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay le t  us  s ta r t  then.  

ADV SIBIYA:   Mr  To r res  I  re fe r  you back on  page 1  o f  your  

a f f idav i t .   Do you  conf i rm tha t  a t  the  t ime you deposed to 

th is  a f f idav i t  you  were  an  execut ive  d i rec to r  a t  Gobodo  

Forens ics?  

MR TORRES:   Yes I  do .  

ADV SIBIYA:   P lease speak c loser  to  the  m icrophone.  

MR TORRES:   Okay.  

ADV SIBIYA:   I  t h ink  there  w i l l  be  a  s im i la r  p rob lem.   And 10 

when you answer  Mr  Tor res  p lease  look a t  the  Cha i rperson.  

MR TORRES:   Yes okay.  

ADV SIBIYA:   So  your  neck w i l l  be  sore  bu t  you w i l l  have  

to  look  a t  me when I  ask  quest ions bu t  look  a t  the  Cha i r  

when you answer.   Thank you.   A re  you s t i l l  an  execut ive  

d i rec tor  a t  Gobodo Forens ics?  

MR TORRES:   Gobodo I  am a  d i rec tor  o f  Gobodo however  I  

re t i red  now but  I  am s t i l l  a  d i rec to r  a t  Gobodo.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Does tha t  –  does tha t  mean you are  no t  

execut ive  –  an  execut ive  d i rec to r  anymore .  20 

MR TORRES:   No  I  am non-execut ive .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes bu t  you rema in  a  d i rec tor.  

MR TORRES:   I  remain  d i rec to r.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja  okay.  

ADV SIBIYA:   Thank you.   And do you conf i rm tha t  Gobodo  
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Forens ic  Aud i t  was ins t ruc ted  by  the  Depar tment  o f  Pub l ic  

Enterp r ises  to  conduct  an  invest iga t ion?  

MR TORRES:   Yes I  do  conf i rm the  Depar tment  o f  Pub l ic  

Enterp r ises  appo in ted  us  to  invest iga te  th is  par t i cu la r  

mat te r.  

ADV SIBIYA:   And can you exp la in  to  us  the  process tha t  

led  to  your  appo in tment?  

MR TORRES:    Wel l  we are  on  the  pane l  w i th  the  

Depar tment  o f  Pub l ic  Enterpr ises .   So be ing  on the  pane l  

suggests  tha t  we  have a l ready been appo in ted  based on 10 

our  techn ica l  ab i l i t i es .   So we were  requested to  submi t  a  

quota t ion  fo r  the  invest iga t ion  in to  the  i r regu lar i t ies  a t  

A lexko r,  PSJV ent i t y.  And on tha t  bas is  we submi t ted  a 

quota t ion  and we were  appo in ted .  

ADV SIBIYA:   What  were  the  –  what  was the  mandate  tha t  

you were  g i ven?  

MR TORRES:   Wel l  the  mandate  in  summary there  was –  

they wanted us  to  invest iga te  the  re la t ionsh ip  –  the  soured 

re la t ionsh ip  tha t  ex is ted  be tween the  cont rac tors  on  the  

one hand and the  board  and execu t ive  on  the  one hand.  20 

 But  there  were  a lso  concerns  ra ised by  the  

cont rac tors  and these concerns –  some o f  the  concerns 

were  a l so  ident i f ied  as  issued tha t  had to  be  invest iga ted .   

So they were .  

ADV SIBIYA:   Okay.   And you conducted th i s  invest iga t ion .   
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How long were  you g iven to  conduc t  i t?  

MR TORRES:   We were  appo in ted  in  o r  about  Ju l y  2019.   

We then had a  th ree  month  w indow per iod  to  comple te .   So 

we submi t ted  our  repor t  to  the  Depar tment  Of  Pub l ic  

Enterp r ises  on  the  14  October  2019.   So i t  took  us  about  

th ree  months .  

ADV SIBIYA:   And how many o f  you were  invo l ved?  

MR TORRES:   On ly  two o f  us .  

ADV SIBIYA:   Yes.  

MR TORRES:   I t  was myse l f  and D ineo Tomo.  10 

ADV SIBIYA:   Yes.   And you produced a  repor t?  

MR TORRES:   Pa rdon.  

ADV SIBIYA:   You produced the  repor t  and conc lus ion .  

MR TORRES:   Yes I  p roduced the  repor t  and I  s igned i t .  

ADV SIBIYA:   Okay and th is  repor t  you produced  is  the 

one tha t  appears  f rom page 5?  

MR TORRES:   That  i s  cor rec t  tha t  i s  the  repor t .  

ADV SIBIYA:   And you were  the  au thor  o f  the  repor t?  

MR TORRES:   I  was the  au tho r.  

ADV SIBIYA:   Okay.   Thank you very  much.   Now i f  we can  20 

go to  the  repor t  and we can go –  i f  you  can tu rn  to  page 43 

o f  the  repor t?    

MR TORRES:   Yes I  am there .  

ADV SIBIYA:   I s  th is….  

CHAIRPERSON:   D id  you say 43?  
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ADV SIBIYA:   Yes,  yes  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:   He may have g iven –  Mr  Tor res  may have  

g iven the  g is t  o f  the i r  mandate  bu t  I  am sure  tha t  in  the  

repor t  tha t  i s  one  o f  th ings they s ta r t  w i th .  

ADV SIBIYA:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   To  say th is  i s  our  mandate .   Maybe i t  

wou ld  be  good fo r  you to  d i rec t  h im to  tha t  bu t  ac tua l l y  he  

probab ly  knows i t  so  tha t  he  can  jus t  read tha t  in to  the  

record .  

ADV SIBIYA:   Yes thank you very  much.  10 

CHAIRPERSON:   Be fore  you move  on.  

ADV SIBIYA:   That  i s  where  I  was  go ing  Cha i r  because i t  

i s  in  the  paragraphs tha t  appear  on  tha t  page.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Oh I  thought  i t  wou ld  be  much ear l ie r.  

ADV SIBIYA:   No  before  th is… 

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay.  

ADV SIBIYA:   I s  the  execut ive  summary Cha i r.   So th is  i s  

the  ac tua l  s ta r t  o f… 

CHAIRPERSON:   Oh you wanted to  look  –  you wanted to  

go  to  the  execu t ive  summary or  th is  –  oh  th is  i s  the  20 

execut ive  summary?  

ADV SIBIYA:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay a l r igh t .  

ADV SIBIYA:   Yes thank you –  thank you Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay.  
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ADV SIBIYA:   So… 

CHAIRPERSON:   You can go ahead  then.  

ADV SIBIYA:   Thank you.   Mr  Tor res  i f  you  can  look a t  

paragraph 2 .5?  

MR TORRES:   Yes I  am there .  

ADV SIBIYA:   P lease read tha t  –  i s  tha t  –  i s  i t  cor rec t  tha t  

tha t  encapsu la tes  what your mandate was,  start ing f rom 2.5.  

MR TORRES :    Okay can I  read i t?  

ADV SIBIYA :    Yes.  

MR TORRES :    Yes,  that  was the mandate.  10 

ADV SIBIYA :    Okay.   So your mandate – i f  you can start  

reading,  the department of  . . . [ intervenes]   

MR TORRES :    Okay.  

“The Department  of  Publ ic Enterpr ises speaks to 

appoint  a sui tab le qual i f ied and exper ienced service 

provider to  invest igate the legal i ty of  act ions taken 

by the PSJV in the exclusion of  the marine min ing 

contractors and make recommendat ions ar is ing 

there f rom.”  

ADV SIBIYA :    Yes,  and i f  you go on to paragraph 2.6.  20 

MR TORRES :    2.6.  

“The DPE, which is the Department of  Publ ic  

Enterpr ises,  wishes to establ ish the cause of  the 

soured relat ionship between Alexkor RMC PSJV and 

the marine cont ractors and make recommendat ions 
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on improvements that  can be made.”  

ADV SIBIYA :    And paragraph 2.7.  

MR TORRES :    2.7.  

“The DPE further requi res an invest igat ion to  

establ ish whether the board and the execut ive of  the  

Alexkor RMC PSJV exercised object ive,  fa i r  and 

t ransparent  processes in the management of  the 

operat ions.”  

ADV SIBIYA :    Is that  everything that  you were instructed to  

do? 10 

MR TORRES :    Yes,  but  under our  Purpose and Object ives,  

we actual ly break i t  down further.  

ADV SIBIYA :    Yes,  we wi l l  get  to that .  

MR TORRES :    Okay.  

ADV SIBIYA :    Thank you.  

MR TORRES :    But  in summary,  that  is what we were 

appointed to do.  

ADV SIBIYA :    Okay.   Thank you.   Now you are talk ing about 

the PSJV.  What is the PSJV? 

MR TORRES :    Wel l ,  the PSJV – I  th ink you eluded to the 20 

fact  that  there was a Deed of  Set t lement.   That  in  2007 a 

Deed of  Set t lement between A lexkor  on the one hand and 

government and the community of  Richtersveldt  was made 

an order of  the court ,  r ight?   

 Now in terms of  the Deed of  Set t lement,  the – an inter im 
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board had to be appointed and the board then had to 

establ ish a Pool ing and Sharing Joint  Venture,  which should 

be made up of  the Richter veldt  community on the one hand 

and Alexkor now.   

 So they referred to i t  as the Pool ing and Sharing Joint  

Venture.   So the abbreviat ion PSJV refers to the Pool ing and 

Sharing.    

ADV SIBIYA :    So the Department of  Publ ic Enterpr ises gave 

you a mandate to invest igate issues related to the PSJV? 

MR TORRES :    Yes,  the Department of  Publ ic Enterpr ises is 10 

the shareholder representat ive of  A lexkor.  

ADV SIBIYA :    H’m.  

MR TORRES :    And Alexkor was part  of  the Pool ing and 

Sharing Joint  Venture.  

ADV SIBIYA :    Yes.  

MR TORRES :    They actual ly had a major i ty shareholding.  

ADV SIBIYA :    Yes.  

MR TORRES :    And based on that ,  the Department of  Publ ic 

Enterpr ises appointed us.  

ADV SIBIYA :    Okay.   Thank you.  20 

MR TORRES :    Sorry,  Mr Chai r.   I  must  st i l l  get  used to 

. . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja,  you wi l l  get  used to i t .  

MR TORRES :    Get  used to i t .  

CHAIRPERSON :    You wi l l  get  used to i t .    
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MR TORRES :    [ laughs]  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay.  

MR TORRES :    Okay.  

ADV SIBIYA :    Sorry.   Thank you.   Thank you very much.  So 

they did not  only l imi t  your invest igat ion to  Alexkor issues? 

MR TORRES :    Because our invest igat ion was into the 

Pool ing and Sharing Joint  Venture.  

ADV SIBIYA :    Yes.  

MR TORRES :    Because everything that  happened that  we 

were invest igat ion,  we invest igated for that  per iod when the 10 

PSJV was already in existence.  

ADV SIBIYA :    Yes.   Okay.  

MR TORRES :    I  am sorry Mr Chai r.  

ADV SIBIYA :    I f  you can turn to page 45? 

MR TORRES :    45. . .  

ADV SIBIYA :    That  is where you set  out  the Purpose and 

Object ives of  the invest igat ion and the report .  

MR TORRES :    Yes,  that  is correct .  

ADV SIBIYA :    Yes.   So can you tel l  us what those were? 

MR TORRES :    Okay.   3.1,  the purpose – this is just  20 

background informat ion.  

“The purpose of  the report  is  to inform the 

Department of  Publ ic Enterpr ises regarding the 

background to the invest igat ion,  our  approach to the 

invest igat ion and procedures performed, any 
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assumpt ions made and est imates suppl ied,  our  

factual  f indings in respect  of  the invest igat ion and 

our conclus ion and recommendat ions based upon 

our factual  f indings. ”  

 Paragraph 3.2:  

“The pr imary object ives of  the invest igat ion are:  

-  To establ ish the cause of  the soured 

re lat ionship between Alexkor RMC PSJV and the 

marine contractors and make recommendat ions on 

improvements that  can be made.  10 

-  To establ ish whether the board and the 

execut ive of  the Alexkor RMC PSJV exercised 

object ive,  fa i r  and t ransparent  processes in the 

management of  Alexkor RMC PSJV.”  

ADV SIBIYA :    Now, you go to paragraph 3.3 and your t i t le  

there is The Focus Areas of  the Prel iminary Invest igat ion 

were as fol lows.   What informed the choice of  these areas as 

the focussed areas? 

MR TORRES :    Wel l ,  th is was actual ly h ighl ighted by the 

Department of  Publ ic Enterpr ises but  – and they are based 20 

on the concerns and issues raised by the marine directors to 

the department,  okay?  So i t  was an at tempt by the 

department to address thei r  concerns as wel l .  

ADV SIBIYA :    And so those – these are the focussed areas.   

Can you tel l  what  they are? 
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MR TORRES :    The f i rst  bul let  point :  

“-  To invest igate the val id i ty of  the decision 

taken by the Alexkor RMC PSJV.  

-  To exclude the three Marine cont ractors in  

2018 Mining Services Procurement Cycle.  

-  To invest igate the procurement process in the 

appointment of  cont ractors in  part icular the 

appointment of  a diamond market ing and sales 

company.  

-  To invest igate the process fol lowed in the 10 

evaluat ion of  diamonds f rom the mine si te  to the 

diamond market ing and sales company off icers.  

-  To obtain and review the pr ices of  diamonds 

real ised since the appointment of  the diamond 

market ing and sales company.  

-  Invest igate the al leged fai lure to comply wi th 

the cont ractual  arrangement given access to the 

informat ion relat ing to sales and market ing of  the 

diamonds to the contractors.  

-  To invest igate the legal i ty of  the Coffer-dam 20 

Operat ions which al legedly has caused adverse and 

damage.  

-  To review a l l  contracts entered into between 

the PSJV and the marine mining contractors,  as wel l  

as any other cont ract  forming related to the subject  
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matter of  the dispute between the part ies.  

-  To determine the contract  award ing processes 

and systems are fai r,  t ransparent ,  equi table wi th the 

focus on mining contract ing for both land and marine 

mining contract ing,  including the appointment of  the 

diamond market ing and sales company.  

 Oh,  I  th ink that  is just  a repeat  of  that .  

ADV SIBIYA :    H’m.  

MR TORRES :    Yes.  

“-  To determine the legal i ty of  the Coffer-dam 10 

Operat ions which current ly undertaking as Alexkor  

RMC PSJV and make recommendat ions on the 

outcome of  the invest igat ion. ”  

ADV SIBIYA :    Thank you.   Now where do these focussed 

areas emanate f rom because these are very detai led? 

MR TORRES :    Again,  the Department of  Publ ic Enterpr ises.   

They gave us our scope and then detai led i t  for us.   Because 

what we normal ly  do when we do an invest igat ion as wel l .   

We have – once we get  appointed,  we then have a br ief ing 

session wi th our pr inciple because we do not  want any other  20 

– we do not  want misunderstandings.   So make i t  c lear.   

Every br ief ing session,  they wi l l  then detai l  what  we need to 

do and this was also where we got .  

ADV SIBIYA :    Okay thank you.   And i f  we move to page 49.   

There is that  – the – are you there? 
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MR TORRES :    I  get  confuse wi th the numbering but  I  have 

got  i t .   Okay.  

ADV SIBIYA :    Yes.   There you set  out  the approach and 

procedures performed.  

MR TORRES :    Yes.  

ADV SIBIYA :    Can you tel l  us shor t ly wi thout  reading word-

for-word what was your approach . . . [ intervenes]   

MR TORRES :    Wel l ,  essent ia l ly what we do is,  we – l ike we 

have a br ief ing session,  then we would meet wi th the cl ient .   

Af ter that ,  what we do is,  we then agree on an 10 

implementat ion p lan and that  is where the three months 

came in.   This is what we are going to do and our deadl ines 

for the report  and al l  that .    

 Af ter that ,  i t  is  – what we do is,  is col lat ion of  

documents.   We col lect  al l  the documents and once we have 

col lected al l  the documents. . .   So,  what we have here is just  

showing you our procedures,  to co l lect  the documents and 

what documents we have col lected.    

 We then review the documents and then do,  i f  

necessary,  our in terviews and al l  that .   So that  is basical ly  20 

the procedures.  

ADV SIBIYA :    Now in th is case,  where d id the br ief ing take 

place? 

MR TORRES :    The in i t ia l  br ie f ing took place at  the 

Department of  Publ ic Enterpr ises,  their  off ices.   We met the 
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off ic ia ls there.  

ADV SIBIYA :    H’m.  And where did you get  the document? 

MR TORRES :    The documents,  in i t ia l ly the Department of  

Publ ic Enterpr ises was going to g ive us the documents but  

Alexkor,  the PSJV is  si tuated in Alexander Bay which is  very 

far.   I t  was then,  subsequent ly,  agreed – because we are not  

get t ing the documents.    

 We then l ia ised di rect ly wi th the company secretary,  

cal led Reagan Phi l l ips.   And she elect ronical ly emai led us 

documents which we then used here.   And when we did vis i t  10 

the Alexkor Plant ,  we were also g iven documents.    

ADV SIBIYA :    So the person that  gave you the documents,  

is the company secretary of  the PSJV? 

MR TORRES :    That  is correct .  

ADV SIBIYA :    To enable you to conduct  your invest igat ion? 

MR TORRES :    Pardon?  

ADV SIBIYA :    To enable you to conduct  your invest igat ion? 

MR TORRES :    Yes,  yes.   Correct .    

ADV SIBIYA :    Okay.   Thank you.   I f  we move ahead to page 

60.  20 

MR TORRES :    Page 60?  

ADV SIBIYA :    Yebo.  

MR TORRES :    I  am on page 60.  

ADV SIBIYA :    Yes.   So you say here,  Background 

Informat ion on Individuals and Ent i t ies.   You are talk ing 
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about  the ent i t ies that  you were to invest igate? 

MR TORRES :    Ja.   Essent ia l ly,  the – i t  was for the jo int  

venture.  

ADV SIBIYA :    Yes.  

MR TORRES :    Just  background informat ion on that .   And 

that  Scarlet  Sky Investment 60 (Pty) Ltd.   This is the 

market ing company.   This is the company that  was appointed 

to se l l  and market  rough diamonds.  

ADV SIBIYA :    Okay.  

MR TORRES :    So we just  gave a background.  And also in  10 

the background, i t  is included who the individuals are,  thei r  

l inks and so on.  

ADV SIBIYA :    P lease tel l  us who the individuals are and 

what thei r  l inks are as contained in your  report  wi thout  

reading necessari ly f rom the report .  

MR TORRES :    Okay.   The – Daniel  Mark Nathan was the 

Di rector of  Scarlet  Sky Investments but  he was also the 

CEO.  Hazel  Ammann, Moira Ammann was what you would 

cal l  a Stand-in Di rector because Scarlet  Sky was a shel f  

company and she was a second Stand-in Director.   Christ ian 20 

Gouws was a lso a Stand-in Di rector.   A lot  o f  shel f  

companies would see his name.  So he is also a Stand- in  

Di rector.   The . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    A stand-in director being simple a di rector 

who is a di rector whi le a company is a shel f  company,  ready 
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to resign once they have sold the company to somebody? 

MR TORRES :    Yes,  that  is correct .   Because i f  you have an 

incorporated company,  you must  have a di rector.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes,  ja.  

MR TORRES :    So . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    But  basical ly,  at  that  t ime the company is  

not  doing anything? 

MR TORRES :    Yes,  yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja,  ja.   Al r ight .  

MR TORRES :    You are r ight  Mr Chair.  10 

CHAIRPERSON :    H’m.  

MR TORRES :    And then you had Govender who became a 

di rector in 2015.   And then you had Kubentheran Moodley 

who was appointed at  the same t ime that  Daniel  Nathan was 

appointed a di rector.   And he subsequent ly resigned on the 

5t h of  November 2015.   

ADV SIBIYA :    Yes? 

MR TORRES :    Okay.   So those are the four di rectors.  

ADV SIBIYA :    H ’m.  And you can cont inue wi th what you 

were descr ib ing there.   Because you were descr ib ing the 20 

. . . [ intervenes]   

MR TORRES :    I f  I  can just  read 8.2.4.  

“There have been a l legat ions that  Kubentheran 

Moodley was closed to Sal im Essa of  Tr i l l ion. ”  

 Okay?  
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ADV SIBIYA :    H’m.  

MR TORRES :    So.   And then,  we did a Google search and 

then found that  there was a formal search seizure in storage 

faci l i ty by the State Capture Commission.    

“ In the same cour t ,  Moodley had requested the court  

to interdict  the Zondo Commission and deny them 

access to his documentat ion and other important  

personal  i tems, including jewel lery and cash that  

were in the care of  Wayne Ryan Becker,  at  a storage 

faci l i ty,  Knox Ti tanium Vaul ts which is in Sandton.  10 

I t  appears that  Moodley’s name has been ment ioned 

many t imes at  the Zondo Commission.  

The al legat ions that  Moodley assisted Tr i l l ion 

Capi tal  to lure Eskom and help the Gupta’s wi th ten 

mi l l ion to buy Opt imum Mine and had a hand in the 

Mediosa Contract  in the North West. ”  

ADV SIBIYA :    So this was the case at  the t ime at  the t ime 

you were preparing the report? 

MR TORRES :    This was the case.   What we normal ly do as 

wel l ,  is just  to give background informat ion.  20 

ADV SIBIYA :    H’m.  

MR TORRES :    And the individuals that  we are deal ing wi th  

so we have a bet ter perspect ive of  what is happening.  

ADV SIBIYA :    H’m.  What else are you saying here in  

re lat ion to Moodley? 
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MR TORRES :    Wel l ,  in paragraph 8.2.6:  

“The avai lable in format ion suggests that  Moodley 

was the former advisor of  the then Mineral  

Resources Min ister,  Mosebenzi  Zwane.  

Zwane was appointed to former President  Jacob’s 

Cabinet  in or about  September 2015.  

We know that  Moodley resigned f rom SSI,  which is  

Scarlet  Sky Investments,  on 5 November 2015.  

This is soon af ter Zwane was appointed to the 

Cabinet . ”  10 

ADV SIBIYA :    Now just  for my own sake of  understanding.   

Did Moodley become an advisor of  Minister Zwane af ter he 

lef t  – he resigned or before he jo ined? 

MR TORRES :    I t  was before he res igned because he 

res igned in November.  

ADV SIBIYA :    H’m? 

MR TORRES :    And he was appointed in September,  i f  I  am 

correct ,  ja.    

ADV SIBIYA :    Oh.   Because you are ment ioning the 

appointment of  the minister . . . [ intervenes]   20 

MR TORRES :    Of  the minister.  

ADV SIBIYA :    . . .as having been in  September.   So I  am just  

t ry ing to get  c lar i ty whether you are saying Moodley 

started. . .   Oh,  or rather,  he became an advisor af ter he 

res igned,  af ter Moodley resigned f rom SSI,  or was he an 
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advisor pr ior to Minister Zwane becoming a minister?   

 Because your sentence says that  the informat ion 

suggests that  Moodley was the former advisor  of  then 

minister.   So I  am not  sure whether i f  a former advisor is  

what you wanted to say or when you say he was a former 

advisor,  you meant he was an advisor pr ior to the minister  

being appointed.  

MR TORRES :    Okay ja,  I  am with you.   No,  when Zwane was 

appointed,  okay,  Moodley was st i l l  a di rector of  SSI.   As 

soon as Zwane was appointed – Zwane was appointed in  10 

September 2015.   So why I  am saying former,  i t  is a  former 

now.  Current ly speaking,  i t  is  former.   So he was – he 

res igned in November.   Now I  cannot remember whether he 

became an advisor in September or af ter he had resigned,  

unfortunately.  

ADV SIBIYA :    No,  no,  no.   That  is f ine.   I  just  needed to 

understand whether he was former then or i f  he is  former 

now.  

MR TORRES :    He is former now.  

ADV SIBIYA :    A lr ight .   Thank you very much.  You 20 

ment ioned another character in paragraph 8.2.7.  

MR TORRES :    We found that  Zar ina Kel lerman, a lawyer,  

was also one of  three individuals appointed to advise Zwane.   

“The three advisors included,  in addi t ion to Moodley 

and Kel lerman, Malcolm Mabaso.  
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Informat ion in our possession suggested that  

Kel lerman purportedly conducted a due di l igence on 

SSI af ter they were appointed by the PSJV.”  

ADV SIBIYA :    Okay.   You can leave i t  there for now.  I  wi l l  

cont inue wi th that  t ra in of  thought when we get  to the 

re levant  part .  

MR TORRES :    Okay.  

ADV SIBIYA :    And on 8.2.8,  you explain the st ructure.  

MR TORRES :    Ja,  the st ructure was. .   Essent ia l ly,  Daniel  

Nathan t rading on 40% of  the business.   I t  was represented 10 

by Daniel  Nathan.   60% was owned by K imode, represented 

by Moodley.   So this gave the – in terms of  the Black 

Empowerment Structure,  there was a major i ty shareholding,  

black shareholding.  

ADV SIBIYA :    H’m.  Okay.   You can now turn to page 64.  

MR TORRES :    [No audible reply]   

ADV SIBIYA :    This is  where you are deal ing wi th the Review 

of  Agreement.   And you start  by the Deed of  Set t lement 

between the Richtersveldt  Mining company and Alexkor  and 

the Government of  the Republ ic of  South Af r ica.  20 

MR TORRES :    Yes.   The Deed of  Set t lement was. . .   Okay.   

There was an agreement between Alexkor on the one hand 

and government on the other.   And also the agreement of  the 

– and also the Richtersveldt  Mining company.   The 

Richtersveldt  Min ing company was a company that  was 
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owned by the local  community.    

 Now in 2007,  the court  declared the Deed of  Set t lement  

a court  order.   The Deed of  Set t lement deals wi th a number 

of  issues.   I t  deals wi th the issue of  the mining r ights and the 

environmental  issues.    

 I t  deals wi th the way in which the company wi l l  be 

governed.   I t  a lso – there is a paragraph that  st ipulates that  

an Inter im Joint  Board must  be appointed.   The Inter im Joint  

Board wi l l  then form a Pool ing and Sharing Joint  Venture.  

 But  also very important ,  because the next  agreement 10 

cal led the Unanimous Resolut ion.   The Unanimous 

Resolut ion is,  in a sense,  a governance f ramework.  Because 

i t  speaks to your sub-commit tees,  what sub-commit tees there 

should be.  

 I t  a lso eludes to procurement issues in  a sense.   So that  

was important  just  to establ ish the PSJV and give i t  a  

governance f ramework.   So the Deed of  Set t lement and the 

Unanimous Resolut ion should be seen,  you know, together.  

ADV SIBIYA :    And what did the Unanimous Resolut ion say? 

MR TORRES :    Now,  the f i rst  th ing they had to do in terms of  20 

the Unanimous Resolut ion is  to  form the Pool ing and Sharing 

Joint  Venture,  the establ ishment of  that .    

ADV SIBIYA :    Okay.   And how do we know what were the 

terms? 

MR TORRES :    The terms in the share. . .   Okay just  hold on.   
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When you say i t  is the terms of  the Unanimous Resolut ion?  

ADV SIBIYA :    Yes.  

MR TORRES :    Ja,  the Deed of  Set t lement refers to the 

Unanimous Resolut ion should be formulated.   So those are 

the terms.  The terms come di rect ly f rom the Deed of  

Set t lement.  

ADV SIBIYA :    H’m.  And also,  the Deed of  Set t lement also 

says how the format ion of  the PSJV is going to happen and 

also to give effect  to the agreement in terms of  the 

ownership and the shareholding? 10 

MR TORRES :    Yes.   I  th ink i f  you look at  paragraph 9.1.9.  

ADV SIBIYA :    H’m? 

MR TORRES :    I t  says here:  

“Clause 8.4.5 st ipulates that  the members of  the IJV,  

which is the Inter im Joint  Board,  must  before the 

Unanimous Resolut ion can take you back refer the 

Unanimous Resolut ion to the pr inciples for 

uncondi t ional . ”  

 So they then did the Unanimous Resolut ion but  got  

agreement f rom the pr inciples,  that  is the government and 20 

Alexkor.  

ADV SIBIYA :    H’m.  Yes.   So this involved the Government 

of  South Af r ica? 

MR TORRES :    Yes.  

ADV SIBIYA :    From the t ime that  the jo int  venture was 
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contemplated,  the government was a party  to that  

arrangement? 

MR TORRES :    Yes,  because they are in effect  the 

shareholder of  Alexkor.   And also,  because they have a 51% 

shareholding in the jo int  venture,  they are also a shareholder 

in the jo int  venture,  Pool ing and Shar ing Joint  Venture.  

ADV SIBIYA :    H’m.  Okay.   You move on and you start  

deal ing wi th  the agreement that  was concluded by the JV 

and SSI.  

MR TORRES :    [No audible reply]   10 

ADV SIBIYA :    On the next  page 66.  

MR TORRES :    66?  

ADV SIBIYA :    That  is where you then move on to speak to 

that .    

MR TORRES :    H’m.  

“An agreement was signed and completed between 

the PSJV and SSI .  

SSI was appointed speci f ical ly to market ,  value,  sel l  

and for the benef ic iat ion of  diamonds.”  

 Now the agreement was signed by Daniel  Nathan,  20 

represent ing the SSI,  Scarlet  Sky.   And then Carstens,  

Norman Carstens,  who was the CEO at  the t ime Mr Chai r,  he 

represented the PSJV and signed the agreement.  

 The agreement actual ly st ipulates what should be done.   

For example,  i t  st ipulates the type of  pr ic ing model  that  they 
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should have.   And auct ion sales to  be conducted in order to 

sel l .    

 They also st ipulated the way in  which the diamonds 

should be sold.   They gave a breakdown.  For example,  10% 

had to be sold to  the state diamond t rader for benef ic iat ion 

purposes.  

 Another 5% had to be sold to the local  company also for 

benef ic iat ion purposes.   And then 85% had to be sold to an 

auct ion sa le.   Those was – these are key-elements in  the 

agreement.  10 

ADV SIBIYA :    Okay.  

MR TORRES :    And then he also speaks to the commission 

that  has to be paid a handl ing fee to – which was 1.5% at  

that  stage.    

ADV SIBIYA :    Okay.   And th is contract  was signed in. . .?  I t  

is in paragraph 9.3.3.  

MR TORRES :    I t  was signed on 4 March 2015.  

ADV SIBIYA :    Yes.   And then you move on.   On the next  

page,  you talk about  a second agreement.  

MR TORRES :    Yes,  there was a second agreement.   The 20 

f i rst  appointment  was a three-year appointment.   So they 

were appointed at  the beginning of  2015,  SSI.   But  some 

t ime in 2016 a new procurement process was started for the 

sel l ing and market ing of  the d iamonds.  

 Nobody can explain why because the term had not  
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expired yet  but  they were appointed.   So this agreement 

re lates to that .   I t  is  essent ia l ly the same but  there are a few 

di fferences.  

 For example,  the f i rst  agreement was a three-year  

durat ion per iod.   The second agreement,  the durat ion per iod 

was extended to f ive years which was qui te  a long t ime,  you 

know.  

 And also there were key- issues.   For example,  the 5%, i t  

had to be sold to  the local  -  the batch so ld local ly.   I t  was 

excluded f rom this agreement.    10 

ADV SIBIYA :    Okay.  

MR TORRES :    So essent ia l ly. . .  

ADV SIBIYA :    Okay.   We wi l l  go in more detai l  later on in  

your evidence at  what your f indings were because at  th is  

stage you are talk ing about what document . . . [ intervenes]   

MR TORRES :    Okay.  

ADV SIBIYA :    . . .contracts you did.   So you do not  have to 

go into a whole lo t  of  detai l  at  th is s tage.  

MR TORRES :    Okay.  

ADV SIBIYA :    But  later on,  you tel l  us what you discovered 20 

and. . .   Yes.   I f  you made any adverse f ind ings and what 

those were and what informed that .  

MR TORRES :    [No audible reply]   

ADV SIBIYA :    Okay.   The next  agreement you looked at ,  you 

refer to on page 69.   So you can te l l  us br ief ly.  
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MR TORRES :    Okay.   This here,  paragraph 9:  

“This agreement  wi l l  appoint  the Shal low Water and 

Beach Marine contractors.”  

 Now,  i t  speci f ical ly relates to – there are two documents.   

I t  is the Shal low – there were two agreements.   The one was 

– i t  is  cal led – in fact ,  i t  is one agreement but  there are 

di fferent  types of  marine mining.   You have your beach 

mining act iv i ty and then you have your shal low water act iv i ty.   

So i t  deals wi th those miners here.    

 So i t  is just  for standard clauses where,  you know, what  10 

as – what are the obl igat ions of  the cont ractors on the one 

hand, the obl igat ions of  the pr incip le on the other hand,  but  

also in which payment wi l l  be done, the proceeds of  the 

mining act iv i ty.  

ADV SIBIYA :    Okay.   Now you move on,  on page 10 to  

speak to – about the PSJV Coffer-dam Operat ions.   What is 

the Coffer-dam . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    Did you say page 10? 

ADV SIBIYA :    Oh,  my apologies.   I t  is on page 71 and i t  

i tem . . . [ intervenes]   20 

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja.  

MR TORRES :    Chai r  was also. . .  

CHAIRPERSON :    [ laughs]  

MR TORRES :    [ laughs]  

ADV SIBIYA :    Yes.   My apologies.   Thank you Chai r.  
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MR TORRES :    Coffer-dam Operat ions.   The Coffer-dam 

Operat ions – I  am not  a technical  person Chai r.   So I  just  

want – but  I  had to f ind out  what th is was.  

ADV SIBIYA :    H’m.  

MR TORRES :    The Coffer-dam Operat ions,  essent ia l ly,  take 

place where beach mining act iv i ty takes place.   I t  is  on the 

shore.   So what they do is.   They bui ld the coffer-dam wal l  

and wi th in  the coffer-dam wal l ,  they would have a machine 

digging the gravel  f rom this.   So the coffer-dam would avoid 

the t ransport  the water.    10 

 Now Coffer-dam Operat ions are – can be damaging to  

the envi ronment.   I t  depends on what you are using.   So the 

Envi ronmental  Management P lan that  the PSJV had only 

included the coffer-dam bui ld ing wi th sand.   So.    

 But  they started using boulders and rocks to bui ld  the 

coffer-dam.  And once you start ,  that  is a l isted act iv i ty in  

terms of  the Envi ronmental  Act .   I t  damages the 

environment.   I t  damages the eco-system.   And this  was an 

issue,  a content ious issue.    

 So i t  was one of  the issues raised by the contractors,  20 

and we look at  i t .   And we found that  yes they had used 

boulders and rocks to bui ld the coffer-dam.  According to  

them, they stopped using sand because the t idal  waves in  

South Afr ica are very strong and they had to  rebu i ld  the  

dams.   Be tha t  as  i t  may,  you need spec ia l  pe rmiss ion  to  
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use  bou lders  and rocks .   Now there  were  –  they d id 

…[ in tervenes]  

ADV SIBIYA:    Sor ry.   Sor ry,  I  jus t  need to  s top  you 

because you keep say ing  they.  

MR TORRES:    Oh,  sor ry.  

ADV SIBIYA:    So  you can cont inue .  

MR TORRES:    The p rev ious JV,  cont inued to  use bou lders  

and rocks .   They  were  repor ted  to  the  au thor i t ies  and by  

the i r  own admiss ion  they admi t ted  tha t  they had used a  

l i s ted  ac t iv i t y  because they submi t ted  an  app l i ca t ion  ca l led  10 

a  24G app l ica t ion .   24G in  te rms o f  inv i t ing  NEMA,  the  

Env i ronmenta l  Act .   Now once you submi t  a  24G 

app l i ca t ion  i t  i s  an  admiss ion  tha t  you have done  wrong  

and you want  th is  wrong rec t i f ied ,  okay?  So the  

compla in t s  by  the  cont rac to rs  were  va l id .    

ADV SIBIYA:    And what  were  your  f ind ings i n  tha t  regard  

because is  one o f  the  issues tha t  you d id  ident i f y  your  

focus areas?  

MR TORRES:    Okay.   Wel l ,  in i t ia l l y  they den ied  tha t  they  

had used bou lde rs  and rocks  bu t  I  mean by  the i r  own  20 

admiss ion  what  we found was tha t  they had then app l ied  to  

the  depar tment  fo r  permiss ion .   There  was a  pub l i c  hear ing  

because you need to  have a  pub l i c  hear ing ,  the  pub l i c  has 

to  make i t s  input .   We cou ld  f ind  no  adverse  comments  a t  

the  pub l i c  hear ing  about  th is .   However,  they then –  there  
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was on ly  one –  what  we found tha t  they then rece ived the  –  

they had to  submi t  a  new env i ronmenta l  management  p lan  

wh ich  wou ld  then  inc lude the  use  o f  bou lders .   They had 

submi t ted  tha t .   The depar tment  d id  no t  approve i t  as  ye t  

by  the  t ime tha t  we were  do ing  the  invest iga t ion  because  

they were  s t i l l  wa i t ing  fo r  a  f inanc ia l  p lan  f rom the  PSJV.    

 Now the  f inanc ia l  p lan  is  qu i te  key because when 

you do the  rehab i l i ta t ion  you need a  f inanc ia l  p lan  bu t  what  

we found was tha t  the  –  we cou ld  f ind  no  ev idence tha t  

they had used bou lde rs  and rocks and we had an in te rv iew 10 

w i th  the  execut ive  management  and they were  say ing  no ,  

we have rehab i l i ta ted  the  l and and tha t  i s  why you  w i l l  no t  

see i t  there .  

 Now you cannot  jus t  rehab i l i ta te  an  env i ronment  in  

a  vacuum,  there  is  a  p rocess tha t  happens.   You have to 

in fo rm the  depar tment ,  the  env i ronmenta l  depar tment ,  they 

send out  an  inspecto r  to  have a  look a t  the  env i ronment  

and  then a t  the  end  o f  the  rehab i l i ta t ion  process  you get  

g iven a  cer t i f i ca te  to  show the  a rea has been rehab i l i ta ted .    

They cou ld  no t  p roduce any o f  tha t ,  you see?   That  20 

in  i t se l f  was i l l ega l  as  we l l ,  them jus t  go ing  and do  i t ,  you  

know?  So  bes ides the  us ing  wrong  and  l i s ted  ac t iv i t y,  they  

a lso  d id  tha t ,  Cha i r.  

ADV SIBIYA:    And what  was the  impact  o f  what  they were  

do ing?  
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MR TORRES:    Wel l ,  the  impact  i s  qu i te  ser ious because  

once you bu i ld  a  co f fe rdam us ing  mater ia l  tha t  you shou ld  

no t  use ,  you then –  you know,  the  sea has i t s  own se l f -

c leans ing  way so  the  t ranspor t ,  the  sed iments ,  the  sea,  the  

waves and a l l  tha t ,  t ranspor t  the  sed iments .   So a l l  tha t  

was s topped and  then you f ind  tha t  i t  a lso  damages the  

ecosystem there ,  tha t  ex is t s .   So i t  i s  qu i te  damaging.  

ADV SIBIYA:    And,  as  you say,  i t  s t i l l  has  no t  been 

rehab i l i ta ted .  

MR TORRES:    No,  no .  10 

ADV SIBIYA:    A t  the  t ime [ inaud ib le  –  speak ing  

s imul taneous ly ]  

MR TORRES:    A t  the  t ime when I  was there .  

ADV SIBIYA:    Okay.   Now we move on page 83 to  the  

de ta i l  o f  the  appo in tment  o f  SSI .   Page 83.  

MR TORRES:    Okay.  

ADV SIBIYA:    Yes.   So you conducted th i s  inves t iga t ion  

in to  the  appo in tment  o f  SSI  who were  go ing  to  market  and  

se l l  a l l  the  d iamonds tha t  were  m ined in  the  area by  the  

PSJV.  20 

MR TORRES:    That  i s  co r rec t .  

ADV SIBIYA:    Yes.  

MR TORRES:    So  you want  me to  –  okay,  th is ,  the  f i rs t  

appo in tment  o f  SSI ,  what  we d id  was,  we then rev iewed the  

procu rement  p rocess.   I t  was ve ry  impor tan t ,  the  manner  in  
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wh ich  they were  appo in ted .   Now we found tha t  the 

procu rement ,  the  procurement  p rocess fo r  the  appo in tment  

o r  the  serv ice  prov ider  to  se l l  and market  the  rough 

d iamonds,  was os tens ib ly  man ipu la ted  to  favour  Scar le t  

Sky and I  w i l l  exp la in  th is ,  Cha i r.    

 SSI  was essent ia l l y  a  she l f  company when they f i r s t  

submi t ted  the i r  express ion  o f  in te res t .   The d i rec tor  a t  tha t  

t ime was Haze l  Ammann,  who was  a  s tand ing  d i rec tor  and  

the  two d i rec to rs ,  Dan ie l  Nathan and Kubentheran Mood ley   

were  on ly  appo in ted  weeks la te r.   So a t  the  t ime when they  10 

submi t ted  the i r  express ion  o f  in te res t  the  suppor t ing  

documents  m isrepresented Nathan and Mood ley  as  

d i rec tors .   Th i s  was the  f i rs t  i ssue tha t  we had.  

 The second i ssue tha t  we have,  Cha i r,  a  m in imum 

requ i rement  fo r  the  b idder  was you needed to  have a 

l i cence to  se l l  rough d iamonds.   I t  i s  a  s ta tu tory  

requ i rement  in  te rms o f  the  D iamond Act .  

 Now Scar le t  Sky Investments  d id  no t  have a  l i cence 

so  they shou ld  have been d i squa l i f ied  r igh t  a t  the  

beg inn ing  and then we –  the  b id  eva lua t ion  and shor t  20 

l i s t ing  was outsourced to  a  company ca l l ed  Gami ro  

Adv isory  Serv i ces .    

 Now Gami ro  Adv isory  Serv ices  is  an  ex terna l  

serv i ce  prov ide r.   Now the  unan imous reso lu t ion  does make  

re ference and a l ludes to  the  PFMA and the  way the  
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p rocu rement  shou ld  be  run .   Even though the  –  and tha t  

scores  a  schedu le  2  en t i t y  and the  PSJV was a lso  

cons idered a  schedu le  2 .     

They need to  –  you need to  fo rmula te  your  own 

po l i cy,  i t  i s  l i ke  Transnet  and Eskom,  they are  a l l  schedu le  

2 .   You are  a l lowed to  fo rmula te  your  own po l i cy,  okay?   

However,  they d id  no t  have a  po l i cy  spec i f i ca l l y  fo r  SCM,  

so  the  Treasury  presc r ip ts  app l i ed .   So in  te rms o f  the  

prescr ip ts  you need to  have a  proper ly  appo in ted  BEC 

made up o f  s ta f f  members  and management ,  cannot  have  10 

an ex terna l  par t y  do ing  the  eva lua t ion  and a  shor t  l i s t .   You 

can br ing  them in  as  adv i sers ,  Cha i r,  fo r  techn ica l  adv i ce  

because there  are  some techn ica l  i ssues.    

So th is  was an i r regu lar i t y  tha t  we uncovered.  

CHAIRPERSON:    The noncompl iance by  SSI  w i th  one o f  

the  m in imum requ i rements ,  namely  be ing  in  possess ion  o f  

the  l i cence,  tha t  cou ld  no t  have been an overs igh t  on  the  

par t  o f  those who  were  supposed to  d isqua l i f y  tha t ,  cou ld  i t  

have been?  

MR TORRES:    Yes,  i t  cou ld  no t  happen because i t  i s  a  – I  20 

mean,  i t  i s  one o f  the  main  requ i rements  …[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    Because the  f i rs t  th ing  you do,  i s  do  

they meet  the  m in imum requ i rements?   Now in  your  

invest iga t ion  d id  you conf ron t  the  person who was  

supposed to  es tab l i sh  whethe r  SSI  met  th is  requ i rement  
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and i f  you  conf ron ted them,  what  was the i r  exp lana t ion?  

MR TORRES:    Cha i r,  f i rs t l y,  Gami ro  Adv isory  Serv i ces ,  

who d id  the  eva lua t ion  ac tua l l y  a l loca ted  zero  po in ts  to  

Scar le t  Sky fo r  no t  hav ing  a  l i cence.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Oh,  okay.  

MR TORRES:    Okay?  So,  I  mean,  th is  was d is regarded by  

the  tender  commi t tee .  

CHAIRPERSON:    So  i t  i s  the  tender  commi t tee  tha t  was  

supposed to  p ick  th is  up?  

MR TORRES:    Yes.  10 

CHAIRPERSON:    Or  a t  leas t  they  shou ld  have g iven e f fec t  

to  the  zero  …[ in tervenes]  

MR TORRES:    Yes,  they shou ld  have and they d id  no t  g ive  

them zero .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

MR TORRES:    They gave them the  fu l l  f i ve  po in ts  and so  

th is  i s  where  the  d iscrepanc ies  came about .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.   But  what  I  ask ing  is  whether  you  

were  ab le ,  as  t he  invest iga to rs ,  to  conf ron t  the  tender  

commi t tee ,  the  Cha i rperson or  whoever,   to  say  how cou ld  20 

you …[ in tervenes ]  

MR TORRES:    Okay,  Cha i r,  the  …[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    …not  have d isqua l i f ied  SSI?   What  i s  

your  exp lanat ion  fo r  th is?  

MR TORRES:    These were  fo rmer  board  members  and we 
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were  unab le  to  contac t  them,  so  we d id  no t  conf ron t  them 

but  we d id  speak to  the  execut ive  management  team and to  

unders tand why th is  happened.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  okay.  

MR TORRES:    So  –  bu t  they a l so  were  exc luded f rom the  

process and they cou ld  no t… 

CHAIRPERSON:    You know,  there  is  the  tendency  

somet imes w i th  i nvest iga tors  tha t  jus t  because somebody 

is  no  longer  i s  employed by  the  en t i t y  then they  do  not  

fo l low them.   Why cou ld  you not  ge t  ho ld  o f  them?  You 10 

cou ld  no t  ge t  ho ld  o f  even one  member  o f  the  tender  

commi t tee ,  fo rmer  member,  to  say te l l  us ,  what  i s  your  

exp lanat ion ,  o r  send them a  le t te r  say ing  we are  

invest iga t ing ,  we  have been mandated to  invest iga te  and  

th is  i s  what  seems to  have happened here  and you were  

par t  o f  the  tender  commi t tee  and i t  seems you shou ld  have 

p icked th is  up  and you d id  no t  d isqua l i f y  th is .   Wha t  i s  your  

exp lanat ion  fo r  tha t  because we  may make an adverse  

f ind ing  about  you  and the  tender  commi t tee .   What  i s  you r  

exp lanat ion?  G ive  us  your  exp lanat ion  by  such and such a  20 

date .  

MR TORRES:    No,  we d id  no t ,  Cha i r.   We a lso  had t igh t  

dead l ines and t ime const ra in ts ,  they wanted the  repor t .   

So,  I  mean,  there  were  a  number  o f  o ther  i ssues tha t  we 

wanted to  fo l low up but  un for tunate ly  we cou ld  no t .  
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CHAIRPERSON:    Wel l ,  i t  i s  a  p i t y  you d id  no t  do  tha t  

because,  I  mean,  you d id  have th ree  months  and,  i f  

necessary,  you cou ld  have to ld  the  Depar tment  o f  Pub l i c  

Enterp r ises  tha t  you needed more  t ime because  th is  i s  

qu i te  c ruc ia l  because you have  a  s i tua t ion  where  your  

invest iga t ions revea l  tha t  member  o f  the  tender  commi t tee  

fa i led  to  d isqua l i f y  an  en t i t y  tha t  shou ld  obv ious ly  have  

been d isqua l i f ied .    

You need an exp lanat ion  why they  fa i led  to  do  tha t  

because they cou ld  no t  have not  seen tha t  the  SSI  d id  no t  10 

have a  l i cence because the i r  job  wou ld  have been  to  f ind  

ou t  do  you meet  these min imum requ i rements .    

D id  they ask  tha t  quest ion  and wha t  was the  answer  

because i t  may mean tha t  they were  pa r t  o f  co r rup t ion  and  

tha t  i s  qu i te  someth ing  se r ious and you do not  want  to  

reach tha t  conc lus ion  w i thout  g iv ing  those peop le  an  

oppor tun i ty  to  g ive  an  exp lanat ion  fo r  the i r  s t range  

conduct .   Do you unders tand tha t?    

And i t  enr iches your  repor t  i f  you  have conf ron ted  

those peop le  and  you are  ab le  to  say in  your  repor t :   A f te r  20 

we p icked th is  up ,  we approached the  tender  commi t tee  

and asked them,  gave them an oppor tun i ty  to  exp la in  and  

th is  i s  the  exp lanat ion  they have g iven,  we th ink  th is  

exp lanat ion  is  nonsense or  they  have fa i led  to  g ive  an  

exp lanat ion  and  we th ink  they  have fa i led  to  g ive  i t  
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because they have none.   Do you unders tand  tha t?   Then  

your  repor t  has more  va lue  than i f  you leave them out .  

MR TORRES:    You are  cor rec t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja .  

MR TORRES:    Thank you,  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay,  a l r igh t .  

MR TORRES:    I  hea r  what  you are  say ing .   I  th ink  the  next  

po in t  tha t  I  was  go ing  to  ra i se ,  Cha i r,  was the  tender  

commi t tee  recommended the  appo in tment  o f  Scar le t  Sky.   

However,  they gave a  cond i t ion ,  they sa id  we w i l l  10 

recommend the  appo in tment  p rov ided a  due d i l igence is  

conducted by  the  CEO,  Cars tens,  who was a lso  on  the  

board .  

 Now Cars tens then in fo rmed the  board  tha t  he  had 

conducted the  due d i l igence.   A due d i l igence wou ld  have  

enta i led  a lso  conf i rm ing the  lega l i t y  o f  the  l i cence,  okay? 

 Now Cars tens m isrepresented to  the  board  tha t  he  

had conducted a  due d i l igence and  on tha t  bas is  they were  

appo in ted .   So we had in te rv iewed Cars tens about  the  due 

d i l igence,  he  says he  has done i t .   However,  the  company  20 

secre tary  in fo rmed us  tha t  no  due  d i l igence was done and  

he wro te  on  emai l  say ing  tha t  he  has done a  due d i l igence  

.   So we looked a t  i t  f rom tha t  po in t  o f  v iew as we l l .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Bu t  i f  you  have done a  due d i l igence   

wou ld  tha t  no t  be  a  repor t?  
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MR TORRES:    Yes,  there  shou ld  be  because we  want  to  

know what  you have …[ in te rvenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja  and i f  he  sa id  he  d id  i t ,  d id  you ask  

fo r  the  repor t?   Where  is  your  repor t?  

MR TORRES:    Yes,  we asked,  fo r  months  we asked the  

repor t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja .  

MR TORRES:    Repeated ly.   They had to  eventua l l y  admi t  

tha t  no  due d i l igence was done.  

CHAIRPERSON:    He u l t imate ly  admi t ted  tha t?  10 

MR TORRES:    Wel l ,  no ,  the  company secre tary.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

MR TORRES:    Because he s t i l l  admi t ted .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

MR TORRES:    He s t i l l  ma in ta ined  tha t  he  had done a  due  

d i l igence .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.   Okay,  a l r igh t .  

ADV SIBIYA:    Thank you,  Cha i r,  I  th ink  i t  i s  an  oppor tune  

moment .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  le t  us  take  –  we w i l l  take  the  tea  20 

ad journment .   I t  w i l l  be  impor tan t  tha t  the  – I  hope the  

Commiss ion  invest iga tors  have c losed the  gaps tha t  I  am 

ta lk ing  about  tha t  there  w i l l  be  ev idence to  say the  tender  

commi t tee  has been approached about  why i t  d id  no t  

d isqua l i f y  SSI .   Do we have the i r  a f f idav i t s?   Do we have 
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an  exp lanat ion?  What  i s  the  exp lanat ion?   Mat te rs  l i ke  

tha t .   There  m ight  be  o ther  m in imum requ i rements  tha t  

were  no t  met .   I  hope tha t  has been taken ca re  o f .  

ADV SIBIYA:    Indeed i t  has .   Thank you,  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja ,  okay.   We wi l l  take  the  tea  

ad journment  and  we w i l l  resume a t  twenty  to  twe lve .   We 

ad journ .  

INQUIRY ADJOURNS 

INQUIRY RESUMES 

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay,  le t  us  con t inue.  10 

ADV SIBIYA:    Thank you Cha i r.   Mr  To r res  you were  

exp la in ing  how the  en t i t y  tha t  scored SSI  zero  ou t  o f  f i ve  

and then you have the  tender  commi t tee  tha t  changed the  

score .  

MR TORRES:    May I  jus t  pu t  i t  on .   Gami ro  Adv isory  

Serv i ces  scored zero  po in t s  fo r  the  l i cense;  they had the  

s ta tu tory  requ i rement  o f  a  l i cense .   Gami ro  a lso  shor t l i s ted  

th ree  b idders  the re  was seven tha t  had submiss ions.   Now 

Fus ion  A l te rna t ives  they go t  the  h ighest  score  o f  75 ,  

Scar le t  Sky Investments  were  second h ighest  and then 20 

there  was a  th i rd  company ca l led  CS Diamonds okay they 

go t  67  po in ts .   Now based on  the  shor t  l i s t ing  they 

presented to  the  tender  commi t tee ;  he  tender  commi t tee  

then d id  the i r  own eva lua t ion  subsequent  to  the  f i rs t  

eva lua t ion  done by  Gami ro .   What  we d id  then we then 



08 JANUARY 2021 – DAY 324 
 

Page 55 of 223 
 

compared the  score  sheets  to  see i f  there  are  any 

d iscrepanc ies  and one o f  the  d isc repanc ies  was the  l i cence 

issue.    

The tender  commi t tee  had a l loca ted  fu l l  f i ve  po in ts  

fo r  a  l i cence but  a lso  we found tha t  the  cr i te r ia  and the  

a l loca t ion  o f  the  po in ts  had been changed.   Now th is  to  us  

was –  I  mean you  cannot  in  the  m idd le  o f  …[ in te rvene]  

CHAIRPERSON:    And jus t  on  the  5% tha t  you say the  

tender  commi t tee  awarded fo r  a  l i cence tha t  cou ld  s imp ly  

no t  be  bonus po in ts  be  awarded  is  i t  no t  because the re  10 

was no l i cence.   

MR TORRES:    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    So  anybody who awarded SSI  wh ich  is  

awarded f i ve  po in t  wh ich  is  as  I  unders tand f rom what  you  

are  say ing  w i th  fu l l  po in ts  knew tha t  there  was no  l i cence 

and the re fore  and award ing  the  fu l l  po in ts  must  have been  

ac t ing  f raudu len t ly  because they wou ld  no t  have seen the  

l i cence,  i s  i t  no t  o r  do  I  m isunders tand someth ing?    

MR TORRES:    No I  agree w i th  you Cha i r  there  was no 

l i cence.   20 

CHAIRPERSON:    Because you cannot  –  e i ther  you have,  

e i ther  the  en t i t y  has a  l i cence or  i t  does not  have.   I t  

cannot  be  g iven 60% of  the  100 po in ts  because i f  you have  

i t ,  i t  i s  fu l l  po in ts  i f  you  do not  have i t ,  i t  i s  no  po in ts ,  i t  i s  

zero  and there fo re  i f  you  award  the  fu l l  po in ts  w i thout  
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there  hav ing  been a  l i cence then tha t  must  be  f raudu len t .   

MR TORRES:    There  was no l i cence Cha i r  and there  

shou ld  have –  and th is  was one  o f  the  d i screpanc ies  we  

f ind  tha t  i s  why we d id  the  compar i sons.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.   

MR TORRES:    And I  agree w i th  you.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Because you cannot  say  we g i ve  you fu l l  

po in ts  fo r  a  l i cence when you have not  seen the  l i cence.   

MR TORRES:    Cor rec t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja ,  o r  a t  leas t  hav ing  sa t is f ied  yourse l f  10 

tha t  there  is  a  l i cence.    

MR TORRES:    Yes.   

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja  and I  guess the  way to  sa t is fy  

yourse l f  i s  fo r  you to  ask  the  en t i t y  to  p roduce the  l i cence.    

MR TORRES:    And Cha i r  we d id  i f  I  can  jus t ,  we d id  

approach the  D iamond Regu la tor  and the  D iamond  

Regu la tor  conf i rmed tha t  the  SSI  does not  have a  l i cence.   

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  so  tha t  f i ve  po in t s  i s  mos t  l i ke ly  

f raudu len t .   

MR TORRES:    Yes.  20 

CHAIRPERSON:    The award ing  o f  tha t  un less those who  

awarded come and g i ve  an  exp lanat ion  tha t  we  cannot  

th ink  o f ,  ja  okay.    

ADV SIBIYA:    They have been inv i ted  Cha i r  to  come and  

g ive  the i r  exp lanat ion .   We are  hop ing  tha t  they w i l l .   
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MR TORRES:    A lso  Cha i r  we found tha t  in  the  or ig ina l  b id  

submiss ion  Scar le t  Sky Investments  has p roposed an 

out r igh t  purchas ing  mode l  a l l  o ther  b idders  has p roposed  

the  auct ion  sa le  o f  the  pr ic ing .   Now tha t  purchase  pr ic ing  

purchase mode l  was what  was used by  the  prev ious se rv i ce  

prov ider  and th is  caused so  much unhapp iness i t  was a  

content ious issues.   I t  was  ac tua l l y  a  mat te r  to  

management  and  the  cont rac tors .   So when they d id  the i r  

p resenta t ions to  the  tender  commi t tee  they then  i t  was 

changed to  the  auct ion  sa le  pr i c ing  mode l .   Now you have 10 

a  b id  va l id i t y  pe r iod  o f  90  days  w i th in  tha t  b id  va l id i t y  

per iod  you cannot  make changes  to  the  b id  or  i f  you  do  

make changes a l l  o ther  b idders  must  be  in fo rmed.   The 

company secre ta ry  aga in  in fo rmed us  tha t  they have not  

in fo rmed any b idders  tha t  changes were  made.    

Now a l lowing SS I  to  make a  cruc ia l  change to  the  

b id  submiss ion  is  an  un fa i r  and uncompet i t i ve  prac t ice  and 

i t  i s  a  cont ravent ion  o f  the  const i tu t ion  Sect ion  217.   So we 

a lso  found th is  to  be  a  p rob lem and las t l y  i t  i s  a  due  

d i l igence i ssue wh ich  I  a l luded to  ear l ie r  tha t  was not  20 

conducted.   So in  essence the  p rocurement  p rocess was 

i r regu la r,  i t  appears  to  be  man ipu la ted  to  favour  SSI  g iven  

tha t  a l l  these d iscrepanc ies  we found.              

ADV SIBIYA:    So  you are  say ing  whethe r  we were  look ing  

a t  the  l i cence issue or  we were  look ing  a t  the  o ther  i ssue.    
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MR TORRES:    Ja  the  l i cence issues was one i ssue but  

there  were  a  number  o f  o thers .   A l l  these issues taken in to  

accounts  shows tha t  there  was manipu la t ion .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Bu t  o f  course  the  l i cence requ i rements  

i s  a  c ruc ia l  one because you shou ld  no t  go  beyond tha t  

s tage i f  you do not  have i t  because how a re  you go ing  to  

do  the  job .   

MR TORRES:    No I  agree w i th  you Cha i rperson.   

CHAIRPERSON:    I f  you  appo in t  somebody to  as  a  Dr iver  i f  

they  do  not  have a  dr ivers  l i cence.    10 

MR TORRES:    No you cannot  do  tha t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay,  a l r igh t .   

ADV SIBIYA:    Thank you.   Now Mr  Tor res  and w i th  your  

leave Cha i r  you are  aware  tha t  the  Gami ro  have prepared a  

response to  th is  i ssue,  yes?   

MR TORRES:    Yes,  I  have been in fo rmed.   

ADV SIBIYA:    Yes,  and you are  aware  tha t  acco rd ing  to  

Gami ro  they were  no t  ins t ruc ted  to  shor t l i s t  and they d id  

no t  shor t l i s t .   Can I  re fe r  you to  page 622.  

CHAIRPERSON:    I s  tha t  in  the  same bund le?     20 

ADV SIBIYA:    In  the  same bund le  Cha i r,  i t  i s  no t  the  

a f f idav i t .   

CHAIRPERSON:    622?  

ADV SIBIYA:    Yes,  Cha i r.   Am I  cor rec t?  

MR TORRES:    No on tha t…[ in te rvene]  



08 JANUARY 2021 – DAY 324 
 

Page 59 of 223 
 

ADV SIBIYA:    Sor ry  S i r  I  am wai t ing  fo r  the  Cha i r  to  ge t  to  

the  page.  

MR TORRES:    I  am here .   

ADV SIBIYA:    Am I  cor rec t  tha t  th is  i s  the  document  on  

wh ich  you based  your  conc lus ion  tha t  they were  the  ones  

tha t  sho r t l i s ted?  

MR TORRES:    Yes,  th is  i s  the  document  the  le t te r  o f  

appo in tment .   

ADV SIBIYA:    Yes,  and th is  document  tha t  we f ind  on  page  

622 te l l  us  what  i t  i s  and jus t  read i t  fo r  us?  10 

MR TORRES:    Okay,  th is  i s  the  le t te r  to  the  ch ie f  

execut ive  o f  Gami ro  Adv isory  Serv i ces  and i t  i s  the  

appo in tment  le t te r  to  Gami ro  to  eva lua te  and shor t l i s t  the 

procu rement  p rocess fo r  the  marke t ing  and se l l ing  o f  rough 

d iamonds and the  le t te r  has been s igned by  Merv in  

Cars tens the  ch ie f  execut ive  o f f i ce r.    

ADV SIBIYA:    Where  d id  you get  th is  le t te r?  

MR TORRES:    Th is  i s  a  le t te r  t ha t  we got  f rom -  in  our  

ba tch  because we got  ba tch  documents  f rom the  Company 

Secre tary  was our  main  l ia ison.   So she sent  us  a l l  o f  20 

these documents  so  we got  th is  in  our  ba tch  f rom the  

Company Secre ta ry.     

ADV SIBIYA:    The company secre tary  o f  the  PSJV? 

MR TORRES:    O f  the  PSJV ca l led  Reagan Ph i l l i ps .   

ADV SIBIYA:    So  she is  the  one tha t  when send ing  you 
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documents  tha t  wou ld  suppor t  the  invest iga t ion  tha t  you  

were  under tak ing  inc luded th is  document?  

MR TORRES:    Yes,  what  we wou ld  a lso  do  is  we w i l l  g ive  

her  spec i f i c  documents  tha t  we wanted and say we need  

these documents  and they wou ld  send i t  to  us .    

CHAIRPERSON:    And what  was the  po in t  about  the  le t te r  

tha t  you say some o f  Gami ro  or  somebody makes?    

ADV SIBIYA:    The a f f idav i t  tha t  has been submi t ted  by  

Gami ro  bu t  was submi t ted  in  shor t  no t ice  and the re fore  i s  

no t  ye t  be fore  the  Cha i rperson.   In  tha t  a f f idav i t  they  10 

d ispute  tha t  they were  ins t ruc ted  to  shor t l i s t ,  yes  

and…[ in tervene]  

CHAIRPERSON:    Do they do  so  on  the  bas is  o f  th is  le t te r?       

ADV SIBIYA:    They say tha t  they never  rece ived th is  le t te r  

and I  am tak ing  i t  as  yes…[ in tervene]  

CHAIRPERSON:    Oh okay,  a l r igh t .     

ADV SIBIYA:    Yes,  so  they d i spu te  tha t  they shor t l i s ted  in  

the  f i rs t  p lace  and Mr  Tor res  has jus t  g iven ev idence o f  the  

scor ing  and the  fac ts  tha t  they shor t l i s ted .   So I  

am…[ in te rvene]  20 

CHAIRPERSON:    I s  tha t  a  way o f  say ing  tha t  they were  

no t  requ i red  to  check whether  somebody had the  en t i t y  had 

a  l i cence?      

ADV SIBIYA:    No they say tha t  they scored them zero  fo r  

tha t  aspect  bu t  they are  d is tanc ing  themse lves f rom hav ing 
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ensured tha t  SSI  i s…[ in tervene]  

CHAIRPERSON:    Bu t  ge t t ing ,  g i v ing  them ze ro  fo r  tha t  

aspect  shou ld  mean they shou ld  no t  p roceed to  do  

anyth ing  e l se .     

ADV SIBIYA:    Cha i r  I  do  no t  want  to  be…[ in tervene ]  

CHAIRPERSON:    You do not  want  to  be  there  advocate .     

ADV SIBIYA:    Yes,  however  what  they say in  the i r  a f f idav i t  

wh ich  i s  under  oa th  and they have submi t ted  i s  tha t  they 

on ly  pu t  in  the  scores  bu t  d id  no t  say  tha t  these are  the  

compan ies  tha t  must  be  shor t l i s ted .   They say tha t  they d id  10 

no t  have the  au thor i t y  to  d isqua l i f y…[ in tervene]  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay I  am sure  they w i l l  come and  

exp la in .    

ADV SIBIYA:    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay but  i t  i s  impor tan t  fo r  you to  pu t  to  

Mr  Tor res  what  they say about  the i r  repor t ,  ja .    

ADV SIBIYA:    Yes,  so  do  you accept  tha t  they d id  no t?  

MR TORRES:    Based on th is  l e t te r  they d id  do  a  shor t  

l i s t ing  and in  any  event  when you do the  scor ing  i t  i s  a lso  

an  automat ic  sho r t  l i s t ing  process un less  o f  course  you say  20 

a  company must  be  d i squa l i f ied  and you s ta te  exp l i c i t l y  

why and there  scor ing  a l ready was  the  shor t  l i s t ing.      

ADV SIBIYA:    And sure l y  by  employ ing  Gami ro  they had to  

have a  cer ta in  exper t i se .    

MR TORRES:    Yes because you do not  employ  an  ex te rna l  
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serv i ce  prov ider  i f  they  do  not  have the  sk i l l s  and the  

capab i l i t ies  to  do  the  job  because you have the  sk i l l s  in  

house.   So yes they shou ld  have known tha t  SSI  had to  be  

d isqua l i f ied  fo r  no t  hav ing  a  l i cence.   

ADV SIBIYA:    How many tenders  were  in  fac t  rece ived?  

MR TORRES:    There  were  seven tenders  tha t  were  

rev iewed Cha i r.   There  were  ac tua l l y  n ine  express o f  

in te res t  submi t ted  bu t  two d id  no t  a t tend the  br ie f ing  

sess ion  and d id  no t  submi t  a  fo rma l  p roposa l .   

ADV SIBIYA:    So  there  was an ex terna l  serv ice  p rov ide r  10 

appo in ted  to  eva lua te  seven tenders?  

MR TORRES:    Seven tenders ,  co r rec t .    

ADV SIBIYA:    And in  your  v iew and in  your…[ in te rvene]  

CHAIRPERSON:    That  i s  the  b ids  seven b ids  fo r  a  

par t i cu la r  tender?  

MR TORRES:    Yes,  yes  fo r  a  par t i cu la r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja ,  okay.   

ADV SIBIYA:    So  in  your  v iew why wou ld  they have 

needed to  appo in t  a  serv ice  prov ider  fo r  the  eva lua t ion  o f  

the  seven tenders  i f  no t  to  shor t l i s t  and not  to…[ in tervene]   20 

MR TORRES:    Yes,  you a re  qu i te  r igh t  because you have 

the  exper t i se  ins ide  who have been do ing  th is  job  fo r  qu i te  

some t ime and they do  the  b id  eva lua t ion  a l l  the  t ime and  

then you prov ide  an  ex terna l  p rov ider  i t  ra ises  the  quest ion  

why spec i f i ca l l y  th is  serv ice  prov ider  and why were  they  
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asked to  shor t l i s t  because normal l y  you jus t  say  do  the  b id  

eva lua t ion .    

The b id  eva lua t ion  shou ld  in  i t se l f  te l l  you  who goes   

to  the  next  leve l .   Have they reached the  th resho ld  leve l  

because there  cou ld  have been a  th resho ld  leve l?   I  th ink 

there  was a  th resho ld  leve l  funct iona l i t y  o f  70 .   So i f  you  

do not  reach 70 you do not  go  to  the  next  leve l .   So there  

must  have been a  reason I  th ink  why…[ in tervene]  

CHAIRPERSON:    Were  you g iven and exp lanat ion  as  to  

why th is  was outsourced du r ing  your  invest iga t ion?  10 

MR TORRES:    What  we wanted  to  know why –  we a l so  

found tha t  the  company secre ta ry  and the  o ther  execut ive  

members  because they were  no t  invo lved cou ld  no t  g ive  us  

an  exp lanat ion .   So we then asked  the…[ in tervene]  

CHAIRPERSON:    Bu t  somebody must  have taken the  

dec is ion  to  ou tsource  d id  you approach tha t  pe rson?    

MR TORRES:    Cars tens now we  –  there  were  a l l egat ions  

tha t  he  had in  h is  p rev ious job  tha t  he  had contac t  w i th  

Gami ro  Adv isory  bu t  we cou ld  never  conf i rm i t .   

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  bu t  what  I  am ask ing  is  d id  you  20 

conf ron t  h im to  say exp la in  why i t  was jus t i f ied  to  

ou tsource  th is  and d id  you approach h im,  d id  you prov ide 

and exp lanat ion  i f  he  d id  what  was  the  exp lanat ion?   

MR TORRES:    Wel l  a l l  tha t  he  sa id  was tha t  they have the  

necessary  exper t i se  and knowledge to  do  th is  par t i cu la r  
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job  and a lso  tha t  they were  do ing  o ther  adv isory  serv i ces  

fo r  the  en t i t y.  

CHAIRPERSON:    I  am sor ry  so  you d id  approach h im?  

MR TORRES:    Yes,  we had an in te rv iew wi th  h im a  fo rmal  

in te rv iew.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  and h is  exp lanat ion  was?  

MR TORRES:    Wel l  a l l  he  sa id  they have the  exper t i se  

they wanted them because they have the  exper t i se .  

CHAIRPERSON:    What  the  in te rna l  exper t i se ,  why  not  use  

the  in te rna l  exper t i se?  10 

MR TORRES:    Wel l  I…[ in te rvene]  

CHAIRPERSON:    That  i s  an  obv ious quest ion  you  wou ld  

ask  why you outsourc ing  because we have got  the  

exper t i se .   

MR TORRES:    Wel l  we quest ioned because we sa id  by  

employ ing  ex terna l  serv ice  prov iders  even i f  they  have the  

exper t i se  i t  i s  ac tua l l y  f ru i t less  and waste fu l  expend i tu re .   

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  tha t  i s  why I  am say ing  i t  i s  an  

obv ious quest ion  fo r  you to  ask  to  say why are  you  

outsourc ing  you  have got  the  exper t i se  because the  20 

outsourc ing  in  c i rcumstances where  there  is  in -house  

exper t i se  may be  an ind ica t ion  o f  someth ing  e l se .   So i t  i s  

a  c ruc ia l  quest ion  and an exp lanat ion  fo r  tha t  why i t  was  

done in  c i rcumstances where  there  was in -house exper t i se  

to  do  the  job  is  qu i te  impor tan t .       
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MR TORRES:    No,  h is  on ly  exp lanat ion  was tha t  they have 

the  techn ica l  ab i l i t y  in  te rms o f  the  indust ry  as  we l l  and  

tha t  i s  why they  were  p icked and then we le t  i t  a t  tha t  

Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    And what  d id  you make  o f  that  

exp lanat ion?  

MR TORRES:    I t  d id  no t  make sense to  us  Cha i r  because  

the  on ly  techn ica l  i ssue was the  l i cence.   The res t  was  

have you met  the  requ i rements .   The scor ing  was on issues 

such as  –  okay there  was some techn ica l  i ssues but  the  10 

scor ing  was on the  c r i te r ia  was main ly  on  loca l  

deve lopment  wha t  a re  they go ing  to  do  on  tha t ,  the  pr ic ing  

mode l  was an impor tan t  i ssue.   So they cou ld  have had -  

and th i s  i s  what  our  a rgument  was -  you sa id  yes f ine  

maybe they cou ld  have come in  as  a  techn ica l  adv isor  

because tha t  i s  what  happens a l l  the  t ime.   Your  BEC do  

not  have a l l  the  techn ica l  knowledge a t  t imes so  why d id  

you not  b r ing  them in ,  you sa id  no  they were  there  they d id  

the  b id  eva lua t ion .    

ADV SIBIYA:    Thank you and what  e lse  d id  you d iscover  20 

had been done wrong in  the  p rocurement  p rocess?  

MR TORRES:    In  the  procurement  p rocess?  

ADV SIBIYA:    Yes.   

MR TORRES:    Wel l  I  th ink  I  have covered most  o f  the  

i tems tha t  were  done wrong,  i t  i s  jus t  to  summar i se .   There  
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was no l i cence,  Gami ro  as  an  ex te rna l  serv ice  prov ider  

there  was no compl iance in  the  way they were  appo in ted  

because they shou ld  have appo in ted  in te rna l  s ta f f  o r  have 

a  proper l y  const i tu ted  b id  eva lua t ion  commi t tee .   A lso  the  

scor ing  o f  the  th ree  shor t l i s ted  serv i ces  prov iders  there  

were  d i screpanc ies .    

For  example ,  bas i c  d isc repanc ies  l i ke  a l l  th ree  

serv i ce  prov ide rs  had –  okay a f te r  the  changed b id  

submiss ion  o f  SSI  they a l l  p roposed a  commiss ion  o f  1 .5% 

but  two o f  the  serv i ce  prov iders  were  g iven th ree  po in ts  10 

and the  o ther  one was g iven fou r  po in ts .   You know for  the  

same so  how do  you –  so  i t  was jus t  to  us  we got  the  

impress ion  tha t  i s  why we say we  th ink  i t  was man ipu la ted  

they were  jus t  g iv ing  po in ts  to  ensure  tha t  SSI  go t  the  

h ighest  po in ts  tha t  was the  presenta t ion  a f te r  the  

presenta t ion .   

ADV SIBIYA:    And o f  course  we have the  i ssue o f  the  due  

d i l igence tha t  was a  cond i t ion .   

MR TORRES:    That  was a  cond i t ion  tha t  I  th ink  a lso  the  

sub-commi t tee  wanted to  p ro tec t  i t se l f ,  they  had made a  20 

recommendat ion .   They then  sa id  based on our  

recommendat ion ,  no  we recommend SSI  however  you need 

to  conduct  a  due d i l igence wh ich  was never  conducted,  

tha t  i s  i t .      

ADV SIBIYA:    And when i t  came to  the  Board  and  
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repor t ing  to  the  Board  about  the  due d i l igence what  d id  you  

f ind?  

MR TORRES:    Wel l  Merv in  Cars ten ’s  the  CEO actua l l y  

wro te  an  emai l  to  Board  members  conf i rm ing tha t  he  had 

conducted a  due d i l igence and based on tha t  they accepted  

i t  and awarded the  cont rac t  to  SSI .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Bu t  how cou ld  they,  how cou ld  the  Board  

jus t  accept  h i s  word  one wou ld  have expected tha t  they 

wou ld  ask  fo r  the  repor t ,  the  due  d i l igence repor t  so  tha t  

they cou ld  eva lua te  i t  themse lves and see what  i t  says .      10 

MR TORRES:    Cha i r  r igh t  f rom the  beg inn ing  o f  our  

invest iga t ion  the  due d i l igence repor t  was one o f  the  th ings 

tha t  we asked them fo r.   Eventua l l y  r igh t  a t  the  end they  

confessed and sa id ,  the  company secre tary  ac tua l l y,  

Reagan Ph i l l i ps  sa id  look no  due d i l igence was done.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  so  the  l e t te r  tha t  Mr  Cars ten ’s  

wro te  to  the  Board  d id  i t  say  I  have conduc ted due 

d i l igence and th is  i s  the  ou tcome thereof  o r  wha t  d id  i t  

say?    

MR TORRES:    I  am t ry ing  to  remember  the  emai l  i t  i s  such 20 

a  –  bu t  the  emai l  sa id  I  have conducted the  due d i l igence.   

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.    

MR TORRES:    I  do  no t  -  the  emai l  d id  no t  spec i fy  you  

know what  was in  the  due d i l igence.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Wou ld  tha t  emai l  be  pa r t  o f  the 
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annexures to  your  repor t?  

MR TORRES:    I t  shou ld  be .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Or  you a re  no t  sure .   

MR TORRES:    I  am not  sure  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay tha t  can be checked la te r,  you see 

i t  becomes impor tan t  because we a lso  need to  look  a t  the 

ro le  o f  Boards o f  these SOE’s .   How can you s imp ly  be  to ld  

a  due d i l igence  has been conducted and you make a  

dec is ion  w i thout  see ing  the  due d i l igence repor t .   How do  

you do tha t?      10 

MR TORRES:    R igh t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    And i t  tu rns  ou t  there  was  no due  

d i l igence tha t  was done anyway  and then the  quest ion  

ar ises  why was there  nobody among the  Board  members  

who sa id  where  i s  the  due d i l igence repor t ,  we want  to  see  

i t  be fore  we make a  dec i s ion  you see.   D id  you have 

access to  the  m inutes  o f  the  Board  meet ing  where  they 

d iscussed and made the  dec is ion?   

MR TORRES:    Cha i r  we wou ld  have had I  th ink  where  the  

appo in tment  was made in  the  Board  I  am sure  we have got  20 

tha t  m inutes .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja ,  okay a l r igh t  i t  wou ld  be  impor tan t  to  

see what  was sa id ,  ja  okay.   

ADV SIBIYA:    Thank you and then  we move on  to  the  

second appo in tment  bu t  be fore  we get  there  what  d id  you 
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f ind  in  re la t ion  to  the  exper t i se ,  the  sco r ing  fo r  the  

exper t i se  d id  you  have any prob lem?  

MR TORRES:    The sco r ing?  

ADV SIBIYA:    In  re la t ion  to  the  exper ience and the  

exper t i se ,  d id  you have any p rob lem wi th  tha t?  

MR TORRES:    The exper ience?  

ADV SIBIYA:    Yes.   

CHAIRPERSON:    O f  SSI .   

ADV SIBIYA:    O f  SSI ,  yes .   

MR TORRES:    Wel l  I  th ink  r igh t  a t  the  beg inn ing  I  a l luded 10 

to  the  fac t  tha t  i t  was a  she l f  company so  there  was no 

bus iness t rac t  record  there  was  no exper ience so  they 

shou ld  have got ten  ve ry  l i t t le .   

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.    

MR TORRES:    Bu t  they were  a l loca ted  po in t s  and then  

there  was a lso  gaps in  the i r  b id  tha t  i s  why the  cr i te r ia  was 

changed as  we l l  because the  pr i c ing  mode l  they d id  no t  

have in  the i r  f i rs t  b id  and then there  was a lso  benef ic ia t ion  

the  loca l  communi ty  they need to  –  there  was an aspect  

where  the  loca l  communi ty  had to  be  empowered .   That  20 

was ac tua l l y  removed f rom the  c r i te r ia  dur ing  the  

presenta t ion  s tage.     

ADV SIBIYA:    Thank you okay now we can move  to  the  

second appo in tment  o f  SSI .     

MR TORRES:    The second appo in tment  o f…[ in tervene]  
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CHAIRPERSON:    What  page is  tha t?  

ADV SIBIYA:    I t  i s  the  very  next  page Cha i r  on  page 92 I  

am sor ry  I  d id  no t  take…[ in te rvene]  

CHAIRPERSON:    When you took us  to  page 622 a re  we is  

i t  623 or  a re  we go ing  back.    

ADV SIBIYA:    I  am walk ing  by  myse l f  Cha i r  and  leav ing  

everyone beh ind .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja  we can see tha t .    

ADV SIBIYA:    Yes,  we are  ac tua l l y  back…[ in te rvene ]  

CHAIRPERSON:    You need us .   10 

ADV SIBIYA:    We are  back a t  page 92.  

CHAIRPERSON:    92?  

ADV SIBIYA:    Yes thank you Cha i r.   

MR TORRES:    Okay I  have got  i t  here .   

ADV SIBIYA:    Yes.   

MR TORRES:    The second  appo in tment  o f  SSI  

…[ in tervene]  

ADV SIBIYA:    F i rs t l y  I  am sor ry  to  cu t  you Mr  Tor res ,  were  

you happy w i th  the  appo in tment  o r  d id  you a lso  make 

adverse  f ind ings in  re la t ion  to  th is  appo in tment?  20 

MR TORRES:    In  our  v iew the  p rocurement  p rocess  fo r  the  

appo in tment  o f  the  serv i ce  prov ide r  to  market  and se l l  the  

rough d iamonds  was fa ta l l y  f lawed and we d id  have 

adverse  f ind ings.       

ADV SIBIYA:    Okay and you are  ta lk ing  about  the  second  
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tender.   

MR TORRES:    Yes,  the  second tender.   

ADV SIBIYA:    Yes,  now you can  go ahead and say what  

you f ind ings were .   

MR TORRES:    Now the  second tender  the  BEC the re  was  

a  BEC and the  BEC compr i sed the  execut ive  team 

managers ,  so  there  was a  BEC.   We then reques ted the  

m inutes  the  scor ing  o f  the  BEC i t  was a t  th is  s tage when 

the  company secre tary  who was a l so  a  member  o f  the  BEC 

admi t ted  to  us  tha t  they d id  no  eva lua t ion  a t  a l l .   The i r  on l y  10 

job  was to  ensure  tha t  there  is  compl iance w i th  the  

requ i rements .    

Now th is  i s  the  requ i rements  such as  is  there  a  

tender  cer t i f i ca te ,  i s  there  a  BEE cer t i f i ca te .   Now th is  i s  

an  admin is t ra t i ve  job  tha t  i s  usua l l y  done by  supp l ie r  

management  s ta f f  i t  shou ld  no t  be  done by  an  execut ive  

team.   So the  BEC in  i t se l f  was you cou ld  say a  hoax in  

i t se l f  because they were  appo in ted  but  to  do  what  because 

your  respons ib i l i t y  as  a  BEC is  to  do  eva lua t ion  so  they d id  

no  eva lua t ion  and tha t  was to  us  a  prob lem.   A l ready r i gh t  20 

f rom the  s ta r t  th is  who le ,  there  were  prob lems w i th  the 

procu rement  p rocess.  

CHAIRPERSON:    D id  the  company ’s  admiss ion ,  was the  

company ’s  admiss ion  tha t  no  eva lua t ion  was done in  

wr i t ing?    
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MR TORRES:    Wel l  what  she d id  was she sa id  they had no 

records tha t  an  eva lua t ion  had been done  and tha t  i s  why i t  

was a  prob lem even to  ge t  m inutes ,  documents .   In  fac t ,  

there  was even a  prob lem in  us  f ind ing  ou t  the  number  o f  

submiss ions admi t ted .   

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  bu t  my quest ion  is  whether  

whatever  he  sa id  whethe r  tha t  was in  wr i t ing  namely  

whethe r  he  sa id  there  was no eva lua t ion  done o r  whethe r  

he  sa id  there  were  no  reco rds ind ica t ing  tha t  eva lua t ions  

were  done.   What  he  to ld  you was i t  in  wr i t ing?  D id  he  10 

s ign  a  s ta tement  o r  do  an  a f f idav i t ,  d id  he  send a  le t te r  o r  

was i t  jus t…[ in tervene]  

MR TORRES:    No we had an in te rv iew wi th  her  on  th is  

par t i cu la r  and a  number  o f  o the r  i ssues.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.   

MR TORRES:    I  am jus t  t ry ing  to  reca l l  Cha i r  bu t  we d id  

on  th is  pa r t i cu la r  i ssues i t  i s  when no rmal l y  they ge t  

appo in ted  as  BEC they do  eva lua t ions bu t  I  must ,  I  cannot  

reca l l  whether  she in fo rmed us  whether  i t  was an 

ins t ruc t ion  and I  th ink  tha t  i s  what  you want  to  know,  am I  20 

r igh t  Cha i r?  That  she was ins t ruc ted .   

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.      

MR TORRES:    Not  to  do  an  eva lua t ion .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Wou ld  your  in te rv iew wi th  h im  wou ld  

have been recorded by  any chance?  
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MR TORRES:    No,  no .  

CHAIRPERSON:    I t  wou ld  no t  have been recorded  

because i t  i s  qu i te  impor tan t  in fo rmat ion  so  I  wou ld  have 

imag ined tha t  i f  you  d id  no t  reco rd  the  in te rv iew you wou ld  

have asked h im to  do  an a f f idav i t  o r  a t  leas t  m in imum a  

s ta tement  to  say  g ive  us  a  s ta tement  tha t  te l l s  us  exact ly  

what  you have jus t  to ld  us  in  th is  in te rv iew.   D id  you do 

tha t?     

MR TORRES:    No we d id  no t .   

CHAIRPERSON:    Why not ,  i t  i s  such an impor tan t  th ing?  10 

MR TORRES:    Cha i r…[ in tervene]  

CHAIRPERSON:    I  mean eva lua t ion  was impor tan t ,  i t  

shou ld  have been done here  is  the  company secre tary  

e i ther  te l l ing  you no eva lua t ion  was done or  we were  

ins t ruc ted  not  to  do  i t  o r  there  are  s imp ly  no  records  

ind ica t ing  tha t  th i s  was done.   So now you are  conduct ing  

an  impor tan t  invest iga t ion  how do you not  secure  e i ther  a  

s ta tement  o r  an  a f f idav i t  f rom th is  giv ing you this 

informat ion.  

MR TORRES:   I  cannot recal l  us asking her for an aff idavi t  20 

but  I  agree wi th you i t  is an important  point .   Again Chai r  

under the ci rcumstances we were – in fact  we thought we 

would get  – get  a  second opportuni ty to cont inue and close 

the gaps but  we never got  to a second appointment.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja i t  is unsat isfactory.   I t  is unsat is factory.   
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I  mean this is very important .   Now somebody tel ls you very 

important  informat ion you are invest igat ing.   You are going 

to compi le a report  g ive i t  to the Department of  Publ ic 

Enterpr ises and he te l ls you crucia l  informat ion;  you do not  

ensure that  i t  is in wri t ing to say the least  or i t  is an aff idavi t  

or i t  is recorded.   I t  is unsat isfactory.   Ms Sibiya cont inue.  

ADV SIBIYA:   Thank you.   Maybe i f  I  can assist  you Mr 

Torres.   On page 146.  

MR TORRES:   100 and? 

ADV SIBIYA:   46 – 146.   This is the sect ion where you detai l  10 

the content  of  the interview.  You detai l  the date of  the 

interview with Ms Phi l l ips and you set  out  in the report  st i l l  

what  she informed you.   Are you wi th me on page 146? 

MR TORRES:   Yes I  am.  

ADV SIBIYA:   Okay.   So you wi l l  see that  in paragraph 

17.5.4 you say:  

“On 4 October 2019 we interviewed Ms 

Ragan Phi l l ips the company secretary of  the 

PSJV and she in formed us that  she is an 

admit ted at torney whose done post  graduate 20 

that  is at  Stel lenbosch Universi ty. ”  

And then three bul let  points down can you see what you 

wrote there as a recordal  of  your  consul tat ion?  Can you 

read that  for us.   So the fourth bul let  point .  

MR TORRES:   I t  is the fourth bul let  point .  
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ADV SIBIYA:   Yes.  

MR TORRES:    

“Appointed as – this is the interview with  

Phi l l ips.   Phi l l ips informed as fol lows:  

Appointed as part  of  the BEC for the 

procurement process involving the tender for  

market ing and sel l ing of  rough diamonds.   

The commit tee did not  do any scor ing for the 

evaluat ion purposes only checked 

compl iance to the min imum requirements. ”  10 

CHAIRPERSON:   Did you ask her  why the evaluat ion was 

not  done or the scor ing for evaluat ion purposes was not  

done? 

MR TORRES:   Chair  I  th ink I  do not  see i t  here.   I  cannot 

recal l .  

CHAIRPERSON:   But  i t  is such an obvious quest ion to ask i f  

you are invest igat ing.   And this is what company secretary? 

MR TORRES:   Ja the company secretary.  

CHAIRPERSON:   The company secretary is an important  

off ic ia l  in the company and – and i f  I  recal l  correct ly part  of  20 

their  job is to ensure compl iance wi th legislat ion and so on.   

So she si ts on a commit tee which was supposed to conduct  

an evaluat ion and she tel ls you they did not  do the 

evaluat ion because i f  they did not  score that  means they did 

not  do the evaluat ion.   Most  obvious quest ion to  ask is why 
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not .   That  is  what  you were about as a commit tee.   That  was 

your job.   Why did you not  do the job? 

MR TORRES:   In  fact  we raised the quest ion that  the PEC 

that  is there job but  she said they were – that  is al l  they did.   

They were not  given any other informat ion to work on.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja did you ask her why were you not  

given?  Who was supposed to give you informat ion?  Why 

were you not  given informat ion? 

MR TORRES:   Chai r  the quest ions – we raised a number of  

quest ions.   I  must  admit  that  at  t imes the – the – they were 10 

evasive you know and because we also had t ime const raints 

we were in Cape Town we had conduct  unfortunate ly were 

important  when there was winds – a dust  storm and we could 

not  conduct  any interviews.   We had to reschedule because 

i t  is qui te a dr ive to Upington.   So you have to dr ive to 

Upington 700 kms then get  a f l ight  back to Joburg so i t  is an 

issue to get  there.   So I  th ink that  the t ime constraints were 

also.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja but  you had three months to do this and 

you are interviewing the company secretary and she tel ls you 20 

I  was part  of  the commit tee that  was supposed to do an 

evaluat ion.   We did not  do an evaluat ion.   Obviously you 

must  probe further to f ind out  why.   Why did you not  do your  

job as a commit tee to f ind out  whether they were instructed 

by anybody not  to do the job?  I f  they were inst ructed who 
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instructed them?  What were – why did they comply wi th that  

instruct ion?  Was that  instruct ion lawful?  And so or were 

they part  of  a certain  agenda or were they not  part  of  an 

agenda.  And you cannot f ind – cannot get  an answer to 

those quest ions i f  you do not  ask the relevant  quest ions.   

You see i t  – i t  d i lu tes the signi f icance of  your report  i f  you do 

not  ask quest ions that  should have been asked.  

MR TORRES:   I  agree Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON:   I  see here on – on the fourth bul let  po int  i t  

says – you recorded that  she said they only checked 10 

compl iance to the min imum requirements,  is that  r ight? 

MR TORRES:   That  is r ight  and I  do say.  

CHAIRPERSON:   And did she say that  they found that  there 

was compl iance wi th the minimum requirements – did she tel l  

you that?  Or did  she – what did  she say was thei r  f inding 

about? 

MR TORRES:   There was – there was compl iance to the 

minimum requirements.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Sorry.  

MR TORRES:   There was compl iance to the minimum 20 

requi rements.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.   Is that  because Scar let  now d id have 

a l icence or what? 

MR TORRES:   Wel l  they were using the l icence of  a  related 

company.  
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CHAIRPERSON:   Is that  al lowed? 

MR TORRES:   I t  is not  al lowed.  I  mean you must  have your 

own l icence.  

CHAIRPERSON:   So – so why – why do we not  –  why did 

you not  make an issue on that?  Why did you not  raise that  

wi th her to say but  i f  they did not  –  i f  Scarlet  d id not  have a 

l icence then they did not  meet the requirements.   They could 

not  use somebody else’s l icence. 

MR TORRES:   Chair  I  hear what you say but  she says the 

requi rements that  they were g iven – al l  the requirements 10 

were met.   Now we do not  have a wri t ten document 

st ipulat ing what requirements were put  down.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Did you ask for them? 

MR TORRES:   Ja but  there was no – we asked for  al l  of  that .   

There were no documents.  

CHAIRPERSON:   But  who would have – who would have 

decided on the requirements? 

MR TORRES:   Wel l  there ask essent ia l ly when you submit  

there are certain requirements.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  20 

MR TORRES:   That  you… 

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

MR TORRES:   You wi l l  make your bids – your tax cert i f icate,  

your BEE cert i f icate.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  
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MR TORRES:   The document must  be properly signed.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes but  I  am saying somebody wi thin the 

company would say for  th is  tender these are going to be the 

minimum requirements is i t  not? 

MR TORRES:   No,  no.   There was no document st ipulat ing 

what were the min imum requi rements.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes so how – how did they – how did they 

know what the minimum requi rements are that  she is ta lk ing 

about here? 

MR TORRES:   Wel l  we assumed that  i t  was just  the normal  10 

administ rat ive requi rements.   You know having a tender,  tax 

clearance cert i f icate,  a BEE cert i f icate,  a submission of  

documents.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja but  how could you assume.  This is 

something you are supposed to sat isfy yoursel f  about .   I f  you 

are asked to invest igate whether a company was awarded a 

part icular cont ract  lawful ly obviously you go back to the start  

to say okay when the request  for informat ion – the request  

for proposals was issued what requirements were there?  

Who was el ig ible  to make a proposal?  Did these – this  20 

company meet those requi rements and take i t  f rom there? 

MR TORRES:   Wel l  Chai r  at  th is stage already we knew i t  is 

a sham because there were no documents avai lable.   

Because normal ly  even the Supply Chain they would have a 

documents that  is  your tender requi rements where these are 
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the requi rements and i t  is a t ick exercise real ly.   You are 

qui te r ight  Chai r  i t  is a t ick exercise.   But  there were no – 

there was nothing.  

CHAIRPERSON:   But  – but  does your  report  say that  there 

was – there were no such documents? 

MR TORRES:   There were no documents we asked for i t .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Hm.  

MR TORRES:   I t  does say.  

CHAIRPERSON:   I t  does say that .  

MR TORRES:   That  we asked for al l  the minutes and 10 

everything.  

CHAIRPERSON:   But  are you saying at  page 146 of  the 

report  that  Ms Phi l l ips said they checked compl iance wi th the 

minimum requi rements and found that  there was compl iance?  

Is that  what you record her as having said? 

MR TORRES:   I  wi l l  not  say – I  said only check compl iance 

to minimum requi rements.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

MR TORRES:   And… 

CHAIRPERSON:   So what I  am asking – what – I  am asking 20 

what that  means because i t  says only checked.   Now you can 

check and f ind that  there was no compl iance wi th the 

minimum requi rements.   You check and f ind that  there was 

compl iance.   So this does not  te l l  me which one so I  am 

asking you did she say they checked as the commit tee 
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whether there had been compl iance wi th the minimum 

requi rements and found that  there had been compl iance wi th 

the minimum requirements? 

MR TORRES:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Or do you not  remember? 

MR TORRES:   Yes there was compl iance but  we needed also 

the documents and that  was not  avai lable.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

MR TORRES:   Because to us that  –  i t  is again yes there was 

compl iance,  what  did you check?  They could not  give us.   10 

And I  th ink this is one of  our requi rements that  we wanted 

compl iance check l ist  which a lso we did not  get .  

CHAIRPERSON:   But  your report  say – in regard to your  

interview of  her does not  – unless i t  is deal t  wi th elsewhere 

does not  reveal  that  you raised these queries unless you 

deal  – you deal  wi th that  somewhere else.   Because you are 

interviewing the company secretary.   She says we checked 

compl iance wi th the minimum requi rements and obviously 

you have to say what did you f ind?  I f  she sa id there was 

compl iance you say what were the minimum requirements?  20 

Where are the documents that  say those were the minimum 

requi rements?  That  does not  appear in the report .  

MR TORRES:   I t  does not  appear here.  

CHAIRPERSON:   And yet  i t  is qu i te something important .   

Because how can she say there was compl iance i f  she 
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cannot produce the document that  te l ls you what those 

requi rements were.   Can you see where – what – where my 

problem is? 

MR TORRES:   No,  no I  – I  hear you and I  agree wi th you.  

CHAIRPERSON:   And you were – you would – I  would have 

expected you to want to sat isfy yoursel f  on this because you 

want to be able in  your report  to say was she r ight  in  saying 

there was compl iance wi th the minimum requirements or not?  

You see.   In your  report  d id you deal  wi th whether she was 

r ight  about  that? 10 

MR TORRES:   I  deal  – no the BEC I  only deal  wi th the BEC 

issue and what she responded to.   The focus was because 

af ter – there was a short  l ist ing done and the shor t  l ist ing 

they also again l ike the f i rst  procurement presented to the 

tender commit tee.   Now also again our problem was how did 

they short  l ist  i f  there was no evaluat ion done?  There was 

no documents,  nothing.   In fact  the procurement process for  

the second appointment was a sham. 

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja but  you – at  least  th is  page 146 does 

not  ref lect  that  you probed issues that  you were supposed to 20 

probe.  She seems to tel l  you she checked compl iance wi th 

the minimum requirements and that  seems to be lef t  a t  that .  

MR TORRES:   Ja.   Yes I  th ink i f  you look at  the issues three 

months might  seem a long t ime but  i t  is a short  t ime.  The 

invest igat ion.  
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CHAIRPERSON:   Yes but  just  th is one person you do not 

need – I  mean just  an hour wi th  th is person you say okay 

what were the min imum requi rements? 

MR TORRES:   No we had… 

CHAIRPERSON:   These were the minimum requirements.   

Where are you basing that  on?  Where is the document that  

to ld the bidders these were the requirements?  Where do you 

get  that  f rom?  How can you say there was compl iance i f  the 

bidders were not  to ld what the requi rements were? 

MR TORRES:   Chai r  a lso you must  understand that  th is also 10 

served as a prel iminary invest igat ion.   We had expected to  

then have another phase where we would probe certain 

aspects.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes but  these are the basic minimums.   

Why must  those be deal t  wi th by another invest igat ion?  This 

is – there are the f i rst  th ings you look at  and then they do 

not  need a lot  of  t ime.  You see.   Why must the Department  

of  Publ ic Enterpr ises have to ei ther appoint  you or appoint  

somebody else to  do another invest igat ion af ter they have 

paid whatever they paid for your report  when this can be 20 

establ ished very quickly?  Ms Sib iya cont inue.  

ADV SIBIYA:   Mr Torres on page 92 you set  out  on 12.1.2 

what was the minimum requi rements.  

MR TORRES:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   What page? 
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ADV SIBIYA:   92 Chai r.   In paragraph 12.1.2. .  

MR TORRES:   No on 92? 

ADV SIBIYA:   Yes.  

MR TORRES:   Oh I  am sorry.  

ADV SIBIYA:   92 in black.  

MR TORRES:   I  am looking here.   The wrong page.  

ADV SIBIYA:   12.1 – 12.1.2 Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay.  

ADV SIBIYA:   You set  out  the minimum requi rements for the 

second feat  and … 10 

CHAIRPERSON:   12.1.2 does not  set  out  the minimum 

requi rements i t  sets out  what was considered to be minimum 

requi rements.   I  do not  know considered by whom. 

CHAIRPERSON:   Wel l  Chair  I  am st i l l  taking Mr Torres to the 

document that  supports because I  th ink some of  i t  he might  

have forgot ten but  he makes reference to i t .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja okay.  

ADV SIBIYA:   Yes.   So i f  I  can take you very,  very far to  

page 640 of  the same document.   640 in fact  that  ident i f ies 

the number of  the exhib i t  only.   Now the document that  20 

appears there i t  is  cal led the Tender – i t  says Market ing – oh 

you not  there yet .   Are you not  there yet? 

MR TORRES:   Pardon.  

ADV SIBIYA:   You are not  there yet? 

MR TORRES:   I  am i t  is 642 you said.  
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ADV SIBIYA:   Yes.   641.  

MR TORRES:   641 

ADV SIBIYA:   Yes.  

MR TORRES:   Yes I  – I  am there.  

ADV SIBIYA:   So what is th is document? 

MR TORRES:   I t  says the Market ing Post  Ext ract ion 

Treatment processing and benef ic ia t ion of  diamonds.  

ADV SIBIYA:   Yes but  what is th is document? 

MR TORRES:   Pardon.  

ADV SIBIYA:   What is th is document? 10 

MR TORRES:   Oh i t  is a request  for  proposals.  

ADV SIBIYA:   Okay.   And i t  is the request  for proposals for  

the same cont ract  we are talk ing about? 

MR TORRES:   That  is correct .  

ADV SIBIYA:   Okay.   Now i f  I  can take you to page 655 of  

that  same document.    

MR TORRES:   Yes.  

ADV SIBIYA:   Do you see in the middle of  the page where i t  

is in bo ld 655.  

MR TORRES:   Oh 655.  20 

ADV SIBIYA:   Yes.    

MR TORRES:   I  have got  i t .  

ADV SIBIYA:   Can you see in the middle of  the page this is 

st i l l  the same document can you conf i rm that  i t  is  st i l l  the 

same document that  we have just  ident i f ied? 
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MR TORRES:   That  is correct .  

ADV SIBIYA:   Okay.   Can you see the heading in bold that  

says Sect ion 2 detai led Terms of  Reference?  In bold in the 

middle of  the page.  

MR TORRES:   Yes I  do see i t .  

ADV SIBIYA:   Okay.   Can you see that  sub-paragraph and 

immediately below that  i t  says:  

“As a minimum requi rement  proposals must  

demonstrate the b idders '  abi l i ty to. ”  

MR TORRES:   Okay I  am there.  10 

ADV SIBIYA:   Okay.   Do you not  th ink this is where you got  

the minimum requirements that  you ref lect? 

MR TORRES:   I  th ink this is exact ly the same as the report .  

ADV SIBIYA:   Yes.   I t  is almost  – i t  is not  everything.   I t  is – 

th is document – the i tems l isted on this page there is only 

four of  them so i t  is A to D and then you on page 92 in  

addi t ion to what they have put  in you include a BEE level  

and you include the tax c learance.   But  in terms of  the 

substance this is exact ly the same.  

MR TORRES:   Yes.   Yes.  20 

ADV SIBIYA:   So… 

CHAIRPERSON:   Wel l  what  was the page on the other one 

which is has got  considered? 

ADV SIBIYA:   92.  

CHAIRPERSON:   92? 
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ADV SIBIYA:   Yes.   We can go l ine by l ine.    

MR TORRES:   So now Mr Torres how does your evidence 

that  there were no documents set t ing out  the minimum 

requi rements gets reconci led wi th  th is  document  that  sets 

out  at  page 655 the minimum requirements.  

MR TORRES:   No I  have got  the minimum requi rements but  I  

th ink the – I  am talk ing about the compl iance Chai r.   There 

was no documents showing which compl iance check was 

done.  Because we needed the minutes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Wel l  when you and I  were talk ing about – 10 

you remember the page in your report  where you recorded 

what the company secretary said in the interview you had 

with her  and she had said accord ing to that  report  only  

checked compl iance wi th minimum requi rements.   And then I  

asked the quest ion was there compl i  – did she say there was 

compl iance wi th  the minimum requi rements?  Because 

checking compl iance wi th minimum requi rements does not  

te l l  me whether  there was compl iance or there was no 

compl iance.   So we then got  to ta lk ing about what were the 

minimum requirements.   That  is when you said no documents 20 

were provided to you that  set  out  what the minimum 

requi rements – as I  understood your  evidence 

MR TORRES:   Based on the report  there were the minimum 

requi rements were there Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Sorry.  
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MR TORRES:   Based on the report  the minimum 

requi rements were there.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja no I  now know that  they were there but  I  

understood you to  say you asked for documents that  set  out  

the minimum requi rements and you were not  provided wi th  

them.  That  is how I  understood your  ev idence.   Did I  

misunderstand your evidence? 

MR TORRES:   Wel l  the – we did ask for documents that  were 

not  given the minutes.   Even the compl iance check because 

she must have signed the compl iance check l ist  to say that  I  10 

have done this to  th is and th is is –  that  we did not  get .   But  

the compl iance – the minimum requi rements as speci f ied in 

the terms of  reference i t  is part  of  our exhibi t  – annexures.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ms Sibiya how long do you need with this  

wi tness? 

ADV SIBIYA:   Chai r  I  th ink one hour.   Yes Chai r.   I  do not  

want to underest imate the t ime as we are known to do.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Wel l  we st i l l  have about th i r ty minutes 

before we get  to  one o ’clock.   See how much you – how 

much you use that  th i r ty minutes.  20 

ADV SIBIYA:   Thank you.  

CHAIRPERSON:   I  am not  sure that  we need an hour.  

ADV SIBIYA:   Thank you Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Cont inue.  

ADV SIBIYA:   Thank you.   Now you move on – we move onto 
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the issue of  the mar ine contractors.  

MR TORRES:   Okay.  

ADV SIBIYA:   I f  I  understand correct ly these were the 

people that  had complained to the DPE and this related to  

the same soured relat ionship that  had been ident i f ied and 

had been part  of  the reason that  you were appointed to  

conduct  th is invest igat ion.   I  am taking you to page 98.  

MR TORRES:   98? 

ADV SIBIYA:   Yes.  

MR TORRES:   I  am there.  10 

ADV SIBIYA:   Okay.   Yes.   So what did you invest igate and 

what did you f ind as br ief ly as you can?  What was the 

complaint  that  you were invest igat ing? 

MR TORRES:   On the evaluat ion process i tsel f  we found 

more adverse f indings.   There was a properly const i tuted 

BEC also made up of  the execut ive team.   Because there 

were no issues wi th  that .   There was the BEC/Tender 

Commit tee recommended 9 out  of  the 19 bids.   There were 

two bids.   The beach mining act iv i ty and there was the 

shal low water act iv i ty – marine act iv i ty.  20 

 So the beach mining act iv i ty there were – there were 

19 submissions.   8 bids were recommended for award.   The 

shal low water marine tender there were 66 bids submit ted.   

51 bids were recommended for – for appointment.   Included 

in the 51 bids you had four  cont ractors that  were 
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subsequent ly excluded f rom the procurement process by the 

board.    

 Now the board held – and the four contractors that  

were excluded were Ocean Diggers,  Malakaza,  TL Marine 

and Repsol .   These were the four contractors.  

 Now th is is al l  re lated to the – the relat ionship that  

existed between the cont ractors on the one hand, the 

execut ive management  and board on the one hand.  I t  was a 

host i le and unfr iendly relat ionship and the board then 

decided – they had a special  meet ing held to – where they 10 

discussed the appointment of  these four contractors.  

 At  th is meet ing the board decided to exclude them 

from the procurement process on the basis that  they were 

disrupt ive,  they were abusive,  they had damaged the 

reputat ion of  the board and the execut ive management.   So 

on this basis they were excluded.  

 However the – the process was not  fo l lowed.  Even – 

because in  terms of  the unanimous resolut ion i t  is qui te 

expl ic i t .   I t  says the execut ive management can recommend 

to the board the appointment of  an independent contractor.  20 

 I f  the board disagrees and rejects the 

recommendat ion i t  must  be referred back to the execut ive 

management for reconsiderat ion.   The execut ive 

management then referred the matter back to the board.   

And i f  the board st i l l  – the board cannot refuse or re ject  –  
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the second t ime around they cannot  reject  the 

recommendat ion of  the execut ive team provided that  the 

organisat ion wi l l  be f inancial ly pre judiced.  

 Now the exclusion was not  based on f inancial  

prejudice.   I t  was because of  the type of  relat ionship that  

existed.   So the board acted improperly in reject ing the 

award of  the four contractors.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ms Sibiya remember that  his report  is 

before me.  

ADV SIBIYA:   Yes.  10 

CHAIRPERSON:   And the f indings are there.   Whatever  

recommendat ions are there.  I  th ink what is more important  

for you to look at  the important  f indings that  you want to  

br ing to my at tent ion let  h im deal  wi th them and the basis for 

those f indings and take i t  f rom there.   Otherwise most  of  

what he says is in the report  and one can read i t  but  i t  is 

important  to see the basis for certain f indings.  

ADV SIBIYA:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja and quest ion him on the basis or the 

process of  h im conduct ing the invest igat ion.  20 

ADV SIBIYA:   Thank you Chai r  I  wi l l  do so.   Now Chair  th is  

is  not  an indicat ion that  I  am not  fo l lowing what the Chair  

has said but  I  am just  going to move to the next  page. 

CHAIRPERSON:   No,  no that  is f ine.  

ADV SIBIYA:   Of  the report  because the next  … 
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CHAIRPERSON:   That  is f ine ja.  

ADV SIBIYA:   Thank you Chai r.   On page 108 i t  could be 

that  I  am saying i t  is the next  page and maybe I  have lef t  

you behind again but  I  am now asking us to go to page 108.  

MR TORRES:   108? 

ADV SIBIYA:   Yes.  

MR TORRES:   Okay.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Is that  108? 

ADV SIBIYA:   Yes 108.   Now th is was one of  the more 

content ious issues am I  correct? 10 

MR TORRES:   Yes i t  was a conten – evaluat ion pr ic ing or 

content ious issue.  

ADV SIBIYA:   Yes.   Okay.   Tel l  us what you were asked to 

check and the process that  you fol lowed before you have 

reached your f ind ing.  

MR TORRES :    Okay.    

ADV SIBIYA :    As br ief ly as you can.  

MR TORRES :    There were complaints that  there was. . .   

Chai r,  there were complaints that  the diamonds were being 

undervalued and that  no proper  evaluat ion process was 20 

being done.   

 Now the way that  they value the d iamonds.   They ca l l  i t  

the Four C’s Method.   I t  is your  carat ,  your colour,  the clar i ty 

and the cut .   Now there was a problem – there are two 

evaluat ions done.    
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 At  the processing plant  you have the PSJV.  They have 

got  a Diamond Evaluat ion who then do the evaluat ions there.   

Now the evaluat ion being done by the PSJV’s evaluator was 

done purely us ing carat  quant i t ies.   The other C’s were not  

used.    

 And according to customs, i t  was the CEO.  He said no 

shares gone.  They evaluated at  that  stage.   Had no ski l ls.   

She could only do carat  evaluat ion.   So that  was the reason 

they gave.    

 And then there is another evaluat ion done by SSI.   They 10 

get  an independent evaluator to do evaluat ion.   There were 

also complaints f rom the evaluat ion done by SSI.    

 What we did wi th  SSI.   We then requested them to give 

us the cert i f icate of  the evaluat ion.   Of  each diamond, there 

is a cert i f icate issued.   Because that  would give us more 

detai ls on what,  how i t  was done, what carat  was there,  the 

cut ,  the clar i ty and al l  that .   They could not  g ive us any 

cert i f icates.   I  mean, they promised but  they never gave us.    

 And then we also did a comparison because i t  was very 

di ff icul t  now to do the evaluat ion based on here because 20 

they did not  give us any informat ion.   So we were forced to 

then do a pr ic ing – to get  a pr ic ing index,  a  Ziminsky pr ic ing 

index.    

 And also the second index was Bloomberg.   But  i t  is  not  

ideal  to use th is index because the pr ic ing is average and a 
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mixed bag of  diamonds get  used.   So your pr ic ing wi l l  a lso 

be lower.    

 However,  we have found there were big discrepancies,  

that  the pr ic ing was much lower than the Bloomberg and the 

Ziminsky pr ices.   And in fact ,  under evaluat ion – ja,  th is  

would – there was a b ig problem there wi th the evaluat ion.    

 And then,  of  course,  also there was no compl iance wi th  

the cont ractual  terms for the agreement.   Cont ractual  terms 

are very clear  that  5% of  the diamonds must  be sold to a 

local  buy for benef ic iat ion purposes but  10% must be sold 10 

through the State Diamond Treasure in  terms of  the Diamond 

Act .    

 And then the 85% had to be purchased by buyers 

through an auct ion sale.   Now when we looked at  the af ter-

sales report  and the invoices,  we found that ,  f i rst ly,  i t  

depicted that  85% of  the diamonds were being sold to  

Scarlet  Sky.    

 And in terms of  the cont ract ,  i t  should be through an 

auct ion process.   We then requested the names of  the 

bidders because they insisted that  they held auct ions.   We 20 

said okay,  then why – you should not  be put t ing your name 

on the af ter-sales report .    

 The response was:   I t  is c lassi f ied informat ion and we 

cannot reveal  i t .   We then insisted that :   No,  PSJV is your  

cl ient .   I t  is their  informat ion,  r ight .   And we are doing the 
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invest igat ion.   They said:   We never  got  that  informat ion.   

Because we needed to know who are the buyers.    

 We also needed to know how much was sold and to 

which buyer.   I t  is  very important .   So that  was a big problem 

to us.   So that  is why we were also forced to  do this 

MSCI/Bloomberg evaluat ion.   We then found that  when we 

looked at  the other,  the 10% and the 5% sold,  we found that  

i t  was based on carats,  carat  quant i t ies.    

 Now in terms of  the cont ract  i t  should be based on value 

and not  on carat  quant i t ies.   So we did a comparison.   And 10 

then we found that  the way they did the pr ic ing,  they actual ly 

sold – under so ld to the state diamond t rader by s ixty  

mi l l ion.    

 And they also under sold the 5% local ly by thi r ty-eight  

mi l l ion.   There was a dispute wi th them al l  the t ime because 

they ins isted i t  is done on carats and quant i t ies and they are 

misreading the contract .    

 And even the regulator agreed with us.   I t  should be on 

sales value.   And the excess as wel l  because i t  is a s tatutory 

requi rement that  10% gets sold.   I t  is on sales value.    20 

 So there was – so there was def in i te ly – i t  was a means 

of  se l l ing poor qual i ty diamonds to – local ly.    

ADV SIBIYA :    Mr Torres,  when you speak about the s ixty 

mi l l ion amount . . . [ intervenes]   

MR TORRES :    Yes?  
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ADV SIBIYA :    . . . that  was the va lue of  the under sales.   Over 

what per iod? 

MR TORRES :    We are talk ing about since that  f i rst  

appointment which was the beginning of  2015 r ight  up to the 

t ime that  we were appointed.   I  th ink just  before our  

appointment.    

ADV SIBIYA :    Okay.   And your appointment was in 2019.   So 

that  would be over a per iod of  four years? 

MR TORRES :    Ja,  I  th ink.  

ADV SIBIYA :    H’m.  Yes.   And then you also,  wi th regards to  10 

benef ic iat ion,  you also had a problem.  

MR TORRES :    Yes,  we had a problem.   That  is the 5% that  I  

am talking about.    

ADV SIBIYA :    H’m.  

MR TORRES :    5% should have been sold – there were two 

problems.  Fi rst ly,  the 5% was based on quant i t ies and not  

on value.   I t  a lso was undervalued and under sold.   The 

second issues was that  the 5% was sold to a related 

company which was Daniel  Nathan,  owned by one of  the 

di rectors.    20 

 Now this is a conf l ict  of  interest .   And at  t imes they sold 

i t  to another company cal led Gettys(?) [00:06:55]  which was 

also in the same premises where they were si tuated.   And,  

ja.   So they did not  see i t  as a problem but  we saw i t  as a 

problem.   
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ADV SIBIYA :    Without  a l icense,  could they,  in fact ,  be 

sel l ing to anyone? 

MR TORRES :    You know, eventual ly – because they could 

not  provide us wi th al l  the informat ion of  the bidders,  the 

evaluat ion cert i f icate.   They could not  te l l  us how much was 

sold to which bidder.   There was a suspic ion because we 

even conf ronted the CFO and we said:    

 You ver i fy the veraci ty  of  these documents and you 

made a payment,  a  commission payment to SSI.   Why are 

you not  – now why are you so?  Why did you not  get  the – 10 

why did you not  ask for more informat ion?  Support ing 

documents before you s igned off  and paid?   

 According to him:   No,  we sold -  the SSI are the buyers 

of  the d iamonds.   I  asked him then:   Did you read the 

agreement?  The agreement is expl ic i t   I t  says SSI only 

faci l i tate the buy.   They should not  be buying.   He said he 

never read the agreement.    

 And that  to me was also another problem because how 

are you CFO, you ver i fy payments and you do not  – and – 

because you are supposed to check the veraci ty.    20 

 Check i f  these people had been properly appointment ,  is  

there an agreement in place,  what does the agreement say.   

So that  was the problem.  

ADV SIBIYA :    Thank you.   And what did you f ind in re lat ion 

to the relat ionship?  I  am moving to the next  top ic.  
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MR TORRES :    The relat ionship?  

ADV SIBIYA :    Yes,  the relat ionship between the mar ine 

contractors and the JV.  

MR TORRES :    There was a host i le and unfr iendly 

re lat ionship.   In fact ,  the f i rst  re lat ionship had broken down.   

And according to  execut ive management,  they were upset  

because their  concerns were raised in publ ic.   They were not  

approached.   

 However,  the contractors met wi th the execut ive team a 

number of  t imes,  raised thei r  concerns to  them.  I t  was 10 

ignored.   And as a last  resort ,  they then went publ ic.    

 And there are certain concerns that  they raised which we 

invest igated.   For  example,  they raised a concern that  the 

processing,  the gravel  –  the Diamond Gravel  Processing 

Plant  was operat ing ineff ic ient ly.   And they were part icu lar ly 

worr ied about the secur i ty cont ro ls,  you know,  of  the 

diamond gravel  because there are var ious stages of  

extract ion as used in the plant .   We did a physical  walk 

through the plant .    

 And the f i rst  stages,  what they cal l  Densi ty Media 20 

Separat ion.   Diamonds are supposed to be one of  the 

heaviest  minerals .   So they use a dense – th is separate the 

heavier diamond – the heavier mater ia l  f rom the l ighter  

mater ia l .    

 Now the complaint ,  that  they were not  al lowed to use 
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their  own t races,  densi ty t races.   The densi ty t races would 

then cast  the densi ty.   We then approached and asked the 

operat ions manager why are they now al lowed to use the 

t races.    

 According to the operat ions manager,  who was Jerome 

Cloete at  that  stage,  there is no guarantee that  the t races 

had been tested.   This was h is excuse.   And we found i t  was 

not  acceptable because a cert i f icate you could do.   You can 

always ask the contractor to give a cert i f icate that  the t racer  

has been tested.   And that  is what we told him.   10 

 And then the second point  on the t racers was that ,  they 

were not  to ld the number of  t races that  gets put  into the 

separate pi les,  and this was an issue for them, because then 

you do not  know what is happening.    

 Now according to Jerome:  No,  the contractors are ly ing.   

We have got  records showing that  they acknowledge how 

many t races are placed in that  heaps and how many t races 

are taking out  of  the heaps.  

 We then asked for the records,  showing that  the 

contractors had signed.   They could not  provide us wi th the 20 

records.    

ADV SIBIYA :    Okay.  

MR TORRES :    So we found the complaint  and the issue 

ra ised on the t races was a val id one.   And then there was 

also the issue of  the securi ty control  issue in t ransport ing 
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the d iamond heaps f rom the X-ray room to the,  what they cal l  

the Glove Compartment.   This is a g lass,  sort  of  a container.    

 And because they use the container that  is l ike – i t  is a  

metal  mi lk- l ike container.   I t  looks l ike old metal  container.   

They use that  to t ransport  the gravel ,  the diamond gravels 

and that  is secure.    

 However,  because of  insuff ic ient  numbers of  containers,  

they then use a set- l ike bag.   Then the cont ractors were very 

unhappy wi th i t  because the set - l ike bag was of  a poor 

qual i ty and you could make a hole in th is set - l ike bag and 10 

actual ly remove d iamond gravel  and then close the hole as 

wel l .   So they were very unhappy.    

 Again we quest ioned the operat ions manager about th is.   

He admit ted that  they do use the set- l ike bag and they do 

not  have suff ic ient  containers.  

ADV SIBIYA :    Okay.    

MR TORRES :    So this was an issue.   And then the other  

issues that  they had were the rec lamat ion of  the tai l ings.   

Now the tai l ings are essent ia l ly  your  residue.   I t  is l ike your  

mine dumps that  you have in Johannesburg.   I t  is a res idue.   20 

So i t  is a dump that  they have.    

 Now the special  ext ract ion process that  they use to 

ret r ieve diamonds f rom the dumps.  Now they compla int  that  

they were not  given – they needed to share.    

 In terms of  their  contract .   I t  is cal led tai l ings,  they need 
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to share equal ly the proceeds der ived f rom the tai l ings.   Now 

we then quest ioned the CEO about i t .   The CEO said yes 

they do qual i fy to share in the table tai l ings but  not  the 

stockpi le ta i l ings.  

 The agreement does not  make a dist inct ion between 

table tai l ings and stockpi le ta i l ings.   The agreement only 

says ta i l ings.   That  is al l  i t  says.   

 So we found this quest ionable.   And also,  we did not  – i t  

was not  part  of  our  br ief  to invest igate the appointment of  

ABICOR that  did the – that  was doing the ext ract ion of  the 10 

tai l ings.  

 So there was also a complaint  that  they had been 

appointed to do this and that  Carstens’ wi fe was a business 

partner of  ABICOR.  

ADV SIBIYA :    And ABICOR is the company that  were get t ing 

the balance of  the tai l ings? 

MR TORRES :    No,  no.   ABICOR was appointed to do the 

extract ion of  the d iamonds in the tai l ings.  

ADV SIBIYA :    Yes.   So the tai l ings that  were supposed to be 

shared? 20 

MR TORRES :    Yes,  correct .  

ADV SIBIYA :    Okay.   Thank you.   Now I  wi l l  move you to the 

last  issue that  I  am going to deal  w i th and that  is in re lat ion 

to the Governance and Management issues.  

MR TORRES :    Okay.  



08 JANUARY 2021 – DAY 324 
 

Page 102 of 223 
 

ADV SIBIYA :    You are on page 131.    

MR TORRES :    Okay.  

ADV SIBIYA :    Now you found that  of  the board – of  the 

commit tees of  the board that  were in place,  there was a 

commit tee that  was not  author ised to be a commit tee that  is  

part  them and that  is the Tender Commit tee.   Tel l  us what  

i r regular i t ies or what you are unhappy about in  relat ion to  

the Tender Commit tee.  

MR TORRES :    The Tender Commit tee was a commit tee 

comprising board members.   I t  was a sub-commit tee of  the 10 

board.   Now the Unanimous Resolut ion st ipulated the 

format ion of  certain sub-commit tees.  

 Now the role  of  the board has an oversight  

responsibi l i ty.   They should not  get  involved in operat ional  

matters.    

 The Tender Commit tee – the work of  a Tender 

Commit tee.   What they did here was is simi lar to  what a 

Adjudicat ion Commit tee wi l l  do.   The board does not  get  

involved in operat ional  matters.    

 So we have an issue wi th that ,  and there was a good 20 

reason why i t  was not  suggested in the Unanimous 

Resolut ion.  

ADV SIBIYA :    H’m.  Okay.   Those are the quest ions that  I  

have Chai r  for th is wi tness.  

CHAIRPERSON :    What you may have forgot ten to do is,  is  
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to give Mr Torres the opportuni ty to  give his background, his 

educat ional  and professional  background and experience.  

ADV SIBIYA :    Thank you Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Wi l l  you take care of  that? 

ADV SIBIYA :    Yes.   Thank you.   Mr Torres,  I  only asked you 

i f  you were st i l l  an Execut ive Di rector  at  Kimode and I  d id  

not  deal  wi th that .   So can you tel l  us your experience 

. . . [ intervenes]   

MR TORRES :    Okay Chair  . . . [ intervenes]    

ADV SIBIYA :    . .and your qual i f icat ions? 10 

MR TORRES :    I  have got  a BCom Honours Degree in 

Audi t ing,  X in Account ing.   I  have a lso done my art ic les wi th 

what was then in the 80’s known as Peat Marwick,  now 

known as KPMG.  I  am a registered accountant  wi th CIPA.  I  

am also a cert i f ied Board Examiner wi th the internat ional  

body and the local  body.    

 I  have almost  40-years ’ exper ience in f inancial  

management,  external  audi t ing,  forensic account ing,  due 

di l igence invest igat ions.   I  have done and conducted audi t . . .   

Wel l ,  when I  was in the pr ivate sector,  I  d id audi ts  on the 20 

banks.    

 In the publ ic  sector,  c l ients included the Reserve Bank 

of  Ponzi  schemes that  we did.   We also d id the f i rst  FICA 

Audi t  of  the four p iping(?) banks.   Nat ional  Treasury was one 

of  our big c l ients as wel l .    
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 And then we have done across the publ ic spect re.   We 

have done state ent i t ies,  provincial  departments,  

municipal i t ies  And then. . . ja.    

 And then my other experience is  work ing as a Financial  

manager.   I  have also sat  on Audi t  Commit tees.   I  served as 

Audi t  Chair  as wel l .   So that  is my background.  

ADV SIBIYA :    Okay.   Thank you Chai r.    

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay.   Thank you very much Mr Torres for  

coming to give ev idence.   You may be asked to come back i f  

we feel  there is a need but  thank you very much.  You are 10 

now excused.  I  do not  th ink anybody wishes to do anything.   

So.   Ja,  you are excused.  In the af ternoon Ms Sibiya,  who 

wi l l  you be cal l ing? 

ADV SIBIYA :    I  w i l l  be cal l ing Mr Gavin Craythorne.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay al r ight .   We wi l l  take the lunch 

adjournment and we wi l l  resume at  two o’clock.   We adjourn.  

INQUIRY ADJOURNS 

INQUIRY RESUMES  

CHAIRPERSON:    A re  you ready?  

ADV SIBIYA:    Yes,  thank you,  Cha i r.  20 

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay,  le t  us  …[ in tervenes]  

ADV SIBIYA:    Cha i r,  i f  I  may have leave to  ca l l  my next  

w i tness who is  Mr  Gav in  Craythorne.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Your  vo i ce  has  gone down aga in .   You 

w i l l  have to  ra ise  your  vo ice .  
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ADV SIBIYA:    My apo log ies ,  Cha i r.   I  w i l l  do  so .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Jus t  repeat  what  you sa id .   Sor ry,  what  

i s  next?  

ADV SIBIYA:    The next  w i tness is  Mr  Gav in  Craythorne.   

Thank you.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Wel l ,  i t  i s  as  i f  I  asked you to  l ower  your  

vo i ce  more .   Come c lose r  to  the  m ic  I  th ink  because i t  

looks  l i ke  your  vo ice  is  na tura l l y  so f t .   Okay?  

ADV SIBIYA:    Cha i r,  my next  w i tness tha t  I  w i l l  be  ca l l ing  

i s  Mr  Gav in  Craythorne.   Thank you.  10 

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay,  a l r igh t .   P lease admin is te r  the  

oa th  or  a f f i rmat ion .  

REGISTRAR :   P lease s ta te  your  fu l l  names fo r  the  record?  

GAVIN JOHN CRAYTHORNE:    Gav in  John Craythorne.  

REGISTRAR :   Do you have any  ob jec t ion  to  t ak ing  the  

prescr ibed oath?  

MR CRAYTHORNE:    No.  

REGISTRAR :   Do you cons ider  t he  oa th  to  be  b ind ing  on  

your  consc ience?  

MR CRAYTHORNE:    Yes.  20 

REGISTRAR :   Do  you swear  tha t  the  ev idence you w i l l  g ive   

w i l l  be  the  t ru th  the  who le  t ru th  and noth ing  e lse  bu t  the  

t ru th .   I f  so ,  p lease ra ise  your  r igh t  hand and say so  he lp  

me God.  

MR CRAYTHORNE:    I  do .   So he lp  me God.  
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CHAIRPERSON:    Thank you.   You may be sea ted,  Mr  

Craythorne.   Yes proceed,  Ms S ib i ya .  

ADV SIBIYA:    Thank you,  Cha i r.   Mr  Craythorne,  f i rs t l y,  

thank you very  much fo r  ava i l ing  yourse l f  and thank  you fo r  

approach ing  the  Commiss ion  when you d i scovered there  

were  some th ings tha t  were  happen ing  tha t  shou ld  no t  be  

happen ing .   I t  takes a  b rave pe rson to  do  tha t  and we  

thank you fo r  tha t .  

MR CRAYTHORNE:    Thank you very  much,  Cha i rperson,  i t  

i s  an  honour  to  be  he re  today,  I  hope do not  d isappo in t  10 

you.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Good,  thank you fo r  coming to  g ive  

ev idence,  Mr  Craytho rne.  

MR CRAYTHORNE:    My p leasure .  

ADV SIBIYA:    Mr  Craytho rne,  be fore  we even qua l i f y  you  

and te l l  the  Cha i rperson who you are  and what  you do,  jus t  

te l l  me very  b r ie f l y  what  i t  was tha t  made you come to  the  

Commiss ion .  

MR CRAYTHORNE:    I  a  found ing  member  …[ in te rvenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    Do you not  want  to  –  I  am sor ry,  Ms  20 

S ib iya ,  do  you not  want  to  ge t  the  procedura l  mat te rs  ou t  

o f  the  way,  ge t  us  to  admi t  h is  a f f idav i t  f i rs t?  

ADV SIBIYA:    The a f f idav i t  admi t ted ,  yes .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Then you can go in to  tha t .  

ADV SIBIYA:    Thank you,  Cha i r,  I  w i l l  do  so .   Mr  
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Cray thorne,  in  f ron t  o f  you you shou ld  have a  f i le  tha t  on  

the  sp ine  is  wr i t ten  Min ing  Bund le  04A.   Do you have tha t?    

MR CRAYTHORNE:    Yes.   I  do .  

ADV SIBIYA:    Okay,  p lease tu rn  in  tha t  bund le  to  jus t  

underneath  the  tab  tha t  says AFFI ,  A- f - f - i .   A re  you there?  

MR CRAYTHORNE:    I  am there .  

ADV SIBIYA:    Okay,  thank you.   That  i s  page 3 .  

MR CRAYTHORNE:    That  i s  cor rec t .  

ADV SIBIYA:    I f  you  look on  the  le f t .  Okay.    Do you  

conf i rm tha t  th is  i s  an  a f f idav i t  tha t  you deposed  to ,  tha t  10 

these are  your  names a t  the  top  and a t  the  bo t tom,  tha t  i s  

your  in i t ia l .   One o f  those is  your  in i t ia ls .  

MR CRAYTHORNE:    I  do .  

ADV SIBIYA:    And i f  I  take  you to  page 95 o f  tha t  same 

document .  

MR CRAYTHORNE:    Yes.  

ADV SIBIYA:    I s  tha t  you r  s ignature  a lmost  a t  the  bo t tom? 

MR CRAYTHORNE:    That  i s  my s ignature .  

ADV SIBIYA:    And …[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    Wel l ,  le t  us  c la r i f y  tha t .   There  are  two  20 

s ignatures  there .   The one above  your  name,  i s  tha t  your  

s ignature?  

MR CRAYTHORNE:    That  i s  cor rec t ,  Cha i rperson.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  okay.  

ADV SIBIYA:    Thank you.   And the  s ignature  tha t  i s  r igh t  
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a t  the  bo t tom? 

MR CRAYTHORNE:    That  s ignature  i f  o f  Capta in  Donna  

van Wyngaard t  f rom A lexander  Bay.  

ADV SIBIYA:    Do you conf i rm tha t  when you s igned th is  

document  you s igned i t  on  the  17  Ju ly  2020 as  s ta ted  there  

and in  f ron t  o f  the  capta in?  

MR CRAYTHORNE:    I  do .  

ADV SIBIYA:    And when you were  s ign ing  th is  document  

d id  you swear  the  oa th  tha t  th is  i s  the  ev idence –  tha t  th is  

i s  your  document  and i t  i s  the  t ru th?  10 

MR CRAYTHORNE:    I  d id .  

ADV SIBIYA:    Okay.   Have you gone th rough th is  

document  recent ly?  

MR CRAYTHORNE:  I  have.     

ADV SIBIYA:    Do you conf i rm now tha t  the  conten ts  o f  th is  

document  a re  the  t ru th?  

MR CRAYTHORNE:    To  be  the  best  o f  my knowledge and 

to  the  best  o f  my –  i t  i s  t rue .  

ADV SIBIYA:    Okay.   And do you  conf i rm tha t  in  add i t ion  

to  th is  document  you submi t ted  annexures tha t  you re fer  to  20 

in  th is  document?  

MR CRAYTHORNE:    Yes.  

ADV SIBIYA:    And tha t  those annexures appear  f rom page  

96 o f  th is  bund le  and car ry  on  to  the  next  bund le ,  bund le  

4B.   Do you conf i rm tha t  those  are  documents  tha t  you 
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submi t ted  to  the  Commiss ion  together  w i th  your  a f f idav i t?   

MR CRAYTHORNE:    Yes,  I  conf i rm tha t .  

ADV SIBIYA:    Thank you.   Cha i r,  i f  I  may w i th  your  leave 

ask  tha t  the  a f f idav i t  o f  Mr  Gav in  Craythorne tha t  appears  

f rom page 3  to  page 95 o f  bund le  4A and the  annexures 

appear ing  f rom page 96 to  the  end o f  bund le  4B be 

accepted as  EXHIBIT XX4?  

CHAIRPERSON:    The a f f idav i t  o f  Mr  Gav in  John  

Craythorne s ta r t ing  a t  page 3  o f  Min ing  bund le  04A  

together  w i th  i t s  annexures w i l l  be  admi t ted  as  EXHIBIT  10 

XX4.  

AFFIDAVIT  OF MR GAVIN JOHN CRAYTHORNE HANDED 

IN AS EXHIBIT  XX4  

ADV SIBIYA:    Thank you,  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay,  you may then proceed.  

ADV SIBIYA:    Yes.   Mr  Craythorne,  I  had asked you to  te l l  

us  br ie f l y  what  i t  was tha t  made you come to  the  

Commiss ion .  

MR CRAYTHORNE:    Cha i rperson,  I  am a  found ing  member  

o f  an  organ isa t ion  ca l led  the  Equ i tab le  Access Campaign 20 

and I  am a lso  a  ve teran d iamond d iver  w i th  35  years  o f  

exper ience in  the  indust ry  and the  past  20  years  I  have  

been invo lved in  d iv ing  d iamonds and p roduc ing  min ing  

vesse ls  fo r  A lexkor.   I  came to  A lexkor  in  la te  1998 when  

A lexkor  f i rs t  dec ided to  ou tsource  i t s  d ive r  m in ing  
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ope ra t ions and I  went  th rough the  ep ic  cour t  as  a  d iamond 

cont rac tor  fo r  A lexko r.   I  saw tha t  in  i t s  en t i re ty.    

I  then went  th rough the  per iod  when the  deed o f  

se t t lement  was be ing  f ina l i sed.   I t  was as  i f  eve ry th ing  had  

come to  a  s tandst i l l  and no rea l  deve lopment  cou ld  take  

p lace in  A lexander  Bay unt i l  the  cour t  case had been  

f ina l i sed.   So we were  a l l  look ing  fo rward  w i th  g reat  

expecta t ions once the  land c la im had been conc luded and,  

you know,  peop le  l i v ing  in  A lexander  Bay and in  the  

sur round ing  areas cou ld  ge t  on  w i th  rebu i ld ing  A lexander  10 

Bay in to  a  wor ld  c lass  mar ine  m in ing  cent re .   That  d id  no t  

happen.    

You are  go ing  to  hear  today abou t  the  dec l ine  and  

the  governance d iss ipa t ion  tha t  has occur red  ove r  the  past  

few years  and as  someone who has l i ved  in  A lexander  Bay  

fo r  20  years  and observed the  s teady and re len t less  

dec l ine  in  the  s tandards o f  l i v ing ,  in  the  cond i t ion  o f  the  

town,  in  the  cond i t ion  o f  the  m ine and knowing what  was  

dr iv ing  i t  and hav ing  a l ready begun t r y ing  to  ra ise  

awareness o f  these prob lems even befo re  the  Zondo  20 

Commiss ion  was const i tu ted ,  when P res ident  Cyr i l  

Ramaphosa became pres ident  tha t  became the  tu rn ing  

po in t  in  my d i f f i cu l t  journey.    

And when the  –  when your  Commiss ion  began  I  

knew tha t  there  was a  rea l  chance to  tu rn  th ings  around 
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and I  must  say  I  fee l  today more  than ever  and aga in ,  I  

thank you fo r  the  oppor tun i ty  to  be  here .  

ADV SIBIYA:    Mr  Craythorne,  you  ind ica ted  tha t  you are  a  

member  o f  EAC.   What  i s  EAC?   

MR CRAYTHORNE:    The Equ i tab le  Access Campaign is  an  

organ isa t ion  tha t  was founded in  2010 by  a  group o f  

ve te ran d iamond d ive rs  who had enough indust ry  know-how 

to  rea l i se  tha t  the  dramat ic  dec l ine  in  our  weathe r  pa t te rns  

was not  someth ing  tha t  cou ld  be  ignored and tha t  the  

reve la t ions regard ing  c l imate  change and so  on  were  in  10 

fac t  hera ld ing  a  very,  very  d i f f i cu l t  per iod  ahead fo r  our  

indust ry  because  our  indust ry,  wh ich  is  focused on sha l low 

wate r  m in ing ,  depends heav i l y  on  the  cor rec t  weathe r  

cond i t ions .  

 We work  in  a  sur f  zone and the  sur f  zone is  a  very  

dynamic  zone,  you cannot  work  there  when the  swe l l  i s  in  

excess o f  about  th ree  to  four  foo t  w i thout  in ju r ing  yourse l f  

o r  jus t  wast ing  your  t ime under  wate r  so  you need very,  

very  spec i f i c  ca lm weather  cond i t ions  wh ich  dec l i ne  f rom 

2000 a t  the  tu rn  o f  the  m i l lenn ium,  we were  averag ing  20 

about  be tween 140 and 160 sea days to  the  worse  year  I  

th ink  was in  2010.   I  th ink  i t  was around about  13  sea 

days.  

 So i t  i s  a  l i ke  your  bus iness be ing  shut  down fo r  

90% of  the  t ime compared to  the  ava i lab i l i t y  tha t  you have 
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had and tha t  you have been used to ,  you know,  in  the  past .   

And w i th  the  p ressure  tha t  c l imate  change was br ing ing ,  i t  

became very  c lear  to  the  ve teran  d iamond d ivers  tha t  the  

ex t remely  inequ i tab le  s t ruc tu re  o f  our  indust ry  wou ld  no t  

be  ab le  to  be  suppor ted  w i th  the  new rea l i t y  o f  c l imate 

change.  

 Our  indust ry  i s  the  on ly  indust ry  tha t  I  know o f  

where  you have an ent i re  indust ry  tha t  i s  opera ted  and run  

by  pro fess iona l  peop le  do ing  the  ac tua l  m in ing  bu t  none o f  

whom a re  ac tua l l y  owners  o f  any m in ing  r i gh t .   They have 10 

access to  the  ocean to  go  and do  what  they love  do ing  but  

i t  i s  done ent i re ly  a t  the  wh im o f  concess ion  ho lders  and  

tha t  has a lways been a  weapon tha t  has been used aga ins t  

the  smal l - sca le  m iners  to  p revent  any fo rm o f  rea l  indust ry  

conso l ida t ion  and un i f i ca t ion  and any poss ib i l i t y  o f  

co l lec t i ve  barga in ing  because every  t ime tha t  we t ry  to  

o rgan ise  ourse l ves i t  wou ld  a lways be sabotaged by  

underhand tac t i cs  and d i v ide  and ru le  tac t i cs .  

 So the  EAC actua l l y  was p rompted by  the  new 

leg is la t ion  o f  wh ich  was based,  i f  you  read the  preamble  to  20 

the  Minera l  and Pet ro leum Resources Deve lopment  Act ,  the  

en t i re  Act  i s  based on the  pr inc ip le  and not ion  o f  equ i tab le  

access wh ich  makes pe r fec t  sense to  me but  i t  does not  

seem to  make sense to  the  concess ion  owners  who use 

the i r  conso l ida ted  indust ry  ownersh ip  to  exe rc i se  bru te  
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fo rce  over  cont rac tors  who,  fo r  the  past  ten  years ,  I  have 

been bas ica l l y  in  a  s ta te  o f  serv i tude because  o f  the 

cond i t ions  and the  commerc ia l  te rms tha t  I  am forced to  

work  under  and a l l  o f  my fe l low d iv ing  cont rac tors  a re  in  

the  same s i tua t ion .  

 So w i th  the  ar r i va l  o f  the  changes ,  the  fundamenta l  

changes a re  the  use i t  o r  lose  i t  p r inc ip le .   We fe l t  very  

conf ident  tha t  we l l ,  th is  i s  now go ing  to  hera ld  a  sea  

change,  i f  you  w i l l  excuse the  pun,  in  our  indust ry.   So,  you  

know,  a  group o f  ve te rans,  myse l f  my good f r iend,  who is  10 

here  today,  who has been on th is  d i f f i cu l t  journey w i th  me,  

Mr  George N iko la i ,  he  has been  d iamond d ive r  in  Por t  

No l lo th  f i ve  years  longer  than I  have.   He has been d iv ing  

d iamonds fo r  40  years  and he has go t  even more  

communi ty  ac t i v i t y  o r  he  is  more  o f  a  communi ty  ac t i v i s t  

than I  am.  

But  i t  became c lear  to  us  tha t  in  orde r  fo r  us  to  ge t  

a  be t te r  d ispensa t ion ,  a  be t te r  re la t ionsh ip  fo r  our  indust ry,  

we wou ld  have to  re ly  heav i l y  on  the  new leg is la t ion  and 

tha t  resu l ted  in  us  in  fo rm ing  the  Equ i tab le  Access  20 

Campaign,  we reached out  to  concess ion  owners  l i ke  De  

Beers ,  Trans Hex  and the  o ther  Nor the rn  Cape concess ion  

owner  Ms Ina  Visser  and we sa id  to  them l i s ten ,  you guys 

are  no t  anyth ing  w i th  your  concess ions,  you know,  why do 

you not  jus t ,  you know,  g ive  them back to  DMR and  le t  the  
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smal l - sca le  mar ine  m iners  do  app l i ca t ion  to  ge t  them.    

That  d id  no t  have much o f  an  impact  so  we then  

approached par l iament  and we a t tended the  hear ings on  

the  m ind ing  char te r  and we gave ev idence to  tha t  e f fec t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ms S ib iya ,  remember  to  lead the  

w i tness.  

ADV SIBIYA:    Yes,  Cha i r,  thank you ve ry  much.  

MR CRAYTHORNE:    Okay,  so  …[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    He may have a  lo t  to  say bu t  you know 

the  d i rec t ion  tha t  you want  to  take  h im th rough.  10 

ADV SIBIYA:    Yes,  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay.  

MR CRAYTHORNE:    So i t  i s  d i f f i cu l t  to  say  i t  a l l  in  a  few 

words,  Cha i rman.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

MR CRAYTHORNE:    Bu t  I  hope tha t  has been su f f i c ien t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    No,  no ,  no ,  tha t  i s  f ine .   Ms  S ib iya  

knows what  i s  in  your  s ta tement  fu l l y  and she  w i l l  –  

th rough he r  ques t ions she w i l l  d i rec t  you on the  impor tan t  

i ssues.  20 

MR CRAYTHORNE:    I  w i l l  focus on  the  issue now.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay,  a l r igh t .   Ms S ib iya?  

ADV SIBIYA:    Thank you.   Mr  Craythorne,  so  in  a  nu tshe l l  

you are  rep resen t ing  Equ i tab le  Access Campaign wh ich  is  

a  g roup o f  o ther  m iners .  
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MR CRAYTHORNE:    That  i s  cor rec t .  

ADV SIBIYA:    That  have been do ing  th is  work  w i th  you.  

MR CRAYTHORNE:    Cor rec t .  

ADV SIBIYA:    Okay.   Can you te l l  us  abou t  your  

qua l i f i ca t ions and your  exper ience and f rom there  I  need 

you to  a lso  exp la in  how you s tar ted  your  engagements  w i th  

A lexkor,  b r ie f l y.  

MR CRAYTHORNE:    I  mat r i cu la ted  in  1980,  I  went  to  the 

navy,  I  d id  my d iver  t ra in ing  in  the  navy to  –  what  they  

re fer  to  as  a  c learance d iver  2 .   A f te r  leav ing  the  navy I  10 

worked under  the  la te  Dr  John Gurney who had  a  smal l  

ope ra t ion  in  Dor ing  Bay.  

ADV SIBIYA:    Mr  Craytho rne,  how long have you been  

d iv ing?  

MR CRAYTHORNE:    I  have been d iv ing  d iamonds s ince  

1985.   So I  have got  35-odd years  o f  d iamond  d iv ing  

exper ience 20 o f  wh ich  have been as  a  cont rac tor  fo r  

A lexko r.  

ADV SIBIYA:    Okay,  thank you.   What  e lse  do  you do  

o ther  than ac tua l l y  d ive .   What  e lse  do  you do tha t  i s  20 

re la ted  to  d iv ing?  

MR CRAYTHORNE:    I  have a lways been fasc ina ted  by  the  

poss ib i l i t i es  tha t  mechan is ing  d ive r  m in ing  m ight  have fo r  

the  inshore  as  opposed to  the  o f fshore  m in ing .   So I  have 

been des ign ing  and bu i ld ing  d iamond min ing  sys tems 
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s ta r t ing  o f f  w i th  very,  very  smal l  cheap and nasty  sk i  boats  

to ,  you know,  much more  advanced 50 foo t  vesse ls ,  to  da te  

I  have bu i l t  40% of  the  d iamond m in ing   vesse ls  tha t  have 

ever  worked in  the  indust ry  have been bu i l t  by  me.  

ADV SIBIYA:    And how were  you in t roduced to  A lexkor?  

MR CRAYTHORNE:    I  was approached by  the  then 

product ion  manager  o f  the  mar ine  opera t ions,  Mr  Theun is  

Swar t ,  to  bu i ld  a  26  foo t  But t  Cat  m in ing  vesse l  fo r  A lexko r,  

wh ich  I  d id ,  I  be l ieve  i t  was in  1993 and f low ing out  o f  tha t  

I  became in te res ted  in  the  a f fa i rs  o f  A lexkor  and the  10 

poss ib i l i t i es  because A lexkor  does s i t  w i th  the  most  

exc i t ing  d iamond  l i cences tha t  I  know o f  anywhere  in  the 

wor ld .  

ADV SIBIYA:    Do you s t i l l  des ign  and manufac ture  m in ing  

vesse ls?  

MR CRAYTHORNE:    The las t  vesse l  tha t  I  bu i l t  was  fo r  the  

la te  Dr  John Gurney and h is  son,  James Gurney.   They had  

approached me in  2013 a l ready  to  buy a  share  in  my 

bus iness to  bu i ld  a  vesse l  to  b r ing  in to  opera t ion ,  A lexkor ’s  

opera t ions,  bu t  we never  made  headway so  I  bu i l t  i t  fo r  20 

them and they took i t  to  Trans Hex a t  De Punt  and tha t  was  

the  las t  vesse l .   That  was 2013,  I  be l ieve ,  tha t  –  the  las t  

t ime I  bu i l t  a  m in ing  vesse l .  

ADV SIBIYA:    Okay.   Mr  Craytho rne,  i f  I  can  take  you to  

page 119 o f  the  same bund le?   You w i l l  see  tha t  we are  
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a l ready in  the  m idd le  o f  a  document  when we get  to  page  

119,  so  i f  we can  f i rs t  go  –  or  keep your  p lace  in  page 119 

and then jus t  tu rn  back to  page 106.   Do you conf i rm th is  i s  

your  CV? 

MR CRAYTHORNE:    That  i s  cor rec t .  

ADV SIBIYA:    Okay and tha t  the  page on page 119 is  par t  

o f  you r  CV? 

MR CRAYTHORNE:    That  i s  cor rec t .  

ADV SIBIYA:    Okay.   Now i f  you look a t  tha t  page ,  page  

119 and you look a t  the  second vesse l  tha t  i s  be ing  10 

ment ioned there .   I  see  the  name A lexkor  L im i ted .   What  

does tha t  mean?  

MR CRAYTHORNE:    Th is  i s  a  schedu le  o f  a l l  the  tu rn  key  

m in ing  vesse ls  tha t  I  have bu i l t  over  the  years  and tha t  i s  

the  DMV,  wh ich  is  the  acronym fo r  d iamond min ing  vesse l ,  

S iya  De lver  7 (? )  wh ich  was a  25  foo t  But t  Cat  m in ing  

convers ion  tha t  I  had bu i l t  under  cont rac t  to  A lexkor  and I  

see i t  was 1993.  

ADV SIBIYA:    Do you s t i l l  p roduce –  how long a f te r  th is  

d id  you cont inue produc ing  vesse ls  fo r  A lexkor?  20 

MR CRAYTHORNE:    Wel l ,  i t  was a t  th is  t ime tha t  A lexkor  

s ta r ted  becoming  more  focused on po l i t i ca l  mat te rs  and i t  

had been the  in ten t ion  to  deve lop  a  f lee t  o f  these vesse ls  

because they a re  very  cost -e f fec t i ve  in  compar i son  to  the  

vesse ls  tha t  A lexkor  had been bu i ld ing  fo r  i t se l f  over  many 
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years .   Large s tee l  vesse ls  a re  no t  very  cost -e f fec t i ve  fo r  

work ing  in  very  sha l low wate r  whereas sma l l  ag i le  

ca tamarans a re  much more  e f fec t i ve ,  much more  cost -

e f fec t i ve .  

ADV SIBIYA:    Okay.   Am I  co r rec t  i f  I  take  you two pages 

before  page 119.   Turn  aga in  to  page 116.  

MR CRAYTHORNE:    Yes.  

ADV SIBIYA:    Am I  cor rec t  tha t  f rom page 116 up to  page 

130 those are  vesse ls  tha t  you bu i l t  o r  had a  hand in?  

MR CRAYTHORNE:    That  i s  cor rec t  and you w i l l  no t ice  10 

tha t  many o f  them are  barges wh ich  have been expor ted  to  

r i ver ine  m in ing  j u r isd ic t ions  l i ke  Ango la ,  Congo,  S ie r ra  

Leone and so  on .  

ADV SIBIYA:    Okay,  thank you ve ry  much.   Now when d id  

your  re la t ionsh ip  w i th  A lexkor  change f rom be ing  a  serv i ce  

prov ider  p rov id ing  vesse ls  to  be ing  a  m in ing  cont rac tor?  

MR CRAYTHORNE:    A lexkor  ou tsourced i t s  opera t ions fo r  

the  f i rs t  t ime in  i t s  h is to ry  in  l a te  1998 and when the  

no t ices  went  ou t  fo r  independent  cont rac tors  to  app ly  fo r  

cont rac tors  I  d id  and I  was successfu l  and I  began cont rac t  20 

m in ing  opera t ing  a  smal l  35  foo t  sk i  boat  ou t  o f  A lexander  

Bay Harbour  in  the  las t  quar te r  o f  1998.  

ADV SIBIYA:    Okay and has tha t  re la t ionsh ip  endured  

unt i l  now? 

MR CRAYTHORNE:    I  have been an ac t ive  p roducer  o f  
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d iamonds fo r  A lexkor  except  fo r  a  per iod… 

ADV SIBIYA:    Page 4 .  

MR CRAYTHORNE:    Be tween 7  November  2017  to  19 

March 2019.   Those 16 months  I  be l ieve  i t  was  -  were  

months  dur ing  wh ich  my cont rac t  had been e f fec t i ve ly  

cance l led  and my  access to  the  m ine had been b locked.  

ADV SIBIYA:    Okay,  thank you.   But  you are  back now 

work ing  w i th  A lexkor.  

MR CRAYTHORNE:   From …[ in tervenes]   

ADV SIBIYA:    The PSJV or  A lexko r.  10 

MR CRAYTHORNE:    Ja .   Wel l ,  i t  i s  a  PSJV.   I  was an 

A lexkor  cont rac to r  up  un t i l  the  inaugura t ion  o f  the  PSJV in  

2012 and I  to  th i s  day w i th  the  except ion  o f  those  –  w i th  

tha t  in te r regnum I  have been a  cont rac tor  to  the  PSJV.  

ADV SIBIYA:    Okay and the  o ther  members  o f  the  EAC,  

are  they a l so  con t rac tors  to  the  PSJV? 

MR CRAYTHORNE:    That  i s  cor rec t ,  the  EAC members  are  

a l l  –  have e i ther  –  a re  or  have been fo rmer ly  cont rac tors  to  

A lexkor.   There  are  one or  two members  tha t  have  

cont rac ted  on non-A lexkor  concess ions bu t  they are  –  20 

probab ly  one o r  two.  

ADV SIBIYA:    Now who determines where  you can  mine?  

MR CRAYTHORNE:    That  depends on the  –  who owns the  

l i cences.   The West  Coast  d iamond area is  d iv ided  up in to  

a  g i rd  a lphanumer ica l l y,  runn ing  numer ica l l y  no r th  to  south  



08 JANUARY 2021 – DAY 324 
 

Page 120 of 223 
 

and a lphabet ica l l y  east  to  west .   Those concess ion  b locks  

are  approx imate l y  40  k i lomet res  long.   In  the  sha l low  

wate rs  they run  a  k i lomet re  ou t  f rom the  beach and there  

you have the  B  concess ions wh ich  run  abou t  f i ve  

k i lomet res  bu t  where  you work  f i rs t  o f  a l l  depends  on who 

you have a  cont rac t  p rov id ing  access to  go  and mine.  

ADV SIBIYA:    So  in  th is  case where  the  EAC is  cont rac ted  

to  the  PSJV is  tha t  what  you a re  say ing?  

MR CRAYTHORNE:    A l l  o f  the  members  o f  the  PSJV,  a l l  

have cont rac ts  w i th  the  A lexkor  PSJV to m ine  on the 10 

concess ion  areas  tha t  they cont ro l  and have ownersh ip  o f .  

Now hav ing  f i rs t  ga ined access th rough a  

commerc ia l  agreement  where  the  concess ion  owner,  the  

second leve l  o f  access is  governed by  a  cadast ra l  sys tem 

us ing  very  bas ic  GIS  techno logy where  you use a  d ig i ta l  

map dater  and then you use area mark ing  sys tem tha t  you  

can reg is te r  where  you wou ld  l i ke  to  work  and you may go  

and reg i s te r  a reas and work  them as long as  they have not  

been reg i s te red prev ious l y  and the  s tandard  area tha t  we 

are  a l lowed to  mark  as  a  30  met re  rad ius .    20 

So,  fo r  ins tance,  in  A lexkor ’s  1A concess ion ,  

runn ing  f rom the  Orange R iver  mouth  about  40  k i lomet res  

south ,  you have  maybe about  40  cont rac to rs  tha t  have  

cont rac ts  w i th  A lexkor  and then they have th ree  areas tha t  

they are  a l lowed  to mark  a long the  coast l ine  and  you are  
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a lso  a l lowed to  move those areas but  you have to  do  i t  

th rough a  fo rmal  reg is t ra t ion  process done th rough the  

reg i s t ry  on  the  m ine and the  reg is t ry  on  the  m ine keeps 

t rack  o f  where  a l l  the  var ious con t rac tors  a re  work ing  and  

to  ensure  tha t  they are  work ing  i n  the i r  reg i s te red b locks  

and to  a l low fo r  cance l la t ion  and re- reg is t ra t ion  o f  these  

b locks .  

ADV SIBIYA:    Okay.  Now te l l  me,  when you mine in  these 

areas,  what  i s  the  t imef rame tha t  you are  a l lowed to  m ine  

and when is  i t  de termined tha t  you  now need to  b r i ng  your  10 

who le  –  i s  there  a  t ime per iod  tha t  app l ies  to  when you can  

mine,  when you cannot ,  what  de termines.  

MR CRAYTHORNE:    We have what  we ca l l  a  weathe r  

w indow o f  oppor tun i ty  so  as  I  have exp la ined d ive r  based  

min ing  is  h igh l y  dependent  on  ca lm  weathe r  cond i t ions  and 

more  spec i f i ca l l y  ca lm sea cond i t ions  because you can  

have a tmospher i c  cond i t ions  tha t  a re  qu i te  bad,  bu t  the  

sea cond i t ions  can s t i l l  be  qu i te  good,  so  then i t  i s  more  

comfor tab le  under  water  ac tua l l y  than be ing  on the  vesse l ,  

because the  vesse l  i s  be ing  b lown around and mak ing  20 

break ing  anchor  and so  on  but  i t  is  weather  dependant  and  

a lso  on  capac i ty  o f  the  vesse l  i f  you  are  work ing .  

 The amount  o f  g rave l  tha t  you have to  p roduce  

genera l l y  to  p roduce one cara t  o f  d iamonds,  my  grades  

used to  be  in  the  orde r  o f  12  cara ts  on  a  cube,  tha t  i s  a  



08 JANUARY 2021 – DAY 324 
 

Page 122 of 223 
 

cub ic  met re  o f  g rave l .   The vesse l  tha t  I  opera te  can ho ld  

about  30  cubes and the  dens i ty  o f  mar ine  grave l  i s  about  

1 .6  tons per  cube ,  you are  look ing  a t  roundabout  50  tons o f  

g rave l  to  p roduce  a  mere  few grams o f  d iamond.    

 So when a  vesse l  i s  fu l l  you  have to  come and 

o f f load or  i f  the  weather  cond i t ions  are  proh ib i t i ve  then 

even before  the  vesse l  i s  fu l l y  loaded then you have to  

re turn  to  the  harbour  and o f f load what  g rave l  you do have 

and s i t  on  the  moor ings un t i l  the  weather  improves.  

ADV SIBIYA:    Now i f  you can te l l  us  about  Scar le t  Sky 10 

Investments  and your  re la t ionsh ip  w i th  them,  and bear ing  

in  m ind tha t  we have a l ready heard  the  ev idence o f  Mr 

Tor re ,  so  when d id  you s ta r t  hav ing  a  re la t ionsh ip  w i th  

Scar le t  Sky,  do  you have a  re la t ionsh ip  s t i l l ?  

MR CRAYTHORNE:    The re la t ionsh ip  tha t  I  have w i th  

Scar le t  Sky is  a  pend ing  K imber ly  H igh  Cour t  SLAPP su i t  

wh ich  has s t i l l  ye t  to  be  reso lved,  wh ich  they brought  

aga ins t  me fo r  de famat ion ,  bu t  o ther  than tha t  I  have had o  

re la t ionsh ip  w i th  Scar le t  Sky,  they have s imp ly  been 

brought  in to  my l i fe  as  a  cont rac tor  th rough the  dec i s ions  20 

and the  . . . [ ind is t inc t ]  tha t  were  h igh l igh ted  ear l ie r  today,  so  

the  adversar ia l  na ture  o f  my re la t ionsh ip  w i th  Scar le t  Sky  

began in  2016 because the  m inu te  tha t  Scar le t  Sky was  

awarded the  cont rac t  there  was  a  lo t  o f  consternat ion  

amongst  my fe l low cont rac tors  a t  the  t ime about  the  lack  o f  
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t ransparency and  the  secrecy about  who Scar le t  Sky was,  

i t  was a  s t range  name tha t  nobody had heard  be fore ,  no  

ment ion  o f  d iamonds anywhere  in  i t ,  there  was no t rack  

record .  

 I  myse l f  a t  tha t  t ime had,  wh i le  s t i l l  be ing  a  very  

ac t i ve  member  o f  the  equ i tab le  access campaign I  had not  

been ab le  to  focus too  much a t ten t ion  in  the  ear l y  years  

f rom 2015 on Scar le t  Sky because I  have been very  

invo l ved in  deve lop ing  a  p iece  o f  techno logy  tha t  i s  

capab le  o f  be ing  ab le  to  penet ra te  th rough the  sed iment  10 

overburden.   The  –  bes ides the  po l i t i cs  and the  d i ss ipa t ion  

in  governance the  o ther  fac tor  tha t  has prevented  A lexkor  

and South  A f r i ca  deve lop ing  i t s  mar ine  m in ing  –  sor ry  Ms 

S ib iya  –  how d id  I  ge t  the  re la t ionsh ip?   

ADV SIBIYA:    Yes.  

MR CRAYTHORNE:   I  beg your  pa rdon so r ry.     

ADV SIBIYA:    So  you heard  the  quest ion .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes you can in te rvene when the  w i tness 

seems to  take  long to  answer  your  quest ion .  

MR CRAYTHORNE:    Okay,  so  in  the  in i t ia l  s tages I  was  20 

not  invo lved too  much w i th  t he  k ickback f rom the  

cont rac tors  ove r  Scar le t  Sky because I  was devo t ing  my 

a t ten t ion  and I  had been t rave l l ing  overseas  go ing  

. . . [ in te rvenes]   

ADV SIBIYA:    Okay,  thank you,  so  you weren ’ t .   Thank 
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you .    Now te l l  me in  the  cha in  o f  how the  mines –  how the  

d iamonds go f rom the  mine to  the  pub l i c  te l l s  us  about  tha t  

p rocess,  because you have to ld  us  where  you can mine,  

you have to ld  us  what  the  –  about  the  –  you sa id  the  s i ze ,  

the  cub ic  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

MR CRAYTHORNE:    The cube is  the  grave l  ja .  

ADV SIBIYA:    Yes,  yes  and a l l  o f  those th ings,  so  te l l  us  

about  tha t  p rocess f rom you now have th is  –  you  have a  

cont rac t  to  m ine  fo r  the  PSJV,  what  happens f rom when 

you mine to  where  I  buy my r i ng?  10 

MR CRAYTHORNE:    Okay so  as  mar ine  d iamond  min ing  

cont rac tors  our  job  is  to  p roduce  d iamond bear ing  grave l  

o f f  the  seabed,  we do tha t  us ing  spec ia l i sed  equ ipment ,  

des igned spec i f i ca l l y  fo r  tha t .   We de l i ver  the  o re  tha t  we  

mine o f f  the  seabed to  the  harbour  in  A lexander  Bay.   That  

bu lk  g rave l  i s  he ld  fo r  a  per iod  a t  the  harbour,  poss ib ly  a  

day or  two before  i t  ge ts  t ranspor ted  in land to  A lexkor ’s  

p lan t  s i tua ted  near  the  admin is t ra t ion  bu i ld ing .  

ADV SIBIYA:    Do I  unders tand by  the  cont rac tor,  m in ing  

cont rac tor  t ranspor t  i t  to  the  . . . [ in te rvenes]   20 

MR CRAYTHORNE:    No the  cont rac to r  de l i vers  the  grave l  

to  the  ha rbour  and as  soon as  tha t  g rave l  i s  o f f loaded f rom 

the  vesse l  cont ro l  over  tha t  g rave l  fa l l s  in to  the  hands o f  

A lexko r,  o r  the  PSJV in  th is  case.  

 So A lexkor  PSJV  then t ranspor t  the  bu lk  g rave l  to  
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the  p lan t .   When i t  a r r i ves  a t  the  p lan t  i t  w i l l  be  pu t  in to  a  

grave l  pound wh ich  is  fenced o f f ,  where  there ’s  secur i t y  

access and i t  i s  usua l l y  the  case tha t  you don ’ t  b r i ng  your  

g rave l  s t ra igh t  f rom the  harbour  and put  i t  in to  the  p lan t  

because there  a re  o the r  cont rac to rs  tha t  a re  ahead  o f  you  

tha t  a re  process ing  grave l  so  when you ar r i ve  a t  the  p lan t  

you w i l l  s tand in  a  queue,  you might  have to  wa i t  an  hour  

o r  two but  when your  g rave l  i s  ready to  be  processed they  

w i l l  f lush  the  sys tem and then they w i l l  s ta r t  what  we ca l l  

d rawing your  g rave l  ou t  o f  a  feed b in .   10 

ADV SIBIYA:    I s  tha t  done in  the  p resence  o f  the  

cont rac tor?  

MR CRAYTHORNE:    That  i s  cor rec t ,  the  cont rac tors  a re  

ca l led  to  the  grave l  pound when i t  i s  t ime to  the  f i l l  the 

b ins  and i t  i s  the  cont rac tors  work ing  togethe r  w i th  A lexkor  

PSJV personne l  tha t  use  a  f ron t  end loader  to  ho is t  the  

grave l  up  above  the  feed b ins  and then the  cont rac tors  

manua l ly  open up the  bo t tom o f  the  bu lk  bags to  a l low the  

grave l  tha t  has been p laced in  i t  wh i le  ou t  a t  sea,  because 

when we mine ou t  a t  sea the  grave l  tha t  ge ts  kept  on  the  20 

vesse l  to  be  processed is  on ly  a  cer ta in  f rac t ion  o f  the  fu l l  

amount  o f  mater ia l  tha t  comes o f f  the  seabed,  maybe p lus  

two mi l l imet res  m inus 25 mi l l imet res  tha t  ge ts  re ta ined and 

s tored in  those bu lk  bags,  bu t  a t  the  p lan t  those same bu lk  

bags tha t  ge t  f i l l ed  wh i le  you are  ou t  a t  sea then get  
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empt ied  in to  the  grave l  b in .  

 From the  g rave l  b in  the  grave l  then repor ts  to  the  

f i rs t  phase o f  the  recovery  p rocess and tha t  i s  to  reduce 

the  bu lk  o f  the  d iamond bear ing  mater ia l .  

ADV SIBIYA:    Okay Mr  Craythorne,  I  th ink  you are  

poss ib ly  g i v ing  us  too  much deta i l ,  so  what  I  need  you to  

te l l  me are  the  s teps tha t  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

MR CRAYTHORNE:    Be fore  i t  ge ts  to  the  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

ADV SIBIYA:    That  a re  invo lved yes in  the  process .  

MR CRAYTHORNE:    Okay,  so  . . . [ in te rvenes]   10 

ADV SIBIYA:    And when you are  exp la in ing  tha t  par t  a l l  o f  

tha t  you must  jus t  remember  to  te l l  me whether  the  

cont rac tor  i s  the re ,  the  cont rac to r  i s  keep ing  an eye on  

what  i s  go ing  on ,  o r  who is  do ing  what ,  bu t  ve ry  h igh  leve l  

Mr  Craythorne,  we don ’ t  want  to  know about  the  separa t ing  

and what  fa l l s  ou t  and . . . [ in te rvenes]   

MR CRAYTHORNE:    Unders tood.    So when i t  a r r i ves  a t  

the  p lan t  i t  goes th rough th ree  pr imary  –  th ree  d is t inc t  

phases where  eventua l l y  f rom perhaps 50 tons o f  g rave l  

you w i l l  end up w i th  maybe ten  or  f i f teen cara t s ,  somet imes 20 

you have a  huge amount  o f  d iamonds f rom ve ry  l i t t le  g rave l  

and the  converse  is  a lso  t rue .   The grades are  ve ry  er ra t i c ,  

bu t  the  t ime tha t  the  grave l  i s  be ing  processed ins ide  the  

p lan t  i s  cont ro l led  by  PSJV personne l  ca l led  p lan t  

opera to rs .   In  add i t ion  to  the  p lan t  opera tors  the re  are  a lso  
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ou tsourced secur i t y  personne l  and in -source  secur i t y  

personne l  tha t  pa t ro l  the  p lan t  and as  the  grave l  

p rogresses th rough the  p lan t  the  r i sk  o f  the f t  g rows  greate r  

because you s ta r t  o f f  w i th  a  la rge  need le  in  a  haystack ,  o r  

sor ry  you s ta r t  o f f  w i th  a  need le  in  a  very  la rge  haystack  

and tha t  haystack  ge ts  p rogress i ve l y  smal le r  and  smal le r  

and as  the  haystack  ge ts  smal le r  the  r i sk  o f  the f t  becomes 

greate r,  because i t  i s  eas ie r  to  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

ADV SIBIYA:    I s  the  cont rac tor  the re  a t  tha t  t ime? 

MR CRAYTHORNE:    The cont rac tor  i s  no t  there  a l l  the 10 

t ime,  bu t  the  cont rac tor  i s  a lways a t  the  f ina l  recovery  

where  the  d iamonds are  fed  on to  the  –  or  the  super  

concent ra te ,  the  remains  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

ADV SIBIYA:    No Mr  Craythorne don ’ t  te l l  us  about  the  

super  concent ra tes  in  tha t  much deta i l .  

MR CRAYTHORNE:    That ’s  where  the  g love boxes a re ,  ja .  

ADV SIBIYA:    Yes,  bu t  you need to  te l l  us  tha t  the  

d iamonds gets  f rom the  harbour  to  th is  p lace  fo r  the  

purposes fo r  example ,  I  don ’ t  want  to  be  feed ing  you  

ev idence . . . [ in te rvenes]   20 

MR CRAYTHORNE:    Okay so  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

ADV SIBIYA:    Mean ing  tha t  we  don ’ t  need to  know the  

ac tua l  p rocess as  i f  we are  present  when th is  i s  happen ing .  

MR CRAYTHORNE:    So  when . . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:    When i t  comes to  mat te rs  tha t  you know 
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a re  no t  cont rove rs ia l  you can lead on those,  on  mat te rs  

wh ich  you know won ’ t  be  d isputed by  anybody,  and I  am 

sure  the  processes tha t  you are  ta lk ing  about .  

ADV SIBIYA:    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja .  

MR CRAYTHORNE:    Thank you Cha i rperson.   So once the  

product  has been recovered i t  then gets  we ighed in  

th rough a  process cont ro l  by  A lexkor,  i t  i s  a  l i t t le  reg i s te r  

wh ich  i s  co l loqu ia l l y  re fe r red  to  as  an  i nweegboek ie .   The 

i nweegboek ie  i s  a  book wh ich  is  counte rs igned the  10 

cont rac tor  as  we l l  as  the  A lexkor  PSJV representa t i ve  

where  you reco rd  the  quant i t y  and the  we igh t  o f f  the 

d iamonds tha t  have been recovered and genera l l y  s tones 

over  one cara t  a re  we ighed and recorded a lso  ind i v idua l l y.  

ADV SIBIYA:    And then what  happens when you have  

recorded the  s tones tha t  have been recovered?  

MR CRAYTHORNE:    A t  tha t  po in t  the  d iamonds a re  then 

put  in to  sa fe  custody and we a re  g iven a  rece ip t  ou t  o f  the  

i nweegboek ie  and un less  you go  to  the  sa les  tha t  i s  the 

las t  tha t  you see o f  you r  d iamonds .  20 

ADV SIBIYA:    What  happens to  the  d iamonds?  

MR CRAYTHORNE:    The d iamonds then are  –  they 

accumula t ive  dur ing  what  i s  re fe r red  to  as  a  product ion  

cyc le ,  so  a  product ion  cyc le  i s  a  per iod  f rom when there  is  

a  p roduct ion  cu t -o f f  to  enab le  the  m ine to  reconc i le  i t s  
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p roduct ion  fo r  a  per iod  and p repare  the  p roduct ion  in  tha t  

per iod  fo r  sa le  and when the  next  per iod  s ta r ts ,  so  

. . . [ in te rvenes]   

ADV SIBIYA:   So  the  d iamonds are  kept  in  whose custody?   

In  PSJV ’s  custody du r ing  th is  per iod?  

MR CRAYTHORNE:    Dur ing  th is  per iod  wh i le  the  d iamonds 

are  s t i l l  on  the  m ine i t  i s  kept  in  the  PSJV ’s  sa fe  custody.  

ADV SIBIYA:    And when the  p roduct ion  cyc le  i s  f in ished?  

MR CRAYTHORNE:    A t  the  end o f  the  product ion  cyc le  

they i ssue a  c lose  o f f  no t ice  to  say to  the  cont rac tors  no  10 

more  product ion  w i l l  be  inc luded in  the  upcoming sa le  

beyond a  cer ta in  da te ,  so  i f  they  issue a  cu t -o f f  da te  say  

fo r  the  end o f  January  what  usua l l y  happens is  you  have a  

f lu r ry  o f  p rocess ing  tak ing  p lace before  the  p lan t  c loses,  

bu t  a t  the  end o f  the  day on  January  the  30 t h  no  more  

product ion  w i l l  then be inc luded fo r  the  upcoming sa le .  

ADV SIBIYA:    So  what  happens  to  the  d iamonds  a t  the  

end o f  the  cyc le ,  the  d iamonds tha t  has been kept  in  the 

custody o f  the  PSJV? 

MR CRAYTHORNE:   Those d iamonds are  then counted and  20 

we ighed and s ieved,  what  they ca l l  –  we l l  you have two  

. . . [ in te rvenes]    

ADV SIBIYA:   No ,  tha t ’s  too  much deta i l .   

MR CRAYTHORNE:    Okay,  we l l  a t  the  c lose  o f  the 

product ion  cyc le  the  d iamonds a re  then t ranspor ted  p  to  
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Johannesburg  fo r  p resenta t ion  to  the  S ta te  D iamond  Trader  

and . . . [ in te rvenes ]   

ADV SIBIYA:    Who,  who t ranspor ts  the  d iamonds up to  

Johannesburg  and who presents  them to  the  S ta te  D iamond 

Trader?  

MR CRAYTHORNE:   I  do  no t  know who t ranspor t s  the  

d iamonds f rom what  we ca l l  the  m ine gate ,  i t  i s  the  

indust ry  te rm,  when your  d iamonds  leave the  m ine you ta lk  

about  the  d iamonds leave the  m ine  gate  and we don ’ t  know 

who conducts  tha t  serv i ce  or  what  fo rm o f  t ranspor t  i s  used  10 

but  the  d iamonds are  t ranspor ted  to  Johannesburg  and 

then they are  p laced in  a  sa fe  and  secure  area ca l led  Knox 

Vau l t  in  Johannesburg  where  Dan ie l  Nathan has h is  

p remises,  i t  i s  be low the  p lace Kuben Mood ley  has h i s  

sa fe ty  depos i t  box.   

ADV SIBIYA:    Okay,  we don ’ t  know about  a l l  o f  tha t ,  

whose custody is  i t  g iven to?  

MR CRAYTHORNE:    I t  i s  g iven to  Scar le t  Sky.  

ADV SIBIYA:    So  i t  i s  on ly  g iven  to  Scar le t  Sky when i t  

a r r i ves  in  Johannesburg?  20 

MR CRAYTHORNE:    That  i s  my unders tand ing .  

ADV SIBIYA:    Okay and then tha t  –  so  tha t  i s  the  l eve l  o f  

the  re la t ionsh ip  tha t  you have w i th  Scar le t  Sky.   What  do 

they do  w i th  the  d iamonds tha t  you have mined? 

MR CRAYTHORNE:    The d iamonds tha t  the  cont rac tors  
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such as  myse l f  m ine are  f i rs t  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

ADV SIBIYA:    We a re  now jus t  ta lk ing  about  Scar le t  Sky  

and what  do  they do  when they rece ive  your  d iamonds? 

MR CRAYTHORNE:    When they rece ive  the  d iamonds they 

prepare  them for  v iewing fo r  the  S ta te  D iamond Trader  to  

se lec t  the i r  10% rep resenta t i ve  sample .   They se lec t  5% 

for  benef ic ia t ion  and the  ba lance,  85% then goes on  

auct ion  a t  the i r  p remises,  bu t  I  have never  been to  those  

auct ions.   Some o f  my co l leagues have been up to  auct ions 

bu t  I  have never  been.  10 

ADV SIBIYA:    And then you next  hear  when you get  your  

money,  i s  tha t  when you next  hear  what  has happened w i th  

your  d iamond?  

MR CRAYTHORNE:    Wel l  a  sa le  cyc le ,  f rom the  t ime tha t  

the  d iamonds leave the  m ine gate  un t i l  the  t ime tha t  they  

have gone th rough prep fo r  the  auct ion  and the  payout  i s  

usua l l y  about  two  weeks,  about  a  two week per iod  f rom the  

t ime tha t  your  d iamonds leave the  m ine t i l l  the  t ime tha t  

you get  pa id  ou t .  

ADV SIBIYA:    Okay,  so  you have sa id  tha t  your  20 

re la t ionsh ip ,  you d id  no t  have any prob lems wi th  SSI  a t  the 

beg inn ing?  

MR CRAYTHORNE:    I  d id  no t  have any prob lem wi th  SSI  

in  the  beg inn ing  and . . . [ in te rvenes ]    

ADV SIBIYA:    Okay,  and who determined the  pr ice  a t  
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wh ich  your  d iamonds were  be ing  so ld?  

MR CRAYTHORNE:    Wel l  the  d iamonds are  supposed to 

be  va lued on the  m ine fo r  two reasons,  number  one is  to  

insu re  the  d iamonds fo r  the i r  fa i r  va lue ,  because i f  you do 

not  ana lyse  your  d iamond product ion  you cannot  a t tach  a  

fa i r  va lue  to  the  d iamonds,  so  you cannot  jus t  look  a t  the  

s ize  o f  a  d iamonds and the  s tone s i ze  f requency 

d is t r ibu t ion ,  you have got  to  ana lyse  the  co lour  as  we l l ,  

you  have got  to  look  a t  the  spec ia l  s tones.  

ADV SIBIYA:    Yes,  so  who determines the  va lue  a t  wh ich  10 

your  d iamond are  so ld?  

MR CRAYTHORNE:    I t  i s  a  lady  by  the  name o f  Miche l le  

Adams who is  an  employee o f  A lexkor  who is  invo l ved in  

the  management  o f  the  f ina l  s tages o f  the  d iamond  

recovery  process and then . . . [ in te rvenes]   

ADV SIBIYA:    So  the  va lue  o f  –  the  pr ice  a t  wh ich  your  

d iamond wi l l  be  so ld  i s  de te rmined  by  Ms Adams? 

MR CRAYTHORNE:    No she doesn ’ t  de termine the  pr ice  a t  

wh ich  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

ADV SIBIYA:    That  i s  the  quest ion .  20 

MR CRAYTHORNE:    No she doesn ’ t  de termine the  pr ice  a t  

wh ich  i t  shou ld  be ,  a t  wh ich  i t  wou ld  be  so ld  bu t  she makes  

a  very  inaccura te  assessment  o f  what  the  va lue  is  i n  o rder  

fo r  insu rance pu rposes.  

ADV SIBIYA:    Yes.  
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CHAIRPERSON:    You say inaccura te?  

MR CRAYTHORNE:    Yes because any va lua t ion  

Cha i rperson based so le l y  on  the  s i ze  wh ich  is  the  one,  the  

f i rs t  o f  the  four  C ’s ,  the  ca ra t  we igh t ,  so  i f  you  p i ck  up  a  

rough d iamond and i t  we ighs four  cara ts ,  you can p ick  up  

another  d iamond  tha t  a lso  we ighs four  ca ra ts  and s imp ly  

because o f  the  d i f fe rence in  the  o ther  th ree  C ’s ,  one s tone  

cou ld  be  wor th  40  do l la rs  and the  o ther  s tone cou ld  be  

wor th  40  000 do l l a rs ,  so  by  s imp ly  conduct ing  a  va lua t ion  

on  the  bas i s  o f  s tone s ize  is  a  was ted exerc ise .  10 

CHAIRPERSON:    So  you say tha t  she conducts  e f fec t i ve ly  

a  use less  exerc i se?  

MR CRAYTHORNE:   That  i s  cor rec t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.   Ms S ib iya? 

ADV SIBIYA:    Thank you.   So you . . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:    I  th ink  your  quest ion  s t i l l  s tands.    

ADV SIBIYA:    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    U l t imate ly  when you se l l ,  the  pr i ce ,  

tha t ’s  what  she wants ,  who determines how much you w i l l  

se l l  i t  fo r?  20 

MR CRAYTHORNE:    That  i s  de termined –  tha t  i s  supposed 

to  be  de termined by  what  we ca l l  p r i ce  d i scovery.  

CHAIRPERSON:    P r ice?  

MR CRAYTHORNE:   Pr ice  d i scovery.  

CHAIRPERSON:    What  i s  tha t?  
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MR CRAYTHORNE:   Proper  p r ice  d iscovery  i s  where  you 

have a  compet i t i ve  b idd ing  process where  buyers  

. . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:    An  auct ion?  

MR CRAYTHORNE:   An auct ion  is  a  c lass i c  example  o f  

t rue  pr ice  d iscovery  bu t  the  auct i on  has to  be  an  honest  

auct ion .   I f  you  have co l lus ion  then you are  no t  go ing  to  

have p r ice  d iscovery.   So i f  i s  an  auct ion  tha t  i s  des igned  

to  a l low fo r  shar ing  o f  c r i t i ca l  p r i ce  in fo rmat ion  then you  

defeat  the  who le  pr ice  d iscovery  mechan ism.  10 

CHAIRPERSON:    Bu t  there  must  be  a  bas i s  upon wh ich  

somebody who has re levant  know ledge and exper t i se  and  

exper ience shou ld  be  ab le  to  say i f  you  take  th i s  p iece  o f  

d iamond tha t  pe rson hav ing  ana lysed whatever  ana lys is  i s  

requ i red  shou ld  be  ab le  to  say i f  you  go to  se l l  i t  a t  an  

auct ion  you shou ld  fe tch  no t  less  than so  much and  maybe  

not  more  than so  much,  so  there fore  i t s  p r ice  mus t  be  in  

the  reg ion  o f  –  somebody must  be  ab le  to  say tha t  i sn ’ t  i t?  

MR CRAYTHORNE:   In  a fa i r  wor ld  tha t  wou ld  be  the  case 

but  fo r  as  long as  I  have been a  cont rac tor  a t  A lexkor  20 

cont rac tors  have  never  been a l lowed to  c r i t i ca l l y  ana lyse  

the  va lue  o f  the i r  d iamonds.   You have a  br ie f  look  when  

you recover  your  d iamonds but  then i t  goes to  the  auct ion  

process,  in  the  case Scar le t  Sky,  and prev ious l y  i t  was an  

auct ion  process conduct  on  SADIX,  wh ich  is  the  South  
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A f r i can D iamond Index,  wh ich  A lexkor  had been us ing ,  and 

in  ear l ie r  yea rs  i t  was done on an exc lus i ve  purchase 

agreement  where  there  was abso lu te ly  no  pr i ce  d i scovery.   

A subs id ia ry  o f  De Beers  wou ld  come and look  a t  the  

d iamonds,  se t  a  p r ice  and take  the  d iamonds,  so  the  

h is to ry  in  the  t ime tha t  I  have  been a  cont rac tor  fo r   

A lexkor  the  h is to ry  o f  d iamond  pr ic ing  has been an 

ex t remely  content ious i ssue,  w i th  the  except ion  o f  the  

per iod  be tween  2006 unt i l  2011 where  the re  was a  

reasonab le  pe r iod  o f  p r ice  d iscovery.    You w i l l  a lways 10 

have co l lus ion  a t  auct ions,  bu t  you need  to  t ry  and  cont ro l  

i t  and put  counte rmeasures in  p lace  to  make i t  as  d i f f i cu l t  

as  poss ib le .  

 When the  –  in  2006 . . . [ in te rvenes]     

ADV SIBIYA:    I  was go ing  to  say  you seem to  be  want ing  

to  d r ive  us  there  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

MR CRAYTHORNE:   Okay but  i t  i s  no t  as  s imp le  to  say 

how does a  d iamond . . . [ in te rvenes ]   

CHAIRPERSON:    Ms S ib iya  cont inue.   

ADV SIBIYA:    Yes,  I  don ’ t  th ink  you have actua l l y  to ld  us  20 

who dete rmines.  

MR CRAYTHORNE:    The buyers  de termine i t .   

ADV SIBIYA:    Okay so  i t  i s  the  buyer  tha t  de termines tha t .   

Does anyone se t  a  benchmark  tha t  i t  must  no t  be  lower  

than th is  p r i ce?  
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MR CRAYTHORNE:    Wel l  tha t  i s  where  there  is  a  b ig  

p rob lem in  the  case o f  Scar le t  Sky because the  company 

tha t  i s  conduct ing  the  auct ion  is  a lso  the  company tha t  i s  

do ing  the  va lua t i ons,  so  i f  there  i s  co l lus ion  tak ing  p lace 

dur ing  auct ions and the  pr i ces  ach ieved on auc t ion  are  

ex t remely  low there  is  no  sa fe ty  measure  i n  p lace  to  

p revent  the  sa le  o f  the  d iamonds,  so  your  rese rve  pr ice  i s  

ex t remely  impor tan t ,  because i f  you have co l lus ion  and  you 

have an honest  reserve  pr ice  you  won ’ t  have sa les  go ing  

th rough.  10 

ADV SIBIYA:    So  the  reserve  pr i ce  i s  se t  by  SSI?  

MR CRAYTHORNE:    The rese rve  pr ice  has been se t  by  

SSI  s ince  la te  2005.   For  the  per iod  2000 f rom abou t  March  

to  October  . . . [ in tervenes]   

ADV SIBIYA:    2005?  

MR CRAYTHORNE:   Sor ry,  2015,  I  beg your  pardon,  there  

was another  va lua tor  tha t  was va lu ing  the  d iamonds,  tha t  

va lua tor  was d i smissed by  Mr  Cars tens and then the  

funct ion  o f  va lu ing  our  d iamonds was then g i ven to  Scar le t  

Sky.   20 

ADV SIBIYA:    So  how do you as  a  m iner  know tha t  you r  

d iamond is  be ing  under-va lued or  i s  be ing  so ld  a t  the  r igh t  

p r ice?  

MR CRAYTHORNE:    You don ’ t  know on a  sa le  by  sa le  

bas is .    Now . . . [ in te rvenes]   
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ADV SIBIYA:    Th is  quest ion  is  be ing  asked because you  

have a l leged in  your  a f f idav i t  tha t  they are  be ing  so ld  fo r  

less  than the i r  va lue ,  so  . . .  

MR CRAYTHORNE:    So  the  –  on  a  sa le  by  sa le  bas is  i t  i s  

very  d i f f i cu l t  to  p inpo in t  because  the  type o f  p roduct ion  

tha t  you have can  vary  on  a  sa le  by  sa le  bas is .  

ADV SIBIYA:    Mr  Craytho rne okay you are  te l l ing  me how 

i t  i s  d i f f i cu l t  to  ascer ta in .    I  need  you to  te l l  me –  you are  

say ing  on  a  sa le  by  sa le  bas is  you cannot  say  tha t  you r  

d iamond is  be ing  so ld  fo r  a  lower  va lue .  10 

MR CRAYTHORNE:    Ja .  

ADV SIBIYA:    So  on what  bas is  can you say tha t?  

MR CRAYTHORNE:    S ta t i s t ica l l y,  us ing  s ta t i s t i ca l  

methods,  us ing  long i tud ina l  s tud ies ,  wh ich  is  wha t  I  have 

done,  i s  I  have t racked A lexkor ’s  p r ic ing  f rom 2000 us ing  

very  bas ic  s ta t i s t i ca l  f igures ,  I  have used the  pr i ce  da ta  

tha t  A lexkor  p rov ide  w i th  every  sa le .   I  then crea ted  

indexes fo r  the  var ious assor tments  o f  the  m ixed  goods 

wh ich  are  the  d iamonds be low 6 .8  cara ts .   D iamonds la rger  

than 6 .8  ca ra ts  a re  no t  so ld  as  m ixed –  what  we re fer  to  as  20 

mixed goods,  they are  so ld  as  ind iv idua l  d iamonds and the  

pr ic ing  in fo rmat ion  re la t ing  to  those ind i v idua l  d iamonds i s  

on ly  d isc losed to  the  person tha t  actua l l y  m ined the  

d iamond,  whereas in  the  case o f  the  goods be low 6 .8  

cara ts  the re  are  14  s tandard  assor tments  in to  wh ich  a l l  o f  
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the  d iamonds be low 6 .8  cara ts  a re  sor ted  in to  us ing  a  

s tandard  s iev ing  process,  so  you w i l l  have your  f i ve  cara t  

d iamonds,  you r  s ix  cara t  d iamonds,  your  four  cara t  and so  

on ,  so  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

ADV SIBIYA:    You sa id  you crea ted your  own ind ices.  

MR CRAYTHORNE:    I  c rea ted  my own ind ices based on  

the  in fo rmat ion  tha t  i s  pub l i shed fo r  d iamonds be low 6 .8  

cara ts .    I  then benchmark  tha t  p r ic ing  da ta  go ing  a l l  the 

way back to  2000,  because the re  is  NISCI  index dated  

goes back to  2000 and I  began rea l l y  work ing  a t  A lexkor  10 

roundabout  tha t  t ime.   Dan Da le  on ly  a r r i ved in  2000 and i t  

was a t  tha t  po in t  tha t  we s tar ted  rece iv ing  brokers  no tes  

w i th  the  breakdown o f  what  the  pr ices  are  because the  

d iamonds tha t  i f  you are paid out  pro rata on your 

contr ibut ion for each category.  

ADV SIBIYA:   So what do you put  –  you have now ment ioned 

the Zimnisky Index what else do you use to compare and. . .  

MR CRAYTHORNE:   So – so what I  have done is  I  have 

tabulated al l  of  the pr ic ing data over 20 years for each of  the 

standard 14 assor tments.   I  have created indices for each of  20 

those assortments which I  then benchmarked with the 

Zimnisky Index.    

And what is important  when you are analysing 

diamond pr ices is not  the absolute pr ice but  the re lat ive 

pr ice because you do not  – by looking at  the absolute pr ice 
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you do not  know i f  you got  a good pr ice or not .   You need to 

look at  what the market  is doing in that  part icular  t ime and 

compare what your pr ice was for s imi lar goods at  the same 

t ime.   

So start ing in 2000 I  compared the pr ic ing behaviour 

of  each of  the 14 standard assortments of  Alexkor diamonds 

against  an in ternat ional ly recognised index which 

demonstrated very,  very clear ly that  f rom 2000 to 2006 there 

was rapidly increasing t racking error.  

 Now t racking error is s imply the di f ference by which 10 

the asset  that  you are interested in is di ffer ing in re lat ion to 

the market  in which i t  is being sold.  

ADV SIBIYA:   So how much does not… 

CHAIRPERSON:   Ms Sibiya.  

ADV SIBIYA:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Just  remember to keep your eye on the 

re levance and importance.  

ADV SIBIYA:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Of  some of  these things.  

ADV SIBIYA:   Yes.  20 

CHAIRPERSON:   In relat ion to what  we are looking at .  

ADV SIBIYA:   We are digg ing Chai r  but  that  is where we 

going.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja just  keep an eye on – on the real  

issues.  
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MR CRAYTHORNE:   So to… 

ADV SIBIYA:   Yes.  

MR CRAYTHORNE:   To sum up then Chai rperson the – the 

pr ices of  Alexkor ’s diamonds deter iorated dramat ical ly in 

re lat ion to the internat ional  benchmarks between the per iod 

2000 to 2006.   

 When Alexkor went onto the open market  f rom 2006 

to 2011 the pr ices performed much, much bet ter –  

signi f icant ly so and f rom 2011… 

ADV SIBIYA:   Did they – did they then correlate wi th the 10 

market  in general? 

MR CRAYTHORNE:   Ja so when – when there – there was 

very l i t t le correlat ion in the f i rst  per iod f rom 2000 to 2006.   

There was a per iod or  normal isat ion f rom 2006 unt i l  2011 

and where pr ices were very closely correlated wi th what the 

market  was doing and then subsequent to 2011 f rom 2012 

they have again worsened again dramat ical ly.  

ADV SIBIYA:   What changed in 2012? 

MR CRAYTHORNE:   In  2012 al l  of  South Afr ica ’s  rough 

diamond pr ices suffered a massive drop.   The drop came 20 

about as a resul t  of  a legislat ion that  became effect ive in 

2011 i t  is Sect ion 20A of  the Diamond Act .   Up unt i l  the end 

of  2011 when rough diamonds were so ld local ly in South 

Afr ica l icensed diamond buyers were al lowed to vis i t  

auct ions in Kimber ley or in Johannesburg anywhere around 
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the country wi th – in partnership wi th internat ional  buyers.    

 What Sect ion 20 did – what Sect ion 20A did was i t  

prohibi ted local  l icensed buyers f rom being accompanied by 

internat ional  buyers.   So that  took out  the internat ional  

compet i t iveness out  of  South Afr ica’s local  auct ion system.  

 I t  caused such a lot  of  consternat ion in the market  i t  

resul ted in a const i tut ional  court  case which was f inal ised I  

th ink in 20 – I  do not  want to quote the date but  i t  d id f ind i t  

way al l  the way up to the const i tut ional  court  and i t  was 

based on the issues around Sect ion 20A.  10 

ADV SIBIYA:   Yes.   Now you say in your aff idavi t  on page 5 

that  by 2013 in paragraph 14 you say:  

“By 2013 the Marine Diamond product ion of  the PSJV traded 

on average at  30.2 % below the market . ”  

MR CRAYTHORNE:   That  is correct .   That  is – that  is a 

weighted average.   So i t  is – to make the analysis more 

manageable and for purposes of  th is submission I  took the 

14 indexes that  I  created and fused them into one general  

index that  taking into account the di fferent  weight ings.  

 Because di fferent  categories of  diamonds have 20 

di fferent  values and depending on the quant i ty that  they 

make up of  a product ion affects the overal l  average pr ice.   

And based on that  composi te index by my calculat ion  

Alexkor ’s pr ices were t rading 30.2% below the market .  

ADV SIBIYA:   And what was the response of  the EAC to this  
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– to the fact  that  their  d iamonds that  they were mining were 

t rading 30% - 30.2%?  Was there a response by the EAC? 

MR CRAYTHORNE:   No at  th is stage the EAC was not  very 

act ive.  

ADV SIBIYA:   Okay.  

MR CRAYTHORNE:   In deal ing wi th  th is matter.  

ADV SIBIYA:   So what was the response of  the Jo int  

Venture?  What did they do to counter what they saw as the 

fal l  in pr ices? 

MR CRAYTHORNE:   Wel l  the PSJV l ike everybody is very 10 

alarmed and thei r  analysis of  the si tuat ion was that  there 

was a problem with the current  serv ice provider  doing the 

market ing and sa les cal led Diamond – Diamond Market ing 

Consul tants and they – the technical  commit tee of  the PSJV 

made a recommendat ion to  the board that  the board rotate 

the then market ing and sales service provider to do a test .  

ADV SIBIYA:   How do you know this – those int imate detai ls  

of  what was happening inside the JV? 

MR CRAYTHORNE:   Wel l  that  – the cont ractors were 

informed by the PSJV that  the PSJV was very unhappy wi th 20 

the pr ice performance under the then service provider and 

wanted to do a t r ia l  run using a new service provider.   So 

they brought in a company on a t r ia l  basis cal led Fusion 

Al ternat ives and for a per iod Fusion Al ternat ives then took 

over the funct ion f rom the previous serv ice provider.  
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ADV SIBIYA:   And did the pr ices improve? 

MR CRAYTHORNE:   Not  market ing.   In fact  in some 

instances they actual ly deter iorated further.  

ADV SIBIYA:   And i t  was at  that  point  that  the PSJV 

advert ised thei r  tender that  resul ted in the award to SSI am I  

correct? 

MR CRAYTHORNE:   That  is correct  and at  – and at  – in  

hindsight  now that  should be the point  at  which the PSJV 

should have real ised that  we were deal ing wi th a problem 

tota l ly unre lated to the market ing and sales.   The aet io logy 10 

of  the problem there somewhere else.  

ADV SIBIYA:   Okay.  

MR CRAYTHORNE:   That  they pushed on ahead and got  

permission to  launch a tender process to br ing a permanent 

new market ing and sales serv ice provider which culminated 

in the issuing of  a  tender in 2014 in October I  bel ieve.  

ADV SIBIYA:   Okay.   Now Mr Craythorne you go into a bi t  of  

detai l  in your aff idavi t  regarding what you cal l  i r regular 

tender process fo l lowed in the appointment of  Scarlet  Sky.   

You have heard the evidence of  Mr Torres before you.   Now 20 

f i rst ly just  explain to the Chai rperson how you came to have 

the detai l  that  you have inc luded in your aff idavi t  because 

we understand that  Mr Torres – his company was inst ructed 

by the Department to conduct  an invest igat ion.   So how do 

you – where you do get  the author i ty to speak to  these 
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th ings?  How do you know these things that  you are 

speaking about here? 

MR CRAYTHORNE:   Chairperson in – f rom 2016 to – f rom 

2015 when Scarlet  Sky started market ing and sel l ing our 

diamonds through 2016 the diamond pr ices got  progressively  

worse.   I t  was generat ing a huge amount of  anger amongst  

the members of  the EAC.  My fel low EAC founding member 

Mr George Nikola i  would regular ly  be stopped in the Main 

Street  of  Port  Nol loth by angry members asking us when are 

we going to do something about the problem relat ing to  10 

diamond pr ices.   And in 2017 I  then did a very br ief  analysis  

which ref lected the di fference between the internat ional  

pr ices and what we were get t ing and I  then posted those 

pr ices at  the ent rance to the mine.  

 That  was at  approximately four o’c lock in the morning 

when I  was actual ly on my way to go to sea.   I  d id not  th ink i t  

was a big deal .   Everybody knew that  there was a problem so 

I  thought wel l  I  was doing everybody a favour by just  adding 

some you know analyt ical  cont r ibut ion to the consternat ion.  

 That  had some very immediate and severe 20 

consequences.   The – the data that  I  put  up was in the form 

of  a curve – an index basica l ly just  comparing the 

performance of  A lexkor ’s  diamond pr ices wi th the market .   

And there was securi ty cameras f i lming th is – this  taking 

place.   The securi ty unbeknown to me when – because we – 
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I  put  the data up,  went into the mine and went to sea and 

when I  came back a day or two later there was a very angry 

let ter f rom Mr Merv in Carstens saying that  I  was causing 

t rouble by t ry ing to generate anger amongst  the contractors 

and our members for post ing untrue informat ion at  the 

entrance to the mine.   And I  was warned that  I  would be 

suspended i f  I  cont inued to cause anger amongst  the 

members when in actual  fact  i t  was the anger of  the 

members that  was dr iv ing me.  Not  the other way around.  

ADV SIBIYA:   And then what was the outcome of  that?  10 

Because remember you were answer ing the quest ion of  how 

did you come to know about the i r regular tender process? 

MR CRAYTHORNE:   I  was warned to back off  on the issue of  

the diamond pr ices which I  d id for a whi le but  – because the 

problem just  was get t ing so out  o f  hand I  started making 

further enqui r ies about  who was – who were the individuals 

behind Scarlet  Sky because nobody knew.  So I  wrote to  

Regan Phi l l ips and I  requested informat ion.   That  informat ion 

was denied and the si tuat ion escalated to the point  where my 

contract  – f i rst  of  a l l  my access into the mine was cancel led.   20 

Short ly thereaf ter  the contract  upon which Ocean Diggers 

operates was also cancel led together wi th my fel low EAC 

col leagues and that  – fo l lowing that  I  then put  a lot  o f  effort  

into t ry ing to get  to the bot tom of  what was going on.  

ADV SIBIYA:   Because you had al l  the t ime? 
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MR CRAYTHORNE:   Because I  had the t ime now.  So I  – I  

started digging and I  started col laborat ing wi th other people 

in the ant i -state capture project  you could cal l  i t .   And i t  was 

brought to my at tent ion that  the – one of  the shareholders in 

Scarlet  Sky was Mr Kuben Moodley.   And that  was a point  at  

which we real ised what was going on.   And … 

ADV SIBIYA:   What d id you know about Kuben Moodley? 

MR CRAYTHORNE:   Wel l  he had been ment ioned in the 

Publ ic Protectors State of  Capture Report  and that  was good 

enough for us to say wel l  look there is a problem here.   So 10 

his name popped up you know in AmaBhungane and Dai ly 

Maverick and al l  over the show.  

ADV SIBIYA:   In what context  did h is name pop up? 

MR CRAYTHORNE:   In relat ion to  the – there was – there 

was i r regular i t ies at  the SABC.  There was i r regular i t ies in  

re lat ion to Transnet and Eskom. 

ADV SIBIYA:   And how did he feature there? 

MR CRAYTHORNE:   He featured as a close l ieutenant of  the 

Gupta fami ly.  

ADV SIBIYA:   Okay.  20 

MR CRAYTHORNE:   So wi th that  knowledge in hand I  then 

again confronted Mervin Carstens and said to him, l is ten you 

need to do something about th is because this is  why the 

diamond pr ices are so shocking.   And I  wrote a very,  very 

confrontat ional  emai l  but  I  fe l t  i t  was the only th ing that  I  
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could do at  the t ime where I  said st ra ight  out ,  l isten you 

deal ing wi th the state capture issue here.   You know and you 

need to suspend this cont ract  immediate ly.  

ADV SIBIYA:   Okay.   Remember you are answer ing the 

quest ion.  

MR CRAYTHORNE:   Okay how did I  get  the informat ion? 

ADV SIBIYA:   Yes.  

MR CRAYTHORNE:   Wel l  what  – what – far f rom being 

received you know with my efforts  to help understand what  

was busy going on were met then wi th some threat  f rom 10 

Webber Wentzel  on behal f  of  Mr Carstens where they 

threatened me wi th – wi th legal  act ion i f  I  d id not  ref ra in  

f rom – sorry I  beg your pardon – ja i t  was Webber Wentzel .   I  

have had slap sheets.   And I  – I  refused to back down so I  

got  hi t  wi th the slap sui t  and I  found mysel f  very quickly  

having to learn how to defend mysel f  and that  when I  started 

looking even closer and closer and digging into what was 

going on.   I  cal led certain quest ions to be asked in  

Parl iament v ia Veronica Van Dyk about who these guys 

were?  What l icences d id they have?  And I  had to very,  very 20 

quickly get  to gr ips wi th the law because my l i fe depended 

on i t .   So I  successful ly defended mysel f  against  Webber 

Wentzel  and Merv in Carstens only to one month later  be hi t  

wi th another slap sui t  f rom Mr Vikma Nqashu.  

ADV SIBIYA:   Mr Craythorne.  
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ADV SIBIYA:   That  is where I  got  that  informat ion – that  is  

how I  learnt .   I  had to defend mysel f  Chairperson and… 

ADV SIBIYA:   So where did you get  the … 

CHAIRPERSON:   Did you get  some of  the informat ion f rom 

the court  papers that  were served on you? 

MR CRAYTHORNE:   No my court  papers? 

CHAIRPERSON:   Or when you were being – defend 

yoursel f?  

MR CRAYTHORNE:   Ja when I  defended mysel f  I  defended 

mysel f  on the basis of  you guys are act ing i l legal ly because 10 

you – you do not  have the l icences and I  confronted them. 

ADV SIBIYA:   But  how did you know that  they did not  have 

the l icence? 

MR CRAYTHORNE:   Because they were to ld  then – because 

there are quest ions that  are caused to be answered in 

Parl iament admit ted that  they did not  have the l icence.  

ADV SIBIYA:   Okay.   Can I  refer you to page 270 – 270?   

MR CRAYTHORNE:   Okay I  am there.  

ADV SIBIYA:   Is  th is the quest ion you are talk ing about  

because you ment ioned now that  you – you ment ioned a Mr – 20 

a Ms Van Dyk.  

MR CRAYTHORNE:   That  is correct  ja.   So this is a quest ion.  

CHAIRPERSON:   This is at  page 200 and? 

MR CRAYTHORNE:   270.  

CHAIRPERSON:   217? 
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ADV SIBIYA:   No 270.  

CHAIRPERSON:   270.  

ADV SIBIYA:   Yes.   Yes Chai r.    

MR CRAYTHORNE:   Th is is the – this is the Parl iamentary 

quest ion which I  caused Ms Veronica Van Dyk to ask in  

Parl iament.  

ADV SIBIYA:   Quest ion number 1267? 

MR CRAYTHORNE:   That  is correct .  

ADV SIBIYA:   Did you ask al l  these quest ions or  was there 

speci f ic one that  you were asking? 10 

MR CRAYTHORNE:   I  – I  provided the quest ions to Ms Van 

Dyk and she processed these quest ions through Par l iament  

through thei r  processes.   And then the answer was provided 

and i t  is recorded here on page 272.  

ADV SIBIYA:   Okay so the f i rst  quest ion that  you caused to 

be asked was the quest ion marked 1? 

MR CRAYTHORNE:   That  is correct .  

ADV SIBIYA:   And you were quest ioning i f  there was a t rack 

record for Scar let  Sky Investments pr ior to them being 

appointed by Alexkor? 20 

MR CRAYTHORNE:   Correct .  

ADV SIBIYA:   What made you ask this quest ion? 

MR CRAYTHORNE:   Because i t  was one of  the minimum 

requi rements or  rather i t  was part  of  the tender 

speci f icat ions that  had been issued when the PSJV sent  out  
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their  RFP.  

ADV SIBIYA:   So you remembered this is 2018 that  there 

had been this issue in 2014? 

MR CRAYTHORNE:   Wel l  I  looked back in the records to f ind 

what – what at  the t ime that  the tender was issued what the 

speci f icat ions were.  

ADV SIBIYA:   What put  you in a posi t ion to quest ion these 

things?  What were – what informat ion were you armed with  

that  led you to dig deeper and ask these kinds of  quest ions?  

You have told us about your court  case.   Was this af ter your  10 

research?  What did you discover in your research that  led 

you here? 

MR CRAYTHORNE:   Through – throughout the per iod f rom 

the t ime that  my access into the mine was cancel led I  began 

a r igorous process of  discovery.   Trying to  f ind out  and that  

was an ongoing process r ight  up unt i l  the t ime that  I  f in ished 

my aff idavi t  for the Zondo Commission.  

ADV SIBIYA:   Okay.  

MR CRAYTHORNE:   So i t  has been – i t  has been a – i t  has 

been a process of  discovery and the – the revelat ions that  20 

have come about  have been through process of  ongoing 

research and request ing informat ion,  contact ing the 

regulator to enqui re whether Scarle t  Sky in fact  did have a 

l icence and they informed me that  Scarlet  Sky did not  have a 

l icence.   So I  was not  only just  re ly ing on one source of  
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informat ion I  was double checking i t  through the regulator as 

wel l .   So both the – both the regulator and Department of  

Publ ic Enterpr ises conf i rmed that  Scarlet  Sky did not  have 

the minimum requirement of  l icences.  

ADV SIBIYA:   Okay.  

MR CRAYTHORNE:   Showing… 

ADV SIBIYA:   So let  us go back to page 270.  

MR CRAYTHORNE:   Okay.  

ADV SIBIYA:   So the quest ion that  was asked was whether 

Scarlet  Sky Investments had a t rack record pr ior  to i ts 10 

appointment and the answer appears below – at  the bot tom 

of  the page and the answer that  they gave was that  – that  

Alexkor gave was that  the company had no t rack record unt i l  

Mr Daniel  Nathan with 20 years ’ experience wi thin the 

diamond indust ry was appointed as a director of  SSI in 2014.  

MR CRAYTHORNE:   That  is correct .  

ADV SIBIYA:   Okay.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Even that  must  be inaccurate because that  

is not  the t rack – t rack record of  the company that  is the 

t rack record of  an individual .  20 

MR CRAYTHORNE:   That  is correct  and the dates – and he 

is – his di rectorsh ip only became effect ive on the 4 

December.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja.  

MR CRAYTHORNE:   So he was appointed in November.  
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CHAIRPERSON:   Ja.  

MR CRAYTHORNE:   But  the records that  I  accessed show 

that  he actual ly only became effect ive as a director on the 4 

December even af ter the tender process.  

CHAIRPERSON:   But  the fact  of  the matter is i f  you answer 

the quest ion whether the company had a t rack record in th is  

industry the answer is no.  

MR CRAYTHORNE:   Correct .  

CHAIRPERSON:   The fact  that  at  some stage an individual 

got  involved in the company who had 20 years’ exper ience 10 

does not  give the company 20 years’ experience t rack 

record.  

MR CRAYTHORNE:   That  is how I  looked at  i t .  

ADV SIBIYA:   And the next  quest ion was – quest ion 2A why 

has no benef ic iat ion for  the community taken place s ince the 

appointment of  the speci f ied company by Alexkor and what 

are the detai ls of  how t ransferr ing the sale of  diamonds to 

the company has impacted on the value return to  Alexkor 

and the miners.   Why did you ask this quest ion? 

MR CRAYTHORNE:   I  asked th is quest ion because that  was 20 

one of  their  main sel l ing points.  

ADV SIBIYA:   Whose main sel l ing points? 

MR CRAYTHORNE:   Scarlet  Sky.   Because when – you know 

we were as contractors rais ing major concerns about thei r  

poor performance in  at taining fai r  d iamond pr ices for us 
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there was you know feedback f rom PSJV saying that  you 

know they were doing a lot  for the Richtersveldt  community.  

ADV SIBIYA:   And the answer that  they gave was that  

benef ic iat ion is taking place in Houghton and has been 

taking place since 2015 and that  SSI current ly  employs 

learners f rom the community.  

MR CRAYTHORNE:   That  is correct  but  as far as I  am aware 

there had been no last ing – or there had – as far  as I  know 

there had been no qual i f ied cut ters or pol ishers that  have 

emerged out  of  any of  the commitments that  Scar let  Sky 10 

made to the Richtersveldt  community.  

ADV SIBIYA:   They cont inued to say benef ic iat ion contr ibute 

an addi t ional  9% income to the pool ing and shar ing Joint  

Venture to income af ter the tender process.  

MR CRAYTHORNE:   Wel l  whether the agreement wi th 

regards to benef ic iat ion of  d iamonds was that  the 

contractors would share in any upside and to my knowledge 

no contractors have shared in any upside of  the diamonds 

that  have been taken out  of  the product ion for benef ic iat ion.   

So i f  there has been 9% that  should have been shared in the 20 

same rat io as the cont ractors contract  to mine those 

diamonds stands.   So i f  a contractor  has a 50% deal  to mine 

a d iamond for A lexkor and that  diamond then goes for  

benef ic iat ion you get  paid out  on a valuat ion pr ice but  

whatever the upside i t  subsequent to pol ishing and the sale 
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i f  there is a 9% addi t ional  va lue add that  was supposed to 

have been shared 50% to the PSJV and 50% to the 

contractor af ter the benef ic iator had taken his percentage.  

ADV SIBIYA:   The next  quest ion is on what basis was the 

company SSI again awarded the contract  in November 2016?  

That  is  the f i rst  part  of  the quest ion and then they cont inue 

wi th the next  part  of  the quest ion.   Now thei r  response to the 

quest ion posed on 3A on what basis was the company again 

awarded a contract  in November 2016?  Thei r  response is  

long but  at  the end of  i t  is that  i t  says – wel l  let  me start  at  10 

the top.   I t  says:  

“The process inc luded the RFP which was 

advert ised in the Government Tender Bul let in  

of  1 October 2014 as wel l  as the Business 

Day of  2014.”  

Do you agree that  was not  for the 2016 tender? 

MR CRAYTHORNE:   No that  was – I  beg your pardon that 

was for the previous tender.  

ADV SIBIYA:   Yes.   And then i t  cont inues 

“Seven companies expressed thei r  interest  in  20 

RFP 03 of  2014 and submit ted proposals.”  

Also in re lat ion to  the previous ones? 

MR CRAYTHORNE:   Ja because the – the convent ion – the 

numbering convent ion that  you see in the RFP relates to the 

year – the 2014 indicates that  that  was a RFP from 2014.  
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ADV SIBIYA:   Yes.   And then i t  cont inues and i t  says:  

“Gamera Advisory Services were appointed 

by the Alexkor PSJV board to evaluate the 

proposals received.”  

MR CRAYTHORNE:   That  is correct .  

ADV SIBIYA:    

“The top three companies according to the 

evaluat ion scores were invi ted to present  to  

the Alexkor PSJV board tender commit tee. ”  

MR CRAYTHORNE:   Correct .  10 

ADV SIBIYA:    

“Fol lowing the presentat ion and assessment  

of  the SSI bid proposal  the Alexkor PSJV 

board was sat is f ied wi th the pr ices and 

proposals submit ted by SSI.   The Alexkor  

PSJV board appointed SSI wi th effect  f rom 1 

March 2018. ”  

Is any of  th is correct  in answer to  the quest ion of  – on what  

basis was the company awarded a cont ract  in November 

2016? 20 

MR CRAYTHORNE:   Not  at  al l .   

ADV SIBIYA:   Why do you say that? 

MR CRAYTHORNE:   Wel l  i t  does not  make sense because 

they conf lat ing the f i rst  tender process wi th the second 

tender process and they talk about  a date being an effect ive 
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date being the 1 March 2018 which i t  could not  possibly have 

been.  

ADV SIBIYA:   Because the quest ion is speci f ic.  

MR CRAYTHORNE:   That  is 2016.  

ADV SIBIYA:   Yes.  

MR CRAYTHORNE:   Ja.  

ADV SIBIYA:   Yes i t  is  speci f ic  to  2018 to 2016 sorry.   So 

Alexkor d id not  answer this quest ion? 

MR CRAYTHORNE:   No.  

ADV SIBIYA:   The next  part  of  the quest ion is:  10 

“Why is there no longer an independent 

valuator model  included in the company’s 

contracts?”  

You can see thei r  answer there in B.  

MR CRAYTHORNE:   Wel l… 

ADV SIBIYA:   And i t  says:  

“The independent valuator process was 

stopped af ter some of  the contractors 

complained about  benef ic iat ion and i t  was 

decided that  the diamonds selected for  20 

benef ic iat ion process wi l l  be paid based on 

the tender pr ice.”  

MR CRAYTHORNE :    Wel l ,  I  do not  know what to make of  i t  

because again i t  is  seems to be conf lat ing di fferent  issues.   

For instance,  the or ig inal  b id that  Scar let  Sky made and the 
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basis upon which they were provisional ly awarded,  

successful ly awarded the tender at  the close of  2014,  was an 

exclusive purchasing agreement ak in to what was in place 

f rom 2000 to 2006.. .  [dropping voice]  

 And they had made i t  very clear,  according to their  

expert  opinion,  in  thei r  b id documents that  because of  the 

int roduct ion of  Sect ion 20A, auct ion processes would no 

longer be opt imum solut ion achieving fai r  d iamond pr ices 

and that  Alexkor  would need to consider thei r,  what  they 

refer to as a Proprietary Independent Evaluator Model .    10 

 So they were t ry ing to resurrect  the same arrangement  

that  we had fought  so hard against  when De Beers buying 

Alexkor Diamonds.   And that  bid which had cast  dispersions 

on the tender system or the tendered documents.  

 Al l  of  a sudden in  January wi thout  any explanat ion,  they 

do a f l ip- f lop and changed thei r  proposal  f rom what they had 

in i t ia l ly proposed,  which was,  as what they referred to as 

their  Propr ietary Evaluat ion Model  to the tender processes.  

 So something happened over the hol iday per iod resul t ing 

in a complete about-turn now which they then embraced the 20 

same sales model  which they had themselves cast  

suspicions on.   And then on top of  i t ,  won the tender.    

ADV SIBIYA :    And the next  part  of  the quest ion is.   Who 

made the decision?  Now I  am not  sure whether the decision 

– that  is being referred to is the absence of  an Independent  
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Evaluator  Model  or  whether the decision they are talk ing 

about is the award to SSI. .  

MR CRAYTHORNE :    I t  seems to me they have cannibal ised 

some facts and mixed them up.   In  a certa in  way i t  is t rue.   

They did abandon the Evaluator Model  but  they have 

abandoned i t  over  December.  

 And yet  for  the f i rst  year,  there was st i l l  an Independent 

Evaluator.   So i t  seems to that  even thought th is company 

had agreed that  tender was the way to go that  at  least  for 

the f i rst  few sales that  were conducted,  they were done on 10 

an evaluat ion basis,  not  on an auct ion basis.    

 And at  the point  a t  which the Independent Evaluator then 

becomes redundant,  he was dismissed.   So i t  is very 

confusing,  actual ly.   And i t  is di ff icul t  to make head or ta i l  of  

what was going on.   But  i t  does not  make sense and i t  

certainly did not  answer my quest ion.  

ADV SIBIYA :    Okay.   Now I  wi l l  move on to Quest ion 4.  

MR CRAYTHORNE :    Yes.  

ADV SIBIYA :    Quest ion 4 says:   Is the special ised company 

a l icensed diamond t rader?  Now who are we referr ing to 20 

when we say the speci f ied company? 

MR CRAYTHORNE :    Scarlet  Sky,  the company that  won the 

contract .  

ADV SIBIYA :    Yes.   So is the speci f ied company a l icensed 

diamond t rader and the premises l icensed as a tender 
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house?  The answer is contained in page 272.  

MR CRAYTHORNE :    The answer that  was given was that  the 

diamond dealer l icense.   I t  was in a di fferent  company cal led 

Diamond Trading House.   Oh, sorry.   I  beg your pardon.  

Cal led Daniel  Nathan Trading  

ADV SIBIYA :    Where does i t  say SSI does not  have a 

l icense Mr Craythorne? 

MR CRAYTHORNE :    Okay.   I  am sorry.   Can I  just  read i t?  

ADV SIBIYA :    Yes.  

MR CRAYTHORNE :    Okay.   In terms of  . . . [ intervenes]   10 

ADV SIBIYA :    That  is why I  referred you to the page.  

MR CRAYTHORNE :    Okay.  

“ In terms of  the South Afr ican Diamond and Precious 

Metals Regulator  Prescr ipts,  a l icense is issued to 

an individual  diamond dealer  or  to a company,  

Diamond Trading House.   In th is instance,  Mr Daniel  

Nathan is the holder  of  the requi red diamond deal  

l icense.”  

ADV SIBIYA :    Did they say anything about the speci f ied 

company? 20 

MR CRAYTHORNE :    Nothing.    

ADV SIBIYA :    So do they answer the quest ion of  whether  

SSI has a l icence? 

MR CRAYTHORNE :    No.  

ADV SIBIYA :    Is i t  t rue what they are saying in thei r  answer 
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that  Mr Daniel  Nathan is a holder  of  the requi red diamond 

deal  l icense? 

MR CRAYTHORNE :    No,  i t  is not  t rue.   The l icense is held in  

a company cal led Daniel  Nathan Trading CC.   

ADV SIBIYA :    So none of  th is par t  of  the quest ion – of  the 

answer is t rue? 

MR CRAYTHORNE :    With regard to the Diamond Trading 

House,  I  am not  sure,  regarding that  l icense but  certainly in 

the case of  the diamond dealer l icense i t  is not  t rue.  

ADV SIBIYA :    But  Mr Craythorne,  they do not  say anything 10 

about issuing of  a  Diamond Trading House l icense.  

MR CRAYTHORNE :    No,  in thei r  answer? 

ADV SIBIYA :    Yes.  

MR CRAYTHORNE :    They say.  

ADV SIBIYA :    Yes.  

MR CRAYTHORNE :    So I  do not  know i f  that  answer is t rue 

because you have a diamond dealer l icense.   And in the 

premises that  the diamond dealer conducts t rading act iv i t ies 

on,  has to be l icensed as wel l .  

ADV SIBIYA :    Yes.  20 

MR CRAYTHORNE :    So I  am not  – as far as I  am aware,  

there is  no l icense for  that  as wel l  as far as Scarlet  Sky 

goes.  

ADV SIBIYA :    You are conf lat ing the issues Mr Craythorne.  

MR CRAYTHORNE :    Ja,  let  me . . . [ intervenes]   



08 JANUARY 2021 – DAY 324 
 

Page 161 of 223 
 

ADV SIBIYA :    But  they do not  say Nathan has or does not 

have a t rading house.    

MR CRAYTHORNE :    Okay.  

ADV SIBIYA :    They are just  te l l ing us the fact  of  how 

l icenses are issued.  

MR CRAYTHORNE :    Okay.  

ADV SIBIYA :    That  is al l  they are tel l ing us there.   Now I  

want to take you back to Quest ion 3A because I  now want to  

refer you to documentat ion.   So Quest ion 3A is the one that  

was asking on what basis was the company again awarded 10 

the contract  in November 2016?  And the answer was 

contained on the next  page on page 271.   Now you wi l l  note 

that  i t  says when – i t  deals f i rst ly wi th the wrong cont ract  in 

that  i t  deals wi th the process that  was fol lowed for the 2014 

tender process.   Correct? 

MR CRAYTHORNE :    Correct .  

ADV SIBIYA :    A lr ight .   And then at  the end i t  says the 

Alexkor Board appointed SSI wi th effect  f rom 1 March 2018 

which is also incorrect .   

MR CRAYTHORNE :    Probably.  20 

ADV SIBIYA :    So they do not  explain why the company was 

awarded another contract  a year af ter  i t  had been awarded a 

contract .  

MR CRAYTHORNE :    They do not .  

ADV SIBIYA :    Okay.   Now just  to complete that  thought.   
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Can I  refer you to Bundle 2?  So i t  is  a  d i fferent  bundle a l l  

together.  

MR CRAYTHORNE :    I  have the bundle.  

ADV SIBIYA :    Yes.   Please turn to page 263.   Page 263.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Th is is Mining Bundle of  2? 

ADV SIBIYA :    Yes,  thank you.  

CHAIRPERSON :    What is the page? 

ADV SIBIYA :    263.  

CHAIRPERSON :    263.  

ADV SIBIYA :    Underneath the tab marked 3.  10 

CHAIRPERSON :    [No audible reply]   

MR CRAYTHORNE :    Page 263? 

ADV SIBIYA :    Yes.  

MR CRAYTHORNE :    I  have i t .  

ADV SIBIYA :    Okay.   This document is the agreement to 

market  value and sel l  d iamonds between Alexkor RMC PSJV 

and Scarlet  Sky Investments 60 (Pty) Ltd.    

MR CRAYTHORNE :    I t  is correct .  

ADV SIBIYA :    Now i f  we take this document and turn to  

page 268. . .  20 

MR CRAYTHORNE :    I  have i t  in f ront  of  me.  

ADV SIBIYA :    In Clause 4.1 i t  says:  

“This agreement shal l  commence on the signature 

date and shal l  cont inue enforce for  a per iod of  three 

years. ”  
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 Do you see that? 

MR CRAYTHORNE :    I  see that .  

ADV SIBIYA :    Okay.   And then we can turn to page 284 of  

the same bundle.    

MR CRAYTHORNE :    I  have i t  in f ront  of  me.  

ADV SIBIYA :    So we see in that  page that  the s ignature 

date is the 4 t h of  March 2015.  

MR CRAYTHORNE :    That  is correct .  

ADV SIBIYA :    So we know that  th is agreement started on 

the 4 t h of  March 2015.  10 

MR CRAYTHORNE :    Correct .  

ADV SIBIYA :    Appoint ing SSI  to market  and sel l  the 

diamonds for the PSJV.  

MR CRAYTHORNE :    Correct .  

ADV SIBIYA :    Now i f  I  take you further in the same bundle 

to page 295.  

MR CRAYTHORNE :    I  have i t  in f ront  of  me.  

ADV SIBIYA :    This document is cal led The Agreement to  

Market  Value Sel l  and Benef ic iat ion of  Diamonds between 

Alexkor and CJV and Scarlet  Sky Investments 60 (Pty) Ltd.   20 

Same part ies,  correct? 

MR CRAYTHORNE :    Correct .  

ADV SIBIYA :    Same kind of  cont ract ,  correct? 

MR CRAYTHORNE :    Correct .  

ADV SIBIYA :    Okay.   Now I  take you to page 300.    
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MR CRAYTHORNE :    I  have i t  in f ront  of  me.  

ADV SIBIYA :    I f  we look towards the bot tom of  the page, 

you wi l l  see in bold number 4,  Commencement and Durat ion.   

Do you see that? 

MR CRAYTHORNE :    I  do.  

ADV SIBIYA :    Now in 4.1 i t  says simi lar ly:  

“This agreement shal l  commence on the signature 

date and shal l  cont inue enforced by a per iod of  f ive 

years. ”  

 So the d i fference is that  the previous one said i t  would 10 

cont inue for three years.   This one says for f ive years.   But  

th is cont ract  also commences on signature date.   Correct? 

MR CRAYTHORNE :    That  is correct .  

ADV SIBIYA :    Okay.   Now we go . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    Did this one replace the 2015 one or did  

they run paral le l  to each other? 

ADV SIBIYA :    That  is the answer we do not  have 

Chairperson.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay.  

ADV SIBIYA :    Because i t  is the answer that  was not  given to 20 

the par l iamentary quest ion.  

CHAIRPERSON :    In the second agreement,  does i t  not  say 

what i ts relat ionship is wi th the previous agreement? 

ADV SIBIYA :    No.  

CHAIRPERSON :    H’m.  Okay al r ight .  
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ADV SIBIYA :    And then on page 317. . .  

MR CRAYTHORNE :    I  have i t  in f ront  of  me.  

ADV SIBIYA :    We can see that  i t  is now says:  

“This agreement is s igned on the 

6t h of  October 2016.”  

MR CRAYTHORNE :    That  is correct .  

ADV SIBIYA :    And as we have a l ready seen,  i t  starts f rom 

signature date.   So this means that  th is contract  s tarted in 

October 2016 when previously they had signed with the 

same company in March 2015 for three years.  10 

MR CRAYTHORNE :    Correct .  

ADV SIBIYA :    So clear ly,  the quest ion related to the second 

contract .   The quest ion in the par l iament – the quest ion in 

par l iament that  s tate:   On what basis was the company 

awarded the contract  in November 2016?  So they are talk ing 

about the second contract? 

MR CRAYTHORNE :    Correct .  

ADV SIBIYA :    Okay.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Wel l ,  Ms Sibiya . . . [ intervenes]   

ADV SIBIYA :    The date is . . . [ intervenes]   20 

CHAIRPERSON :    The answer to my quest ion is to be formed 

in Clause 30 of  the second agreement.   I t  says:  

“This agreement supersedes any previous 

agreements between any of  the part ies in relat ion 

deal t  wi th in th is agreement. ”  
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ADV SIBIYA :    Yes,  yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    So the second agreement replaced the 

f i rst  agreement.  

ADV SIBIYA :    Replaced. . .   Yes,  yes.   Thank you Chair.  

CHAIRPERSON :    H’m.  

ADV SIBIYA :    Now the quest ion that  had been posed was:   

On what basis was the company again awarded a contract  in 

November 2016?  We note that  th is  is October 2016 but  on a 

reading – do we know of  any cont racts that  was awarded to 

SSI in November as opposed to the one in October 2016?  10 

MR CRAYTHORNE :    No,  they provided no clar i ty  to my 

quest ion that  I  posed via the par l iamentary process.    

ADV SIBIYA :    Okay.   I  th ink you misunderstood my 

quest ion.   The quest ion talks to November 2016 but  we can 

see that  th is contract  was signed in October 2016.   You 

posed the quest ion to be asked.   Were you talk ing about th is 

contract  s igned in  October 2016 or were you talk ing about a 

di fferent  cont ract? 

MR CRAYTHORNE :    I  was talk ing about the second contract  

which we had heard . . . [ intervenes]   20 

ADV SIBIYA :    This contract? 

MR CRAYTHORNE :    Ja.   We had heard that  there had been 

a subsequent cont ract .  

ADV SIBIYA :    Okay.  

MR CRAYTHORNE :    So.   But  that  is al l  that  we were told.  
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ADV SIBIYA :    Okay.   So you assumed the t ime to be 

November 2016? 

MR CRAYTHORNE :    2016,  ja.   So my understanding was 

that  there had been a contract  in i t iated in 2015 which was 

supposed to run for  three years.   Then we had heard via  the 

grapevine that  another contract  had been issued in 2016.    

ADV SIBIYA :    Yes.  

MR CRAYTHORNE :    With no c lar i ty as to – how that  came 

about,  was offered and that  is why I  asked the quest ion via  

par l iament.  10 

ADV SIBIYA :    So do you agree that  i t  is  incorrect  in page 

271,  paragraph 3(a(v) where they say:  

“The A lexkor PSJV Board appointed SSI wi th effect  

f rom 1 March 2018.”  

MR CRAYTHORNE :    I  beg your pardon.   Can you just  te l l  me 

that  page number again?  271? 

ADV SIBIYA :    271,  yes.  

MR CRAYTHORNE :    Okay,  so . . . [ in tervenes]   

ADV SIBIYA :    And the paragraph is  3(a)(v).   The V.    

MR CRAYTHORNE :    Are we st i l l  in  Min ing 02? 20 

ADV SIBIYA :    Oh,  my apologies.  

MR CRAYTHORNE :    Okay.    

ADV SIBIYA :    I  have lef t  i t  behind.  

MR CRAYTHORNE :    No worr ies.  

ADV SIBIYA :    We are back in Mining 04.   My apologies 
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Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Has i t  not  become clear that  a substant ia l  

part  of  that  answer does not  –  is not  an answer to the 

quest ion and in part icular ly about  the basis on which the 

contract  was awarded? 

ADV SIBIYA :    Yes,  Chai r.   But  there is a lso the issue of  the 

date because . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    2018? 

ADV SIBIYA :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    But  that  is obvious,  is i t  not?  10 

ADV SIBIYA :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja.  

ADV SIBIYA :    But  the contract  i tsel f  said,  i t  is effect ive on 

signature and signature was in 2016.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja.  

ADV SIBIYA :    So everything that  was answered here was 

not  t rue.  

CHAIRPERSON :    H’m.  

MR CRAYTHORNE :    That  is correct .  

ADV SIBIYA :    Thank you very much.  Now what else did you 20 

f ind out  about  that  was not  correct  in the appointment?  

Because you have not  yet  to ld us what you discovered was 

incorrect .   You have told us that  you asked and discovered 

that  SSI did not  have a l icense through your  quest ions that  

you caused to be asked in par l iament.  
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CHAIRPERSON :    Before you answer the quest ion.   Can I  

just  get  th is out  of  the way?  As far as the second contract  is 

concerned.   That  was not  the subject  of  – that  was not  

preceded by any compet i t ive tender process,  was i t?  

MR CRAYTHORNE :    As far as I  am.. .   Chai r,  i f  I  recal l .   I  

remember seeing a copy of  a request  for a proposal  but  I  

cannot be sure on that  because everything is so hazy,  you 

know.   I f  i t  is di f f icul t  for me to t rack i t .   But  I  do recal l  

seeing something of  a repeat  . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  10 

MR CRAYTHORNE :    . . . that  but  I  cannot recal l  exact ly where 

but  i t  seems to me that  to some degree there was some 

at tempt to have an RFB.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.   Do you know what the answer is? 

ADV SIBIYA :    Yes,  Chai r.   I t  is the one that  Mr Torres was 

answering about  when he said he asked the company 

secretary what rol led they played.   And the Company 

Secretary,  Ms Reagan Phi l l ips then sa id,  al though they were 

cal led a BEC, al l  they did was to . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    Where there was no evaluat ion? 20 

ADV SIBIYA :    Yes,  yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja.  

ADV SIBIYA :    So that  is the second cont ract .   So 

. . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    But  did Ms Phi l ips’ response to him reveal  
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that  there had been requests for proposals or not  rea l ly? 

ADV SIBIYA :    Chai r,  we did not  deal  wi th that  detai l  but  i t  is 

part  of  the report  of  the Gobodo report  that  – which 

Mr Torres was test i fy ing and i t  appears that  there was. 

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay.  

ADV SIBIYA :    But  i t  seems to have been a foregone 

conclusion.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja.  

ADV SIBIYA :    And he indicated that  he does not  know why 

there was a need for the second . . . [ intervenes]   10 

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes,  wel l  you wi l l  just  have to double 

check things to that  report .  

ADV SIBIYA :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Because i t  t ranspi red whi le he was giving 

evidence that  he was not  asking some of  the most  obvious 

quest ions he should have asked.  

ADV SIBIYA :    No,  Chairperson.  

CHAIRPERSON :    So i f  he has reached certain conclusions,  

we have got  to – or made certa in f indings – we have got  to  

double check that  those f indings are sustainable.  20 

ADV SIBIYA :    Yes,  Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay.  

ADV SIBIYA :    But  in as far as there having been a process,  

that  is the one that  had the minimum requi rements and I  

referred us to the document that  ind icated the minimum 
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requi rements in the whole tender document that  went out .   

So.   But  I  – we wi l l  double check . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes,  so what I  am saying is.   I f  they say 

there was no process,  double check that  that  is factual ly  

t rue.  

ADV SIBIYA :    H’m.  

CHAIRPERSON :    That  is what I  want.  

ADV SIBIYA :    Yes.   Thank you.   Now can I  take you back to 

the ident i f ied i r regular i t ies in relat ion to the appointment of  

Scarlet  Sky that  you referred to on page 6 of  your aff idavi t?  10 

Now I  had asked,  how did you get  the detai l?  Because the 

detai l  in the aff idavi t  is:   “On the 21s t  of  October,  the process 

was in i t iated. . . ”  

 And then you go on to detai l  what  happened in  the 

Technical  Commit tee and the tender advert isement and al l  

those th ings.   So I  had asked,  how did you get  th is 

informat ion of  you to give i t  in th is Commission as your  

evidence? 

MR CRAYTHORNE :    Chai rperson,  there was a – there is a 

lot  of  unhappiness f rom the Richtersveldt  communi ty over 20 

the issue of  Scarlet  Sky and the diamond pr ices and the 

manner in which the tender was awarded.    

 And that  led to a complaint  being made by the – an 

at torney act ing for certa in members in the Richtersveldt  

community because there are divis ions wi th in the 
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Richtersveldt  Community.   So this part icular at torney was 

only act ing on behal f  of  – on one instruct ions for one 

part icular individual  but  i t  certainly . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    Did you get  that  informat ion f rom the 

at torney? 

MR CRAYTHORNE :    No,  that  informat ion – I  got  i t  f rom a 

gent leman cal led Pieter de Wet  who is  a Richtersveldt  

member who also made a compla int  to the – to – I  th ink to 

DPE regarding the Scarlet  Sky issue.    

 That ,  f lowing out  of  the complaint  to the Publ ic 10 

Protector,  an arrangement was – and there was an 

agreement between the part ies,  between Minister  Lynne 

Brown, the Publ ic  Protector and that  part icular at torney that  

Alexkor ’s own Audi t  and Risk Commit tee would do an 

invest igat ion into the ci rcumstances surrounding the 

appointment of  Scar let  Sky.    

 And as a resul t  of  that  report ,  which I  was given a copy 

of  f rom Sam Saul ,  because he also b lew the whist le to  

Amabhugane in the ear ly days,  and Sam and I  have shared 

informat ion.    20 

 So Sam, when he started doing queries into the whole 

Alexkor PSJV story and which led to him l ike an in-depth 

exposé on i t ,  he was given a copy of  th is document which he 

passed onto me and this document der ives a lot  of  the 

t imel ines and surrounding the appointment of  SSI,  when the 
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need for a new market ing and sa les service provider was 

ident i f ied and then the events that  fo l lowed. 

CHAIRPERSON :    Basical ly,  that  is part  of  where you got  

your informat ion f rom? 

MR CRAYTHORNE :    That  is correct .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja,  okay.  

ADV SIBIYA :    A lr ight .   Thank you.   Now you say – you then 

go into detai l  the Technica l  Commit tee meet ing of  the PSJV 

which raised the concern regarding the manner in which 

diamond . . . [ intervenes]   10 

CHAIRPERSON :    Where are you now Ms Sibiya? 

ADV SIBIYA :    My apologies.   I  am sure this t ime I  have not  

lef t  you in a di fferent  bundle.   On Bundle 4 on page 7.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay al r ight .   You may cont inue.  

ADV SIBIYA :    Thank you.   I  was reading f rom paragraph 25.    

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay.  

ADV SIBIYA :    And then i t  says”  

“The commit tee advised that  management request  

approval  f rom the PSJV Board to appoint  a new 

serv ice provider on a basis to determine whether  20 

there would be an improvement in pr ic ing. ”  

 And then you highl ight  those that  were present  at  the 

meet ing.   Why? 

MR CRAYTHORNE :    Because those are the individuals that  

played key-roles in the appointment,  the ul t imate 
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appointment of  Scarlet  Sky because they t r iggered the 

process that  ul t imately led to Scar let  Sky being awarded the 

contract .    

ADV SIBIYA :    Okay.   And then you say that  at  the t ime, 

Raf ique Bagus chai red the jo int  board of  the PSJV.  

MR CRAYTHORNE :    That  is correct .   And this informat ion is 

drawn f rom the annual  report ,  the Alexkor  Annual  Report .  

ADV SIBIYA :    Yes.   Now i f  we turn the page and move on to 

page 8. . .  

MR CRAYTHORNE :    I  have i t  in f ront  of  me.  10 

ADV SIBIYA :    Yes.   In paragraph 30,  you say that :  

“SSI sent  and expression of  interest  on 

6 November 2014 on a let terhead that  indicated the 

di rectors,  were then Daniel  Nathan and Kuben 

Moodley.”  

MR CRAYTHORNE :    That  is correct .  

ADV SIBIYA :    You say this was wrong.   Why? 

CHAIRPERSON :    Ms Sibiya,  some of  the matters have been 

covered by your previous wi tness.  

ADV SIBIYA :    Yes.  20 

CHAIRPERSON :    And both of  them might  th ink thei r  sources 

are the same.  I t  is just  documentat ion.    

ADV SIBIYA :    Chai r,  he talks to a di fferent  aspect  of  

i r regular i ty that  was not  noted . . . [ in tervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    Oh,  okay al r ight .  
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ADV SIBIYA :    . . . in the evidence of  the previous wi tness.  

CHAIRPERSON :    A lr ight ,  a l r ight .  

ADV SIBIYA :    Yes.  

MR CRAYTHORNE :    The informat ion that  the Gobodo report  

refers to is based on the appointment date that  when I  d id a 

company search,  I  worked on the effect ive date.   So whi le 

they were appointed on a date that  Gobodo say,  the 

appointment  date is  not  the same as the effect ive date 

because they – as d irectors they get  appointed internal ly in  

the company but  the effect ive date as far as the regist rar is  10 

concerned,  was on the 4t h of  December which was even 

later,  and I  th ink that  is relevant .  

ADV SIBIYA :    But  you have gone ahead of  me.  

MR CRAYTHORNE :    Oh,  sorry.  

ADV SIBIYA :    Mr Craythorne,  I  was asking you why you say 

i t  was wrong for SSI on the 6 t h of  November to  say that  the 

di rectors were Daniel  Nathan and Kuben Moodley?  So we 

are talk ing about the 6 t h of  November date.  

MR CRAYTHORNE :    At  that  date,  the company that  they 

ended up wi th,  was st i l l  s i t t ing on the shel f ,  and they were 20 

stand-in directors.   Moi ra. . .  I  th ink i t  is Moi ra. . .  

ADV SIBIYA :    So that  is what is wrong? 

MR CRAYTHORNE :    That  is what is wrong,  ja.  

ADV SIBIYA :    This was not  t rue,  in fact? 

MR CRAYTHORNE :    I t  is not  t rue.  
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ADV SIBIYA :    H’m.  And then i t  says -  and then we get  to 

your point  which is that . . .  . . . [ indist inct  – recording cut  off ]  

were – they became shareholders on the 20t h  of  November 

2014.  And then you say for  – later on unt i l  the 4 t h of 

December -  on paragraph 31.1:  

“Unt i l  the 4 t h  of  December 2014, the date upon which 

Ms Moodley and Nathan off ic ia l ly became di rectors,  

SSI was the shel f  company,  and the day on which 

they became di rectors was 11-days af ter the off ic ia l  

c losing date of  24 November 2014.”  10 

ADV SIBIYA :    That  was my point .  

MR CRAYTHORNE :    And the ev idence of  Mr Torres was that  

there were di rectors then.  

ADV SIBIYA :    Which is incorrect .  

MR CRAYTHORNE :    Now you say i t  is incorrect .   Can I  take 

you back to that  bundle that  we have put  away,  which is 

Bundle 2? 

CHAIRPERSON :    Before you do so.   We are at  four o’c lock.   

Let  us talk about  what is going to happen so that  we are al l  

on the same page.  I  am st i l l  qui te happy to cont inue.  20 

ADV SIBIYA :    Yes,  Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON :    But  you have raised the issues of  curfews 

and so on of  which we may have to be aware.  

ADV SIBIYA :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    What would you l ike me to do? 



08 JANUARY 2021 – DAY 324 
 

Page 177 of 223 
 

ADV SIBIYA :    Chai r,  I  bel ieve we can cont inue unt i l  s ix i f  no 

one is object ing to that .   That  would al low enough t ime for  

people,  including my witness who is  staying at  a  hotel ,  to get  

there at  the r ight  t ime.  And the Chair  had asked me about 

the possibi l i ty of  cont inuing on another day i f  by six  we are 

not  done.  

CHAIRPERSON :    H’m.  

ADV SIBIYA :    Chai r,  the wi tness is  avai lable to cont inue on 

Monday.  

CHAIRPERSON :    H’m.  Okay.   Mr Craythorne,  you are qui te 10 

happy to – that  we cont inue unt i l  s ix? 

ADV SIBIYA :    Yes,  Chairperson.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.   Counsel?  Mr Bham? 

ADV BHAM SC :    We are f ine,  yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    You are f ine? 

ADV BHAM SC :    [No audible reply]   

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay thank you.   Let  us take a ten 

minutes’ break now and then we wi l l  come back and 

cont inue.    

ADV SIBIYA :    Thank you.  20 

CHAIRPERSON :    We adjourn.  

INQUIRY ADJOURNS 

INQUIRY RESUMES  

CHAIRPERSON:    I  th ink  i f  we a re  go ing  to  cont inue on 

Monday we migh t  no t  need to  go  on  up to  s ix ,  we might  
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need to  maybe take an hour  f rom now,  go  up  to  quar te r  

past  f i ve ,  so  –  because i t  appears  tha t  on  Monday there  

w i l l  be  some f lex ib i l i t y  in  te rms o f  o ther  w i tnesses.   There  

may be some –  we shou ld  have enough t ime to  f in ish  h is  

ev idence f i rs t .   So we might  no t  need to  go  up  to  s ix  

o ’c lock  bu t  i f  there  was not  much space on Monday then we  

wou ld  have to  use eve ry  m inute  tha t  we have th is  even ing .   

So I  th ink  le t  us  go  up to  quar te r  past  f i ve .  

ADV SIBIYA:    Thank you,  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay,  a l r igh t .   Thank you.  10 

ADV SIBIYA:    Thank you.   I  was re fe r r ing  us  back to  

bund le  2 ,  Min ing  2 .   I f  we can tu rn  to  page 286.   Okay,  th is  

i s  …[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    I s  i t  qu i te  ho t  ins ide  here  or  i s  i t  jus t  

me?  

ADV SIBIYA:    I t  i s ,  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    I  th ink  Mr  Bham ind ica tes  i t  i s  ho t .   

Maybe the  techn ic ians can swi tch  on  the  a i rcon but  they 

must  jus t  make sure  i t  does not  make too  much no ise .   Ja .   

Okay,  a l r igh t .  20 

ADV SIBIYA:    Thank you,  I  w i l l  ad jus t  my vo ice  

accord ing ly,  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    I  do  no t  have a  lo t  o f  hope tha t  you w i l l  

succeed.  

ADV SIBIYA:    I  w i l l  t ry  my best .  
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CHAIRPERSON:    I  am wi l l i ng  to  be  proved wrong.  

ADV SIBIYA:    Thank you,  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay,  le t  us  con t inue in  the  mean t ime.  

ADV SIBIYA:    Thank you,  Cha i r.   Now,  Mr  Craytho rne,  th is  

document  tha t  appears  on  page 286 is  a  company repor t  on  

Scar le t  Sky Inves tments  60 ,  cor rec t?  

MR CRAYTHORNE:    That  i s  cor rec t .  

ADV SIBIYA:    D id  you source  th is  document?  

MR CRAYTHORNE:    Cor rec t .  

ADV SIBIYA:    Okay.   Now I  w i l l  take  us  –  I  wou ld  l i ke  us  10 

to  go  to  page 292.   I f  you  look towards the  bo t tom you w i l l  

see  where  i t  i s  wr i t ten  in  o range:  

“Company change h is to ry. ”  

Cor rec t?  

MR CRAYTHORNE:    Cor rec t .  

ADV SIBIYA:    And then i f  you go  onto  the  next  page,  293,  

and you w i l l  look  a t  the  th i rd  da te  f rom the  top .   What  i s  

conta ined there?  

MR CRAYTHORNE:    Th i rd  f rom the  top  is  the :  

“D i rec to r  Dan ie l  Mar t in  Nathan deta i l s  was  20 

changed”  

And tha t  was on the  4  February  …[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    Wel l ,  sor ry,  jus t  te l l  f i rs t  what  the  th i rd  

da te  f rom the  top  is?  

MR CRAYTHORNE:    4  February.  



08 JANUARY 2021 – DAY 324 
 

Page 180 of 223 
 

CHAIRPERSON:    I t  i s  4  February  2016,  i s  tha t  cor rec t?  

MR CRAYTHORNE:    That  i s  cor rec t ,  Cha i rperson.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes and then there  i s  a  co lumn where  i t  

i s  wr i t ten  d i rec tor /members /sec re tary / t rus t /bo th  d i rec tor  

and o f f i cer  and then there  is  someth ing  wr i t ten  aga ins t  

tha t .   Jus t  repeat  what  –  te l l  me what  i t  i s?  

MR CRAYTHORNE:    I t  says :  

“D i rec to r /member /sec re ta ry / t rus t /bo th  d i rec tor  and  

o f f i cer ”  

Fo l lowed by :  10 

“D i rec to r  Dan ie l  Mark  Nathan,  de ta i l s  was  

changed. ”  

ADV SIBIYA:    Okay,  thank you.   Now i f  you go  down,  

fu r ther  down …[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    I  am sor ry,  what  i s  the  document?   What  

i s  the  na tu re  o f  tha t  document?   What  i s  the  –  what  

document  i s  th is?   I t  i s  a  company repor t?  

ADV SIBIYA:    I t  i s  a  company repor t  on  Scar le t  Sky.  

CHAIRPERSON:    For  Scar le t  Sky Investments .  

ADV SIBIYA:    Yes,  sou rced f rom tha t  …[ in tervenes]  20 

CHAIRPERSON:    I t  i s  a  document  i ssued by  the  same 

company.  

ADV SIBIYA:    Yes,  i t  i s  the  document  i ssued by  

Lex isNex is ,  yes .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja .   Okay,  a l r igh t .  
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ADV SIBIYA:    Thank you.   And then i f  you go fu r ther  down 

back on  page 293 ,  Mr  Craythorne.  

MR CRAYTHORNE:    Yes.  

ADV SIBIYA:    I f  you  go fu r the r  down – so  you are  on  the  

th i rd  one and you go the  4  –  the  next  one i s  the  4 

February,  the  one be low tha t  i s  the  12  August  2015.   The 

one be low tha t  i s  the  4  December  2014.   Can you read tha t  

one?  

MR CRAYTHORNE:    Aga in  i t  says :  

“D i rec to r /member /sec re ta ry / t rus t /bo th  d i rec tor  and  10 

o f f i ce r. ”  

And then fo l lowed by :  

“D i rec to r,  Dan ie l  Mark  Nathan was  added. ”  

ADV SIBIYA:    What  does th is  mean? 

MR CRAYTHORNE:    Th is  means tha t  h is  appo in tment  on ly  

became e f fec t i ve  on  the  4  December  2014 and then we go 

be low tha t  and we see on the  4  December  2014 aga in  

…[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    Wel l ,  I  am sor ry,  now tha t  you have  

asked tha t  quest ion ,  le t  us  go  back to  tha t  da te  tha t  we 20 

have dea l t  w i th  w i th  regard  to  Mr  Dan ie l  Mark  Nathan,  

there  i t  i s  says h is  de ta i l s  were  changed.   Do you know 

what  tha t  means?  

MR CRAYTHORNE:    I  be l ieve  tha t  cou ld  have been in  

re la t ion  to  a  shareho ld ing  change poss ib ly.   I  am not  sure  
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…[ in te rvenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    You are  no t  sure  what  i t  i s .  

MR CRAYTHORNE:    I  am not  sure ,  Cha i rperson.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay,  a l r igh t .  

ADV SIBIYA:    Thank you.   So i f  you  go to  the  second  

date ,  tha t  i s  the  4  December  2014.    

MR CRAYTHORNE:    I t  has  the  same preamble  fo l lowed by  

d i rec tor  Kubenthe ran Mood ley was added.  

ADV SIBIYA:    And what  does tha t  mean aga in?  

MR CRAYTHORNE:    That  means tha t  h is  d i rec torsh ip  on ly  10 

became e f fec t i ve  as  o f  the  4  December  2014.  

ADV SIBIYA:    Now we a l ready know tha t  the  tender  c losed  

on –  they submi t ted  the i r  tender  in  November  2014.   Were  

they d i rec tors  when they submi t ted  the  tender  on  beha l f  o f  

SSI  as  d i rec tors?  

MR CRAYTHORNE:    No,  they were  no t .  

ADV SIBIYA:    So  shou ld  they have been appo in ted  jus t  on  

tha t  po in t  a lone?  

MR CRAYTHORNE:    No because th is  i s  a  fa lse  

rep resenta t ion ,  they represented  themse lves as  be ing  20 

d i rec tors  o f  a  company tha t  was b idd ing  when i t  i s  no t  t rue .  

ADV SIBIYA:    So  i f  we go back to  tha t  o ther  s ta tement  in  

tha t  o ther  document  where  they sa id  in  answer  to  the 

quest ion  d id  they have a  proven  record  a t  the  t ime and 

they sa id  no ,  un t i l  Nathan jo ined them wi th  h is  exper ience.   
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So  the  quest ion  was d id  SSI  have the  exper ience  and the  

response was they d id  no t  have a  t rack  record  un t i l  Dan ie l  

Nathan jo ined them.   I s  tha t  t rue?  And as  a t  the  t ime they  

submi t ted  the  tender  was Dan ie l  Nathan in  fac t  par t  o f  

SSI?  

MR CRAYTHORNE:    H is  exper ience was  o f  no  

consequence to  SSI ’s  tender.  

ADV SIBIYA:    Yes because he was not  even a  d i rec to r  a t  

the  t ime.   So tha t  i s  another  reason,  tha t  i s  someth ing  e l se  

tha t  you d i scovered was not  co r rec t .  10 

MR CRAYTHORNE:    True.  

ADV SIBIYA:    An  i r regu la r i t y.   Th is  was ta lk ing  to  your  

parag raph 31.2  wh ich  i s  where  we  were  on  page 8  o f  your  

a f f idav i t  so  these  were  …[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    A re  you ask ing  us  to  move back to  the  

o ther  bund le?  

ADV SIBIYA:    Yes,  Cha i r,  the  o the r  bund le ,  thank you.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja ,  jus t  announce each t ime you move 

f rom one bund le  t o  another  so  tha t  we can move w i th  you.  

ADV SIBIYA:    My apo log ies  once aga in ,  Cha i r,  fo r  tha t .  20 

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay,  we are  go ing  back to  Min ing  

bund le  4A.  

ADV SIBIYA:    4 ,  yes ,  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    And you are  a t  page?  

ADV SIBIYA:    8 .  
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CHAIRPERSON:    Okay.  

ADV SIBIYA:    So  bas ica l l y  what  you are  say ing ,  Mr  

Craythorne,  in  your  pa ragraph 31.2 ,  you say:  

“The date  on  wh ich  they became d i rec to rs  was 11  

days a f te r  the  o f f i c ia l  c los ing  da te  o f  24  November  

fo r  fo rmal  wr i t ten  proposa ls  to  be  submi t ted  in  o rde r  

to  compete  in  the  tender. ”  

MR CRAYTHORNE:    That  i s  cor rec t .  

ADV SIBIYA:    So  i f  a  due d i l igence had been conducted,  

wh ich  we have heard  in  the  ev idence o f  Mr  To r res  tha t  i t  10 

was not ,  i t  wou ld  have showed these th ings and SSI  shou ld 

no t  have been appo in ted .  

MR CRAYTHORNE:    That  i s  cor rec t .  

ADV SIBIYA:    Now f rom the  ev idence tha t  you have g iven 

i t  seems tha t  these were  th ings tha t  were  easy to  f ind .  

MR CRAYTHORNE:    That  i s  cor rec t .  

ADV SIBIYA:    What  does i t  te l l  you ,  tha t  these th ings were  

no t  h igh l igh ted  and instead SSI  went  th rough the  shor t l i s t  

and the  appo in tment .  

MR CRAYTHORNE:   I t  te l l s  me tha t  i t  was a  fo regone 20 

conc lus ion ,  a  fa i t  accompl i .   

ADV SIBIYA:    And what  d id  you make o f  tha t?  

MR CRAYTHORNE:    I  made o f  tha t  tha t  i t  was c lass i c  

s ta te  capture .  

ADV SIBIYA:    And th is  was because?   
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MR CRAYTHORNE:    Th is  was because the  modus 

operand i  tha t  was be ing  fo l lowed  here  was a  dead r inger  

fo r  the  o ther  known examples  o f  th is  behav iou r.  

ADV SIBIYA:    Sor ry,  I  d id  no t  hear  the  las t  par t?  

MR CRAYTHORNE:    And th is  was a  c lass ic  example  o f  

o ther  s ta te  captu re  pro jec ts  tha t  had a l ready been revea led  

in  the  pub l i c  domain .  

ADV SIBIYA:    And then in  pa ragraph 32 –  oh ,  be fore  I  go  

to  paragraph 32,  you have a l ready sa id  tha t  Kuben  

Mood ley  had been l inked w i th  s ta te  capture .  10 

MR CRAYTHORNE:    Cor rec t .  

ADV SIBIYA:    Accord ing  to  your  invest iga t ions.   Okay.   

Now in  paragraph 32 o f  you r  a f f idav i t  you te l l  us  about  an  

invest iga t ion  car r ied  ou t  in  2015  by  the  aud i t  and r i sk  

commi t tee  o f  A lexkor  as  ins t ruc ted  by  Min i s te r  Brown.  

MR CRAYTHORNE:    That  i s  cor rec t .  

ADV SIBIYA:    I n  pa ragraph 32.6  you se t  ou t  an  ex t rac t  

f rom the  ARC repor t .   What  i s  the  s ign i f i cance  o f  th is  

ex t rac t?  

MR CRAYTHORNE:    May I  jus t  take  some t ime to  read i t?  20 

ADV SIBIYA:    Okay,  maybe le t  me d i rec t  you cor rect l y  and 

not  d i rec t  you to  the  ex t rac t  f i rs t .   In  the  paragraph  above 

tha t ,  32 .5 ,  you say tha t :  

“A t  the  f ina l  se lec t ion  on ly  th ree  peop le  sa t  on  the  

pane l  a t  A lexkor ’s  Rosebank,  Johannesburg  head  
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o f f i ce . ”  

Now th is  i s  par t  o f  what  was conta ined in  the  repor t ,  

cor rec t?  

MR CRAYTHORNE:    That  i s  cor rec t .  

ADV SIBIYA:    So  th is  i s  no t  your  own in fo rmat ion ,  th is  i s  

what  you got  f rom the  repor t .  

MR CRAYTHORNE:    Cor rec t .  

ADV SIBIYA:    And i t  says :  

“These were  the  peop le ,  Bagus,  Duncan Korab ie  

and Dr  Roger  Pau l . ”  10 

MR CRAYTHORNE:    That  i s  cor rec t .  

ADV SIBIYA:    And you ment ion  tha t  Korab ie  awarded SSI  

a  fu l l  100% mark .  

MR CRAYTHORNE:    Accord ing  to  the  Gami ro  repor t  tha t  i s  

t rue .   I  beg your  pardon,  no .   Accord ing  – I  th ink  i t  i s  in  the  

Gobodo repor t  tha t  I  p icked th i s  up ,  the  fac t  tha t  a  100% -  I  

am not  sure  i f  –  I  cannot  reca l l  i f  I  p icked i t  up  in  the  ARC 

or  in  the  Gobodo repor t .  

ADV SIBIYA:    Wel l ,  you  p i cked  i t  up  in  the  ARC repor t  

because you say in  paragraph 32:  20 

“And invest iga t ion  was ca r r ied  ou t  and ARC repor t  

to  Brown revea led  the  fo l low ing. ”  

MR CRAYTHORNE:    Okay.   You are  qu i te  r igh t ,  I  beg your  

pardon.  

ADV SIBIYA:    Yes,  the  day  has been long.   We 
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unders tand,  Mr  Craythorne.   Now you say i n  pa rag raph 33 

tha t :  

“ I t  appears  tha t  there  was a  s ign i f i can t  lack  o f  

c la r i t y  about  SSI ’s  p roposa l  and what  exact ly  SSI  

had commi t ted  to  in  te rms o f  fund ing ,  p r i c ing ,  

benef ic ia t ion ,  e tce tera ,  wh ich  resu l ted  in  a  de lay  in  

f ina l l y  award ing  the  tender  to  SSI . ”  

MR CRAYTHORNE:    That  i s  co r rec t .   Dr  Roger  Pau l  had  

ra ised concerns regard ing  the  commi tment  to  communi ty  

up l i f tment  and the  issue a round the  va lua t ion  and whethe r  10 

or  no t  tha t  was an appropr ia te  way o f  ensur ing  tha t  A lexkor  

wou ld  ach ieve the  best  p r ices  and –  I  do  no t  reca l l  o f  the  

concerns they had but  there  was a  f lu r ry  o f  emai ls  in  la te 

December  whereby Mr  Cars tens  was anx ious to  in fo rm 

Scar le t  Sky tha t  they had been  prov is iona l l y  awarded 

w inn ing  the  cont rac t .    

There  was hes i tance on the  par t  o f  Dr  Roger  Pau l ,  I  

reca l l ,  bu t  u l t imate ly  Mr  Cars tens was g iven permiss ion  to  

in fo rm Dan ie l  Nathan and Marc  Ch ipk in  who was –  on  

cor respondence tha t  I  have seen,  he  was the  Ch ie f  20 

Opera t ing  Off i ce r  o f  SSI  a t  the  t ime tha t  the  tender  was 

tak ing  p lace and Mr  Cars tens in fo rmed tha t  sub jec t  to  h im  

do ing  a  due d i l igence in  January  they had been successfu l .  

ADV SIBIYA:    Now you say in  parag raph 37 –  i n  fac t  in  

parag raph 37 you make a  number  o f  conc lus ions.   A re  
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these your  own conc lus ions or  a re  these – are  you quot ing  

f rom a  document?  

MR CRAYTHORNE:    These a re  my own conc lus ions 

f low ing out  o f  in fo rmat ion  tha t  I  had gathered in  my SLAPP 

su i t  de fence.  

ADV SIBIYA:    So  in  paragraph 37.1  te l l  us  what  you say  

there .  

MR CRAYTHORNE:     

“Whereas SSI ’s  o r ig ina l  p roposa l  was to  p rocure  

rough d iamond  product ion  th rough an out r igh t  10 

purchase o f  p roduct ion  a t  a  p r ice  de termined by  an  

independent  va luer,  SSI  was permi t ted  to  change i t s  

b id  p roposa l  to  the  se l l ing  o f  rough d iamonds 

th rough and auct ion  process to  the  h ighest  b idder.   

Th is  favoured SSI  and a f fo rded  i t  a  compet i t i ve  

advantage over  o ther  b idders .   SSI  was a lso  

permi t ted  to  inc lude 1 .5% hand l ing  fee  by  hand l ing  

the  rough d iamonds. ”  

ADV SIBIYA:    And then in  pa ragraph 38 you say:  

“ I t  seems se l f -ev ident  tha t  the  ou tcome o f  tha t  20 

process was a  fo regone conc lus ion . ”  

As you have jus t  tes t i f ied .  

“And tha t  the  process i t se l f  was a  mere  sham put  on  

by  the  PSJV management  team headed by  the  CEO 

Cars tens to  t r y  t o  c rea te  a  façade o f  compl iance 
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w i th  requ i red  procurement  p rocesses. ”  

That  i s  your  own conc lus ion .  

MR CRAYTHORNE:    That  i s  my own conc lus ion ,  yes .  

ADV SIBIYA:    And then in  pa ragraph 40 you say:  

“Hav ing  won the  tender  SSI  went  f rom be ing  a  

dormant  she l f  company to  sudden ly  appear ing  on  

the  loca l  D iamond Trad ing  scene as  the  PSJV ’s  new 

market ing  and sa les  se rv i ce  prov ider  tak ing  de l i ve ry  

o f  i t s  f i rs t  t ranche o f  mu l t i -m i l l i on  rand rough  

d iamonds on 15 March 2015. ”  10 

MR CRAYTHORNE:     

“A t  i t s  new o f f i ces  loca ted a t  1  R ive r  S t ree t ,  

Houghton,  Johannesburg . ”  

That  i s  co r rec t .  

ADV SIBIYA:    Yes,  tha t  i s  what  I  wanted to  check,  what  

d id  you want  to  h igh l igh t  there?  

MR CRAYTHORNE:    What  I  wanted to  h igh l igh t  there  was  

the  fac t  tha t  a  cons ide rab le  amount  o f  money had been 

spent  in  an t ic ipa t ion  o f  w inn ing  th i s  tender.  

ADV SIBIYA:    So  the  new o f f i ce  as  c rea ted in  an t ic ipa t ion .  20 

MR CRAYTHORNE:    Ja ,  ja .  

ADV SIBIYA:    A l r igh t .   Now you say in  paragraph 42:  

“As w i l l  be  demonst ra ted  be low,  the  award ing  o f  the  

tender  to  SSI  and the  subsequent  renewal  o f  i ts  

cont rac t  has cont r ibu ted  to  the  co l lapse o f  A lexkor  
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and w i th  i t ,  the  economies o f  A lexander  Bay and  

Por t  No l lo th  and RMC.”  

MR CRAYTHORNE:    Cor rec t .  

ADV SIBIYA:    Is  tha t  par t  o f  the  reason why you came 

here?  

MR CRAYTHORNE:    Abso lu te ly.  

ADV SIBIYA:    Now in  the  next  sec t ion  you deta i l  the  l inks  

be tween Scar le t  Sky and the  Guptas .   We know tha t  some 

o f  th is  was not  your  own invest iga t i on  and you ment ion  tha t  

par t  o f  i t  was dea l t  w i th  in  the  invest iga t ion  by  Pete r  10 

B ishop.   Can you ta lk  to  these f ind ings,  was any o f  what  

fo l lows between  paragraph 43  and 48 your  own  

invest iga t ion  or  i s  th is  based on the  invest iga t ion  tha t  you 

re fer red  to?  

MR CRAYTHORNE:    Th is  i s  my own in fo rmat ion ,  th is  –  bu t  

I  may have d rawn on documents  tha t  were  prov ided to  me.   

But  I  do  no t  see anyth ing  here  tha t  …[ in tervenes]  

ADV SIBIYA:    You d id  no t  f ind  yourse l f?  

MR CRAYTHORNE:    Ja .  

ADV SIBIYA:    Okay.   Now in  these paragraphs you  20 

ment ion  the  l inks .   Can you te l l  us  what  the  l inks  are  

w i thout  necessar i l y  repeat ing  what  i s  in  the  a f f idav i t?   

These are  the  l inks  be tween SSI  and the  Gup tas  as  

d iscovered by  you.  
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MR CRAYTHORNE:    Ja ,  when you look a t  the  ind iv idua ls  

tha t  a re  invo l ved w i th  the  ou tcome o f  SSI  be ing  inser ted  in  

A lexkor ’s  d iamond va lue  cha in ,  they are  very  we l l -known 

ind iv idua ls  in  the  pub l i c  d iscourse  around s ta te  capture .  

ADV SIBIYA:    O ther  than Mood ley,  who wou ld  you be  

ta lk ing  about?  

MR CRAYTHORNE:    I  have ment ioned here  Malus i  G igaba,  

Mosebenz i  Zwane ,  Raf ique Bagus,  Mervyn Cars tens,  Kuben 

Mood ley,  Percy  Khoza,  Ke l le rman ,  Hants i  Matseke ,  Dan ie l  

Nathan,  Se lwyn Nathan,  Marc  Ch ipk in  and Sa l im Essa.  10 

ADV SIBIYA:    Yes.   Now te l l  us ,  you say in  paragraph 48.1  

tha t  Ma lus i  G igaba was ins t rumenta l  in  the  award ing  o f  the 

tender.   Now we know tha t  the  tender  was awarded in  

March 2015 and  tha t  Ma lus i  G igaba was no longer  a  

Min is te r  a t  the  Depar tment  o f  Pub l i c  Enterpr ises  a t  tha t  

t ime so  when you answer  the  quest ion  o f  why you say he  

was –  he  is  the  f i rs t  person you l i s t  as  hav ing  been  

ins t rumenta l  in  mak ing  sure  the  award  was made to  SSI .  

MR CRAYTHORNE:    The name came f i rs t  in  m ind because  

th is  i s  when the  s ta te  captu re  pro jec t  ac tua l l y  began w i th  20 

the  appo in tment  o f  Ma lus i  G igaba and h im  ga in ing  

in f luence over  the  s t ra teg ic  fu tu re  o f  A lexko r.   So in  my 

mind he was invo lved,  bu t  I  w i l l  concede tha t  he  was not  

d i rec t l y  invo l ved but  he  was  cer ta in ly  lay ing  the  

groundwork  fo r  what  was to  come la te r.   So I  w i l l  concede 
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tha t  i t  i s  no t  cor rec t  to  say tha t  he  was d i rec t l y  invo lved  

but  he  was cer ta in ly  a  p ivo ta l  p layer  in  the  overa l l  theme o f  

s ta te  captu re  a t  A lexkor  runn ing  f rom 2010 to  where  we a re  

today.  

ADV SIBIYA:    Yes and in  2010 what  happened? 

MR CRAYTHORNE:    He became Min i s te r  o f  Pub l ic  

Enterp r ises .  

ADV SIBIYA:    Now sor ry  to  take  you back because I  have 

taken you to  paragraph 48 but  I  need you to  go  back to  

parag raph 44.   In  paragraph 44 …[ in tervenes]  10 

CHAIRPERSON:    I  am sor ry,  jus t  to  make sure  tha t  the  

two o f  you are  on  the  same page.   Mr  G igaba was  

appo in ted  as  Min i s te r  o f  Pub l ic  Enterp r ises w i th  e f fec t  f rom 

the  1  November  2010,  he  rep laced Ms Barbara  Hogan.  

MR CRAYTHORNE:    That  i s  cor rec t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    And I  th ink  he  remained Min i s te r  o f  

Pub l ic  Ente rpr i ses  un t i l  2014,  a f te r  the  genera l  e lec t ion .  

ADV SIBIYA:    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    So  i f  you  look a t  the  te rm or  the  per iod  

dur ing  wh ich  he  was Min is te r  o f  Pub l ic  Enterpr i ses,  a re 20 

there  any dec is ions tha t  he  made re la t ing  to  A lexkor  wh ich  

you assoc ia te  w i th  h im hav ing  p layed a  ro le  in  the  a l leged 

s ta te  capture  –  a l leged capture  o f  A lexkor?  

MR CRAYTHORNE:    Yes,  Cha i rman,  because  Malus i  

G igaba o r  ex -min is te r  Ma lus i  G igaba was ins t rumenta l  in  
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repurpos ing  the  board  fo r  the  pu rpose o f  tak ing  A lexkor  

u l t imate ly  ou t  o f  d iamond min ing  and in to  coa l  m in ing  

wh ich  I  v iew to  be  an  abso lu te  s t ra teg ic  b lunder  o f  ep ic  

p ropor t ions  and was one o f  the  i ssues tha t  I  t r ied  to  dea l  

w i th  by  conf ron t ing  the  Por t fo l io  Commi t tee  in  par l iament  

over  th is  s t ra teg ic  dec is ion  and I  wro te  a  repor t  to  

par l iament  t ry ing  to  ra ise  the  a la rm be l l s  bu t  u l t imate ly  a l l  

o f  my e f fo r ts  to  d raw a t ten t ion  to  how ca tas t roph ic  i t  wou ld  

be  to  take  A lexkor,  wh ich  had jus t  reso lved the  Gord ian  

knot  o f  the  land d ispute ,  and was  a l l  se t  now to  recover  10 

and rebu i ld  i t se l f  a f te r  tha t  in ternec ine  f igh t ,  was now 

go ing  to  be  misd i rec ted  in to  a  m isgu ided s t ra tegy  around  

coa l  when i t  had  no –  abso lu te l y  no ,  in  my v iew,  s t ra teg ic  

reason to  want  to  go  there ,  i t  had every  reason to  want  to  

focus on  the  mar ine  d iamonds because there  is  a  such an  

enormous fu tu re  in  mar ine  m in ing  on  the  West  Coast  o f  

South  A f r i ca  and you can see i t  in  Namib ia ,  Namib ia  has a  

f lour ish ing  mar ine  m in ing  indust ry.   They are  invest ing  

t r i l l i ons  in  bu i ld ing  capac i ty  and  we s i t  w i th  a  mor ibund 

indust ry  on  the  o ther  s ide  o f  the  mar i t ime boundary.  20 

CHAIRPERSON:    Now you ment ion  tha t  you communica ted  

w i th  the  Por t fo l io  Commi t tee  in  pa r l iament  to  t ry  and br ing  

th is  i ssue to  the i r  a t ten t ion .   Do you have cop ies  o f  

cor respondence  between yourse l f  and the  Por t fo l io  

Commi t tee  and are  they here  in  the  bund le?  
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MR CRAYTHORNE:    Vo lumes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay,  a l r igh t ,  tha t  i s  impor tan t  because 

par t  o f  what  the  Commiss ion  is  look ing  a t  i s  what  was  

par l iament  do ing  about  some o f  these mat te rs .  

1 .  Which  may have been in  the  pub l i c  domain .  

2 .  Which  may have been brought  spec i f i ca l l y  to  

the i r  a t ten t ion  by  members  o f  the  pub l i c .  

So i t  i s  impor tan t  to  have tha t  ev idence to  say here  is  the  

member  o f  the  pub l i c  who brought  these mat te rs  to  the  

a t ten t ion  o f  par l i ament ,  what  was  par l iament ’s  response,  10 

d id  they acknowledge rece ip t ,  d id  they respond in  

substance,  what  d id  they do  abou t  i t  o r  were  these p leas 

s imp ly  igno red?  

MR CRAYTHORNE:    They were  s imp ly  ignored.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay,  thank you .   Ms S ib iya?  

ADV SIBIYA:    Thank you.   I  am t ry ing  to  dec ide  whe ther  to  

cont inue the  ve in  where  the  Cha i r  as  s ta r ted  or  to  f in ish  

the  par ts  I  was dea l ing  w i th .   I  th ink  I  w i l l  f in ish  the  par t  I  

was dea l ing  w i th .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja .  20 

ADV SIBIYA:    And then cont inue in  th is  ve in .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja ,  okay.  

ADV SIBIYA:    Thank you.   Mr  Craythorne,  I  was re fer r ing  

you back to  paragraph 44 on page  12.  

MR CRAYTHORNE:    Yes.  
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ADV SIBIYA:    Where  you say –  where  you se t  ou t  the  

group s t ruc ture  tha t  was submi t ted  w i th  the  proposa l  fo r  

the  f i rs t  tender  by  SSI .   Now a t  th is  t ime 60% of  the  shares  

were  owned by  a  company represented by  Mood ley  and  

40% was owned by  DMT represented by  Dan ie l  Nathan.  

MR CRAYTHORNE:    Cor rec t .  

ADV SIBIYA:    Okay.   And then in  parag raph 45 you  te l l  us 

about  the  cur ren t  shareho ld ing .   Now who to ld  you about  

th is  cu r ren t  shareho ld ing?  

MR CRAYTHORNE:    Th is  cur ren t  shareho ld ing  I  am not  10 

sure  i t  cou ld  have come f rom – I  have to  re f resh my mind  

because I  have drawn on so  many resources,  I  th ink  i t  

cou ld  have come f rom the  Commiss ion ’s  invest iga tors  o r  

Mr  Henk Smi th ,  I  honest ly,  I  cannot  remember  o f fhand.   

ADV SIBIYA:    Okay,  and i t  says  –  because I  want  to  know 

whose op in ion  is  th is  re f lec ted  in  parag raph 45.3 ,  because 

in  paragraph 45 you then se t  ou t  a  d i f fe ren t  shareho ld ing  

re f lec t ing  30% owned by  the  R ich tersve ld t  Communi ty  

Trus t ,  DNT s t i l l  own ing  the  40% and then in  45 .3  you say 

30% was owned  by  a  b lack  female  who Dan ie l  Nathan 20 

in fo rmed a  Democra t ic  A l l iance member  o f  Par l iament ,  

Veron ica  van Dyk,  when she v is i ted  the  p remises in  

December  2018 tha t  th is  member,  th is  b lack  female  i s  

Reagan Ph i l l i ps  and then you say the  company searches 

cou ld  no t  conf i rm  th is .  
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MR CRAYTHORNE:    That ’s  co r rec t ,  Ms Veron ica  van Dyk  

her  const i tuency is  Namaqua land so  i t  i s  no t  her  por t fo l io ,  

m in ing  i s  no t  her  por t fo l io  bu t  she has great  a f f in i t y  fo r  the  

peop le  o f  Namaqua land,  she has seen the  devasta t ion  le f t  

beh ind  the  te r res t r ia l  m in ing  ac t iv i t ies  ove r  the  past  70  

years  and she was in t roduced to  me by a  fe l low female  

d iamond d ive r,  there  are  female  d iamond d ivers ,  who sa id  

tha t  Ms van Dyk was qu i te  pass ionate  about  the  

R ich tersve ld t  and  Namaqua land and wanted to  lea rn  more  

and tha t  resu l ted  in  a f r iendsh ip  whereby she wou ld  he lp  10 

me t ry  and get  answers  wh ich  I  was unab le  t o  ge t  th rough  

any o the rs  means,  by  launch ing  quest ions in  Par l iament ,  

so  there  were  a  who le  ser ies  ove r  t ime o f  quest ions and  

one o f  the  th ings tha t  Veron ica  revea led  to  me was 

because o f  the  quest ions tha t  she  was ask ing  in  Par l iament  

she was approached by  cer ta in  ind iv idua ls ,  who I  haven ’ t  

ment ioned in  my a f f idav i t ,  so  I  won ’ t  ment ion  i t  here ,  who  

were  concerned about  the  quest ions tha t  she was ask ing  in  

Par l iament  and  assured her  t ha t  she was e f fec t i ve l y  

bark ing  up  the  wrong t ree ,  and there  was no substance to  20 

what  myse l f  and  o thers  were  say ing  in  the  EOC  and 

inv i ted  her  to  go  and a t tend the  auct ions.  

 I  have never  a t tended an auct ion  because there  is  

no  po in t  in  a t tend ing  an auct ion  w i thout  hav ing  access to  

da ta ,  i t  i s  po in t less ,  so  Veron ica  d id  go ,  Ms van Dyk d id  go  
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an  auct ion ,  met  Mr  Dan ie l  Nathan and upon mee t ing  Mr  

Dan ie l  Nathan he in fo rmed,  accord ing  to  he r,  tha t  the  

shareho ld ing  tha t  had been re l inqu ished by  Kuben Mood ley  

had subsequent ly  been taken up by  two ind i v idua ls ,  one o f  

whom was the  F inanc ia l  Accoun tant  o f  A lexkor  and the  

o ther  was Company Secre tary,  Ms Reagan Ph i l l i ps  bu t  tha t  

was –  I  on ly  was to ld  tha t  by  Veron ica  and I  cou ldn ’ t  

conf i rm i t  in  any way Cha i rpe rson.  

ADV SIBIYA:    Okay thank you.   Now I  am tak ing  you back 

to  where  you were  –  where  you were  exp la in ing  why you  10 

say fo rmer  Min i s te r  G igaba was ins t rumenta l  I  award ing  o f  

the  tender  to  SSI .   

 I f  I  may jus t  re fe r  you to  pa ragraph 49 on the  nex t  

page,  page 13.   You s tar t  say ing  tha t  a t  the  t ime o f  the  

appo in tment  o f  SSI  Bagus was  both  the  Cha i rman o f  

A lexkor  and o f  the  RMC A lexkor  Jo in t  Venture  and then you  

say he  was appo in ted  the  Cha i rman o f  A lexkor  by  G igaba  

in  September  2012.   When Bagus  was appo in ted  a l l  o f  the 

d i rec tors  o f  the  board  o f  A lexko r  res igned and s ix  new 

d i rec tors  were  appo in ted .     20 

 What  were  you say ing  here?  

MR CRAYTHORNE:    What  I  was say ing  he re  was tha t  the  

Board  had been reconst i tu ted  to  f i t  h is  v is ion  fo r  A lexkor  

becoming a  coa l  ma jo r.  

ADV SIBIYA:    When you say h i s  v is ion  who is  the  he  tha t  
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you  are  ta l k ing  about?  

MR CRAYTHORNE:    That  i s  the  v is ion  wh ich  was  

announced by  bo th  Mr  G igaba as  we l l  as  the  Deputy  

Min is te r  a t  the  t ime and i t  was a l so  g i ven in  h is  tes t imony  

in  I  th ink  2018 before  Par l iament  on  the  Eskom inqu i ry  he  

was asked by  the  Min is te r,  by  the  Por t fo l io  Commi t tee  

Cha i r lady,  I  Ms Ngangu Gcabashe,  about  what  he  had done 

to  advance emerg ing  b lack  m iners  and he repeated  tha t  he  

had in tended to  deve lop  emerg ing  back m iners  by  

red i rec t ing  A lexkor  ou t  o f  d iamonds and in to  coa l  and in to  10 

par tner ing  w i th  emerg ing  b lack  coa l  m iners  to  supp ly  coa l  

to  Eskom.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Was i t  no t  s t range to  take  a  company  

tha t  i s  based where  A lexkor  was based,  where  i t  had been 

dea l ing  w i th  the  m in ing  o f  d iamonds and say i t  must  now 

a lso  d i rec t  i t s  a t ten t ion  to  coa l  m in ing  in  Mpumalanga? 

MR CRAYTHORNE:    Abso lu te ly  bu t  the  reason ing  g iven 

was the  PSJV and the  fac t  tha t  the  PSJV had e f fec t i ve l y  

s ide l ined A lexkor  i t se l f  as  a  company because A lexkor  w i l l  

on ly  have overs igh t ,  so  in  p r inc ip le  in  some respects  the re  20 

was noth ing  wrong w i th  A lexkor  l ook ing  fo r  an  a l te rna t ive  

revenue s t ream,  bu t  there  was someth ing  very  wrong in  

do ing  i t  when i t  wasn ’ t  budgeted or  cos ted ,  so  the  money 

to  suppor t  a l l  o f  the  ac t iv i t ies  tha t  were  tak ing  p lace ,  a l l  o f  

the  consu l tan ts  tha t  were  be ing  pa id  to  pursue a  coa l  ex i t  
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s t ra tegy was coming f rom the  e f fo r ts  o f  myse l f  and my  

fe l low d iamond d i vers .  

 So wh i le  we were  produc ing  very  pro f i tab ly  fo r  the  

PSJV a  lo t  o f  money,  a  s ign i f i can t  amount  o f  money was  

be ing  invested  i n  these coa l  m in ing  ambi t ions  and you 

cou ld  see A lexander  Bay as  a  town dete r io ra t ing ,  you cou ld  

see our  opera t i ons and the  suppor t  o f  ou r  opera t ions 

de ter io ra t ing  and s t i l l  the  money kept  on  f low ing and  

Par l iament  ra i sed the  issue in  2016 when I  a t tended the  

Por t fo l io  Commi t tee  br ie f ing ,  because i t  had been  10 

announced a l ready in  2013 I  th ink  in  the  annua l  repor ts  

tha t  A lexko r  was go ing  to  s ta r t  pursu ing  coa l  m in ing  

oppor tun i t ies  and var ious o the r  oppor tun i t ies  beyond the  

R ich tersve ld t  and  my argument  was i t  cannot  be  fa i r  tha t  

enormous amoun ts  o f  money are  expended by  A lexkor  

pursu ing  p ro jec ts  funded by  peop le  l i ke  myse l f  tha t  don ’ t  

have any in ten t ion  o f  benef i t t ing  us .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja ,  okay,  Ms S ib iya?  

ADV SIBIYA:    Thank you.   Accord ing  to  your  knowledge  

d id  A lexkor  in  fac t  even have the  exper t i se  to  embark  on  20 

th is  new d i rec t ion? 

MR CRAYTHORNE:    I  don ’ t  be l ieve  so .  

CHAIRPERSON:    And the  res ignat ion  o f  the  o ther  board  

members  to  wh ich  you re fe r,  o f  the  Board  members  to  

wh ich  you re fer  in  paragraph 49 I  th ink  when Mr  Bagus was 



08 JANUARY 2021 – DAY 324 
 

Page 200 of 223 
 

appo in ted  do you  know the  c i rcumstances under  wh ich  they  

res igned,  were  they asked to  res ign ,  d id  they dec ide  to  

res ign  on  the i r  own in  p ro tes t  to  someth ing  or  what  was the  

pos i t ion ,  o r  had  the i r  te rm come to  an  end,  i s  tha t  

someth ing  you know,  or  i s  tha t  someth ing  you don ’ t  know?  

MR CRAYTHORNE:    Cha i rpe rson a t  some po in t  I  

remember  t rack ing  down Dr  D i ,  D r  V  Magen,  I  be l ieve  a t  

the  t ime tha t  I  go t  ho ld  o f  he r  she was l i v ing  on  the  West  

Coast ,  I  th ink  she had re t i red  and I  had a  very  long and 

cord ia l  d iscuss ion  w i th  her  t ry ing  to  f ind  ou t  what  was 10 

go ing  on,  and I  cou ldn ’ t  ge t  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:    A s t ra igh t  answers?    

MR CRAYTHORNE:    I  cou ldn ’ t  ge t  a  s t ra igh t  answer  no .     

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja ,  okay so  a t  th is  s tage a l l  you  are 

go ing  to  say i s  they res igned but  what  the  reason was you 

are  no t  sure .  

MR CRAYTHORNE:   Ja.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay,  a l r igh t .  

ADV SIBIYA:    Thank you,  in  paragraph 50,  f i ve  zero ,  you  

then l ink  Mr  Bagus to  the  board  meet ing  o f  . . . [ in te rvenes]   20 

CHAIRPERSON:    O f  cou rse  Ms S ib iya  i t  may be tha t  when 

they res igned they wou ld  have fu rn ished le t te rs  o f  

res ignat ion  and those maybe on record  w i th in  the  company 

and maybe some o f  them wou ld  have s ta ted  the  reasons so  

tha t  can be checked,  the  reasons may be re levant ,  
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because in  o ther  SOD’s  the re  has been ev idence o f  cer ta in  

peop le  be ing  pushed out  o f  cer ta in  pos i t ions  so  tha t  o thers  

wou ld  be  appo in ted  and then ce r ta in  th ings happened a f te r  

those appo in tments  had to  have happened,  so  i t  i s  

impor tan t  to  check whethe r  the  reasons fo r  the  

res ignat ions may have anyth ing  to  do  w i th  tha t .  

ADV SIBIYA:    Thank you Cha i r,  we w i l l  fo l low up on tha t .   

In  parag raph 50  Mr  Craythorne you ment ion  tha t  Bagus  

a t tended the  A lexkor  Board  meet ings as  we l l  as  those o f  

the  jo in t  venture  inc lud ing  those o f  the  23 r d  January  2015 10 

and 29 January  2015 where  the  dec is ions to  suppor t  SSI  

were  made.  

MR CRAYTHORNE:   That ’s  cor rec t .     

ADV SIBIYA:    And then you say a f te r  the  meet ing  o f  23  

January  2015 Korab ie  res igned.  

MR CRAYTHORNE:    Cor rec t .  

ADV SIBIYA:    Th is  i s  the  same Korab ie  tha t  had scored a  

100,  tha t  had sco red SSI  100?  

MR CRAYTHORNE:    That  i s  cor rec t .  

ADV SIBIYA:    Do we know why he res igned?  20 

MR CRAYTHORNE:    In  the  Aud i t  &  R isk  Commi t tee  repor t  

tha t  was compi led  fo r  fo rmer  Min i s te r  Lynn Brown,  i t  was 

recorded in  tha t  repor t  tha t  Mr  Korab ie  res igned around the  

t ime tha t  the  due d i l igence was not  be ing  done and Mr  

Korab ie  had ra i sed qu i te  a  lo t  o f  ob jec t ion  to  the  award  
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w i thout  a  p roper  due d i l igence and fu r ther  in fo rmat ion  was 

revea led  to  me by way o f  Mr  Sam So le  f rom Amabhungane 

who shared the  in fo rmat ion  tha t  A lexkor  had prov ided h im 

in  response to  quest ions he  had asked the  PSJV Board  in  

response to  p rompts  f rom me as  wh is t leb lower  and in  the  

response tha t  he  had got  and in  the  ar t i c le  tha t  he  wro te  

fo r  Amabhungane ,  I  beg your  pardon,  he  ment ioned tha t  

there  –  i t  was a  burn ing  i ssue fo r  Korab ie ,  wh ich  i t  c lear l y  

i s  because he awarded them 100% but  then was ex t remely  

unhappy when they were  appo in ted  w i thout  the i r  be ing  a  10 

due d i l igence.  

ADV SIBIYA:   Thank you.    You car ry  on  to  speak about  

Cars tens and you say he  was appo in ted  as  the  CEO in  

parag raph 52 on page 15,  you say  he  was appo in ted  as  the  

CEO of  the  jo in t  venture  in  August  2012 and then you  

ment ion  in  the  next  paragraph tha t  the  Aud i t  &  R isk  

Commi t tee  meet ings were  a t tended i n te r  a l ia  by  Cars tens,  

Dr  Pau l ,  Dr  Br iscoe who were  p resent  a t  the  meet ing  o f  the  

15 t h  o f  January  where  the  dec is ion  to  suppor t  SSI  were  

made and tha t  these are  the  same peop le  tha t  a t tended the  20 

techn ica l  commi t tee  meet ings,  so  you are  l ink ing  aga in  

Cars tens,  as  you  ind ica ted  in  pa ragraph 48,  tha t  these are  

the  peop le  tha t  were  ins t rumen ta l  in  ensur ing  tha t  the 

tender  was awarded.  

 Now you say the re  are  Gupta  assoc ia tes  l inked to  
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S ta te  Capture ,  why do you say Cars tens i s  a  Gupta  

assoc ia te  l inked to  S ta te  Capture?  

MR CRAYTHORNE:    Wel l  because Cars tens compromised 

h imse l f  so  obv ious l y  in  an  e f fo r t  to  accommodate  what  a  

Gupta  l inked company was execut ing  upon A lexkor,  so  h i s  

behav iou r  i s  the  bas is  upon wh ich  I  l i nk  h im to  the  Guptas ,  

because no ra t iona l  pe rson wou ld  have done tha t .  

ADV SIBIYA:    Yes,  in  the  face  o f  a l l  the  shor tcomings w i th  

i t s  SSI  tender.  

MR CRAYTHORNE:    And a lso  the  v ic ious response and  10 

re len t less  v ic t im isa t ion  tha t  he  in f l i c ted  upon myse l f  and  

o ther  cont rac tors  tha t  t r ied  to  ra ise  va l id  concerns 

regard ing  the  Gupta  l inks  o f  th is  en t i t y,  he  de fended them 

v ic ious ly.    

ADV SIBIYA:    And we won ’ t  fo rge t  tha t  he  ind ica ted  the re  

had been a  due d i l igence.    

MR CRAYTHORNE:    Cor rec t .  

ADV SIBIYA:    No ev idence ex i s ted  and when in  fac t  the  

Company Secre ta ry  sa id  there  hadn ’ t  been.  

MR CRAYTHORNE:    That  i s  cor rec t .  20 

ADV SIBIYA:    You move on and you dea l  w i th  Khoza,  Mr  

Percy  Khoza,  you dea l  w i th  h im in  parag raph 54 and you 

say he  was appo in ted  as  the  CEO of  A lexkor  and he  was a  

m in ing  execut ive  w i th  bo th  d iamond and coa l  exper ience,  

and then you make a  –  you d raw a  conc lus ion  tha t  he  was  
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h i red  in  par t  to  pursue A lexkor ’s  d ive rs i f i ca t ion  in to  coa l  

approved by  G igaba.   Why do you say tha t?  

MR CRAYTHORNE:    Because he  to ld  me persona l ly  in  a  

meet ing  in  Cape Town dur ing  one o f  the  Indabas,  I  fo rge t  

wh ich  one,  I  fo rge t  wh ich  Min ing  Indaba i t  was,  tha t  I  had  

met  Mr  Khoza and he had to ld  me in  the  presence o f  a  

fo rmer  A lexkor  Ch ie f  Execut ive  as  we l l  as  a  co l league o f  

m ine f rom the  mar ine  m in ing  indust ry,  tha t  he  had been  

brought  on  board  to  execute  the  coa l  s t ra tegy bu t  he  was  

go ing  to  res ign  f rom A lexkor.  10 

ADV SIBIYA:    Okay then you go on and you dea l  w i th  Mr  

Mood ley,  o f  whom you have a l ready to ld  us ,  and in  

parag raph 57 on  page 15 a t  the  top  o f  page 15,  you say 

tha t  a  number  o f  med ia  repor t s  have l inked Mood ley  to  the  

Guptas  and to  the  ers twh i le  Min is te r  o f  Minera l  Resources,  

Zwane,  who is  in famous fo r  h is  invo l vement  in  the  Vrede  

Da i ry  Pro jec t  wh ich  pa id  fo r  the  Gupta  wedd ing .  

MR CRAYTHORNE:    Cor rec t .  

ADV SIBIYA:    And you ment ion  tha t  you have noted tha t  in  

the  Commiss ion  w i tnesses have s ta ted  tha t  Mood ley  20 

ass is ted  Tr i l l i an  Cap i ta l  to  loo t  Eskom and ass i s ted  the  

Gupta ’s  in  acqu i r i ng  Opt imum Mine .  

MR CRAYTHORNE:    Cor rec t ,  tha t  f lows out  o f  the  Pub l ic  

Pro tec tor ’s  Repor t  as  we l l .  

ADV SIBIYA:    Mmm,  and then you car ry  on ,  wou ld  you l i ke  
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to  read the  las t  l ine  there?  

MR CRAYTHORNE:     

“ I t  wou ld  appear  tha t  he  has a lso  ass is ted  the  

Guptas  in  loo t ing  the  d iamond resources in  the  

R ich tersve ld t  fo r  Dan ie l  Nathan  and o the r  

connected pe rsons benef i t . ”  

ADV SIBIYA:    And then you move to  Mr  Essa.   Do you 

have persona l  in fo rmat ion  in  re la t ion  to  Essa ’s  

invo l vement?   I  no te  tha t  you ment ion  tha t  much  o f  th is  

was d iscussed in  B ishop ’s  a f f idav i t ,  so  tha t  i s  why  I  don ’ t  10 

want  to  go  in to  i t  i f  you  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

MR CRAYTHORNE:    Yes and a lso  Essa ’s  l inks  were  a l so  

made pub l i c  by  i f  I  reca l l  the  –  or  a  key l ink  in  th is  was the  

In tegra ted  Cap i ta l  Management  wh ich  had very  s t rong l inks  

to  Sa l im Essa but  a lso  had ve ry  s t rong l inks  to  Scar le t  Sky  

because Marc  Ch ipk in  was in  fac t  the  Ch ie f  Opera t ing  

Off i cer  o f  Scar le t  Sky a t  the  t ime tha t  i t  was punt ing  fo r  the 

tender,  so  the  Ch ipk in ,  the  Marc  Ch ipk in  l inks  and the  

Tr i l l i an  s to ry  in  my mind pos i t i ve ly  l ink  Mr  Sa l im Essa to  

the  SSI  s to ry.  20 

ADV SIBIYA:    Mmm. 

CHAIRPERSON:    On a  l igh ter  no te  Mr  Craythorne I  wanted 

to  say I  see tha t  you when you g ive  an  answer  you look a t  

the  ev idence leader  and i t  i s  on ly  when she doesn ’ t  look  a t  

you tha t  you look  a t  me [ laugh ing ] .     
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MR CRAYTHORNE:    I  am learn ing .   I  asked her  

. . . [ ind is t inc t ]  bu t  she sa id  tha t  wou ld  be  too  obv ious .  

CHAIRPERSON:    [ laugh ing ]  le t  us  cont inue.  

ADV SIBIYA:    Indeed Cha i r,  I  w i l l  d raw no mean ing  f rom 

tha t  a t  a l l ,  thank you Cha i r.    You car ry  on  and you ment ion 

Ke l le rman,  tha t  i s  Ze r ina  Ke l le rman .  

MR CRAYTHORNE:    Cor rec t .  

ADV SIBIYA:    Yes.   We have heard  o f  Ke l le rman  in  the 

ear l ie r  ev idence o f  Mr  Tor res .  

MR CRAYTHORNE:    She was the  Ch ie f  Lega l  Of f i cer  o f  10 

A lexkor  a t  the  t ime tha t  SSI  was  be ing  in t roduced.   I  d id  

no t  invest iga te  o r  look  much in to  Ms Ke l le rman,  I  know 

very  l i t t le  about  what  he r  l inks  are  fu r the r  than the  fac t  tha t  

she was subsequent ly  appo in ted  as  an  adv isor  I  th ink  to  – 

as  I  record  here  Maz ibenz i  . . . [ ind is t inc t  –  d ropp ing  vo ice [  

bu t  there  is  a lso  some emai ls  where  she was cop ied  in  

dur ing  the  per iod  so  she was very  much on board  the  

process o f  b r i ng ing  Scar le t  Sky i n to  A lexkor  bu t  I  am not  

cer ta in  exact ly  what  ac t i ve  ro le  she was p lay ing  so  i t  

looked to  me more  l i ke  you know i t  doesn ’ t  seem to  me tha t  20 

–  I  don ’ t  have any ev idence o f  –  tha t  I  can say we l l  she d id  

exact ly  th i s  o r  exact ly  tha t ,  bu t  as  the  lega l  o f f i cer  and w i th  

regard  to  her  respons ib i l i t i es  fo r  ensur ing  the  governance  

she cou ld  have  done much more  to  p revent  these 

governance ove rs igh ts  tak ing  p lace .  



08 JANUARY 2021 – DAY 324 
 

Page 207 of 223 
 

ADV SIBIYA:    You go on to  ment ion  Ms Hants i  Matseke.  

MR CRAYTHORNE:    I t  was very  c lea r  yes  to  me as a  

mar ine  m ine r  how Ms Hants i  Ma tseke cou ld  become the  

Cha i rperson o f  A lexko r.   My invest iga t ions in  the  pub l i c  

domain  revea led  her  l inks  to  the  fo rmer  Premie r  o f  the  Free  

S ta te ,  Secre tary  Genera l  Ace  Magashu le ,  and her  

re la t ionsh ip  so  there  were  cer ta in ly  deep concerns fo r  me 

when I  d iscovered th is  because i t  jus t  added to  the  we igh t  

o f  the  S ta te  Capture  theme tha t  was deve lop ing .  

ADV SIBIYA:    And f rom the  t imef rame tha t  you g ive  in  th is  10 

parag raph tha t  she was the  Cha i r  o f  A lexkor  f rom August  

2015 to  October  2018,  you a l ready tes t i f ied  tha t  the  –  no  

you d id  no t  –  sor ry  I  don ’ t  want  to  pu t  words in  your  mouth .   

Do you know i f  she was the  Cha i rperson,  we l l  you say yes,  

I  am sor ry,  I  am confus ing  myse l f ,  you say she was a l so  

the  Cha i r  o f  the  jo in t  ventu re ,  so  i f  you  look  a t  the 

t imef rame o f  August  2015 to  Oc tober  2018 she was the  

Cha i r  a t  the  t ime tha t  the  second award  was made.  

MR CRAYTHORNE:    That  i s  cor rec t  and she was a lso  the  

Cha i rperson o f  the  Free S ta te  Deve lopment  Corpora t ion .   20 

So i t  was a  cur ious m ix  o f  c redent ia ls .  

ADV SIBIYA:    And then the  las t  ins t i tu t ion  tha t  you 

ment ion  is  Reg iment  Cap i ta l .  

MR CRAYTHORNE:    Wel l  Reg iment  –  a  lo t  o f  what  I  have  

subsequent ly  d iscovered about  Reg iments  Cap i ta l  has 
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been th rough in te rac t ion  w i th  the  Commiss ion ,  bu t  the  

ind iv idua ls  in  Reg iments  Cap i ta l ,  in  Tr i l l i an ,  In tegra ted  

Cap i ta l  Management ,  i t  was a  –  seemed l i ke  there  was a  

conste l la t ion  o f  sa te l l i te  en t i t ies  revo lv ing  around Sa l im 

Essa ’s  o f f i ce  in  Mel rose  Arch ,  even Scar le t  Sky ’s  o f f i ces  a t  

the  t ime the  tender  tha t  the  tender  was p laced i t  was r igh t  

next  door  to  Sa l im Essa,  so  in  te rms o f  connect ing  

. . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:    How do you know tha t ,  i s  i t  because you 

phys i ca l l y  go  there ,  o r  how do you know tha t?  10 

MR CRAYTHORNE:    No I  have seen le t te rheads w i th  the  

addresses o f  the  var ious compan ies .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

MR CRAYTHORNE:    And you  know in fo rmat ion  in  the  

pub l i c  domain ,  the  Bud lender  Repor t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  yes .  

MR CRAYTHORNE:   And var ious o ther  repor ts ,  they a l l  

ta lk  about  a  Mel rose Arch  cent re  o f  g rav i t y  when i t  comes  

to  S ta te  Capture .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja ,  we l l  i t  i s  impor tan t  because as  you 20 

may know there  has been ev idence  in  regard  to  Eskom.  

MR CRAYTHORNE:    Abso lu te ly.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Re la t ing  to  Mr  Essa meet ing  w i th  cer ta in  

Eskom of f i c ia ls  a t  Me l rose Arch  in  some o f f i ces  the re ,  so  –  

bu t  you say you base what  you a re  say ing  on  le t te rheads  
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and in fo rmat ion  in  the  pub l i c  doma in?  

MR CRAYTHORNE:   Correc t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay.  

ADV SIBIYA:    On page 16 o f  the  same bund le  in  

parag raph 62  you make a  submiss ion  tha t  the  buyers  

tender  p rocess and the  invo lvement  o f  the  a forement ioned 

Gupta  l inked ind i v idua l  a re  enough ev idence to  reasonab ly  

conc lude tha t  the  inser t ion  o f  SSI  in to  the  PSJV ’s  D iamond  

Va lue  Cha in  was a  Gupta  sponsored S ta te  Captu re  pro jec t  

tha t  fo l lowed the  same modus operand i  used by  the  Guptas  10 

in  the  capture  o f  o ther  SOE’s .  

MR CRAYTHORNE:    That  i s  cor rec t .  

ADV SIBIYA:    Mmm.   And you car ry  on  tha t  there  was not  

even a  need fo r  such a  company to  be  appo in ted ,  fo r  any 

company to  be  appo in ted  in  th is  ro le  in  the  next  

parag raph?  

MR CRAYTHORNE:   Yes,  I  am go ing  to  read i t  and then 

fo l low i t  w i th  perhaps some fu r the r  exp lanat ion ,  i s  tha t  in  

o rder?    

ADV SIBIYA:    Yes tha t  i s  f ine .   20 

MR CRAYTHORNE:    Paragraph 63  reads as  fo l lows:  

“ Indeed there  was abso lu te ly  no  need fo r  any  

market ing  or  sa les  company to  p romote  the  

d iamonds recovered by  PSJV.   G iven the  exper t  

op in ion  o f  Char les  Windham regard ing  the  se l f -
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se l l ing  qua l i t y  o f  A lexkor ’s  d iamonds,  and example  

se t  by  Z imbabwe S ta te  owned d iamond company,  

who se l l  the i r  own product ions  in  Z imbabwe,  I  

submi t  tha t  in te rna t iona l  buyers  w i l l  t rave l  to  

Z imbabwe to  buy Mi rand i  d iamonds,  they w i l l  

cer ta in ly  a l so  t rave l  to  A lexander  Bay to  buy 

A lexander  Bay ’s  d iamonds,  A lexko r ’s  d iamonds. ”  

So Char les  Windham is  an  in te rna t iona l l y  acc la imed exper t  

on  po l i shed and rough d iamonds.   H is  company fo r  many  

years  was the  government  d iamond eva lua tor  fo r  the 10 

Canad ian  D iamond Indust ry.    He was brought  in to  contac t  

w i th  A lexkor  a round 1998 by  the  fo rmer  or  the  Cha i rperson 

a t  the  t ime who was Advocate  Nona Gaza,  because 

Advocate  Gaza had deep concerns  a l ready then about  what  

was tak ing  p lace,  and she went  and v is i ted  Ma . . . [word  cu t  

o f f ]  and d id  ex tens ive  research  Chair  and did extensive 

research on the d iamond pipel ine i t  is  what  we cal l  i t  in the 

industry.   And – and as part  of  the process Mr Char les 

Windham submit ted a report  in 1998 to Alexkor making i t  

very clear to Alexkor  that  by turning themselves into an 20 

exclusive agreement wi th De Beers – at  the t ime i t  was De 

Beers i t  was cost ing at  least  23% of  what could have been 

achieved through a process of  proper pr ice discovery.   And 

the – the report  that  Mr Windham authored even he as an 

expert  based in London knew that  there is no bet ter address 
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in terms of  the [00:01:00]  geology than the address that  

Alexander Bay has.   I t  has got  the – what – in the mining 

industry they ta lk  about  a phenomenon cal led closeology so 

you have scient i f ic geology but  then you have closeology.   

So i f  you mining diamonds hand over f ist  l ike they are in 

Namibia you should be able to be mining diamonds hand 

over  f ist  across an imaginary l ine in South Afr ica.   I t  is  the 

same deposi t .   So that  is what closeology means and that  is  

a point  that  al ready in 1998 somewhere as far removed f rom 

Alexander Bay as Mr Charles Windham was making.   So the 10 

– regarding the qual i ty of  Alexkor ’s d iamonds he made i t  

very clear that  A lexkor  does not  need any market ing the 

diamonds are so wel l  renowned people wi l l  come and buy 

them in Alexander Bay.   This whole story of  market ing this 

and market ing that  i t  is a l l  nonsense.   I t  a l l  opens up 

opportuni ty for state capture and for ravaging the value pipe 

– the value chain and the diamond pipel ine.  

ADV SIBIYA:   Thank you very much.  Chair  th is is the end of  

th is l ine of  quest ioning so I  am looking at  the t ime as 

agreed.  20 

CHAIRPERSON:   Wel l  we can stop now or we could go on 

for  another f i f teen minutes and stop at  ha l f  past .   I f  that  is 

f ine wi th everybody I  th ink i t  would be f ine wi th everybody.  

Maybe let  us do that .  

ADV SIBIYA:   Thank you Chai r.  
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CHAIRPERSON:   Just  take the next  f i f teen minutes then 

stop at  hal f  past .  

ADV SIBIYA:   Thank you Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay.  

ADV SIBIYA:   The next  sect ion of  your aff idavi t  Mr 

Craythorne you deal  wi th how there was also a breach of  

statutory provis ions.   We are st i l l  on page 16.   You deal  wi th  

the provisions of  the Diamonds Act .  

MR CRAYTHORNE:   That  is correct .   By law you are not  

al lowed to conduct  l icensed act iv i t ies under the l icence of  10 

someone else.   So the – the act iv i t ies of  Scarlet  Sky which 

were conducted on the strength of  a l icence held by Daniel  

Nathan Trading is  – is not  permit ted.   I t  is unlawful .  

ADV SIBIYA:   So in addi t ion to the other i r regular i t ies in  

re lat ion to thei r  appointment th is was in fact  unlawfu l  for SSI  

to then having been appointed – do what i t  was appointed to 

do? 

MR CRAYTHORNE:   That  is correct .  

ADV SIBIYA:   And then you explain in paragraph 70 on page 

17 paragraph 70 that  there is  even a prohibi t ion on the 20 

ut i l isat ion of  unregistered premises as a t rading house.  

MR CRAYTHORNE:   I  am not  sure what the si tuat ion is now 

but  at  the t ime there – the premises that  Scar let  Sky was 

conduct ing the auct ions was not  registered as a tender – 

what they cal l  a tender house.   So the premises themselves 
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have to  be l icensed as does the ent i ty that  is managing and 

conduct ing and di rect ing those act iv i t ies on those premises.  

ADV SIBIYA:   And then you – you take us back to that  

quest ion that  we have already deal t  wi th in Parl iament and 

you draw a conclusion on page 18 at  the top of  page 18 

paragraph 73.1 and you say:  

“Al though Daniel  Nathan is a holder  of  a  

diamond dealer  l icence and a diamond 

t rading house l icence these l icences were 

issued in the name of  DNT and not  SSI. ”  10 

What is the signi f icance there? 

MR CRAYTHORNE:   The signi f icance of  that  is that  i t  is 

i r re levant  that  he has a l icence.   I t  is a requi rement that  the 

– the ent i ty that  is  conduct ing the business and the premises 

upon which they are conducted has – that  ent i ty has to have 

the l icence.   I t  has to be in that  ent i ty ’s name.   I t  cannot – i t  

is l ike the dr iver ’s l icence as Mr Torres said.   You cannot 

dr ive a car on someone else’s l icence.  

ADV SIBIYA:   Okay.   Now we move to a di fferent  sect ion of  

your aff idavi t  and we deal  on page 19 wi th a complaint  20 

level led by the mining cont ractors.   You start  out  by saying 

that  the value has considerably diminished.   You have 

al ready told us how you calculated the value by producing 

your own indices and doing comparisons.   Now you are 

tel l ing us that  in  October 2017 you wrote to the company 
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secretary of  the JV on behal f  of  the EAC’s members and who 

had – who had expressed thei r  concern and anger about the 

ever decreasing values at t r ibuted to the diamonds produced 

by them.  Now was this af ter or before you posted the pr ic ing 

on the outside of  the mine – the plant? 

MR CRAYTHORNE:   This was around the same t ime.  I  

cannot be certain whether i t  was before or af ter.  

ADV SIBIYA:   What was the gist  of  what you wrote to Ms 

Reagan – Ms Phi l l ips? 

MR CRAYTHORNE:   The gist  was effect ive ly that  there was 10 

no – wel l  f i rst  of  a l l  there was a huge amount of  discontent  

regarding the pr ice performance but  there was also a lot  of  

consternat ion about the lack of  informat ion about  what – who 

these people were and you know what was – what was the 

reason for th is dramat ic drop?  So my – the purpose of  my 

let ter  to  Ms Phi l l ips was to  say,  look everybody is  very 

unhappy about th is si tuat ion.   Can we get  together  as the 

EAC represent ing the contractors and yourselves and can 

you start  making some disc losures so that  you know we can 

at  least  understand who i t  is that  is behind th is poor  20 

performance and how i t  is  that  they came to be where they 

are?  And there – I  a lso raised the concerns around the 

disappearance of  our ta i l ings which was a lso a burning 

issue.   I  ra ised also concerns about the lack of  disclosure in  

the annual  reports.   Because i t  is v i ta l  for us and in  fact  any 
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user of  an integrated report  to have segment informat ion.   

You need to understand i f  there is cross subsidisat ion of  

business uni ts which are the business uni ts that  are 

performing wel l  and which are the business uni ts that  are 

not?  And i f  you do not  have segment report ing you have no 

way of  understanding why i t  is  that  when you have a 

segment that  you are a part  of  that  is performing very wel l  i t  

is that  the overal l  enterpr ise is going downhi l l .  

ADV SIBIYA:   Now you pointed out  a number of  th ings.   

What was the response that  you received because to me th is 10 

sound l ike ser ious issues?  So what response did you 

receive? 

MR CRAYTHORNE:   I  can – can I  read the response? 

ADV SIBIYA:   Huh-uh.  

MR CRAYTHORNE:    

“Dear Gavin your  emai l  09 instant  is noted.   

Any issue pertaining to  the diamond sales 

and diamond pr ic ing t rends must  be 

addressed di rect ly wi th the PSJV.  SSI is the 

market ing agent of  the PSJV duly appointed 20 

by the board.   We cannot provide in format ion 

of  a service provider to th i rd part ies.   You 

are welcome to d iscuss any issues wi th SSI  

or  any other service provider of  the PSJV 

with management.   Regards Reagan 
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Phi l l ips."  

ADV SIBIYA:   Ja and af ter th is you wrote another emai l  

which is then when you went into greater detai l  as you have 

just  explained? 

MR CRAYTHORNE:   That  is correct .   Actual ly i t  was the 

second let ter that  I  went into the type of  deta i l  about  what 

sort  of  t ransparency i t  is the contractors were seeking in  

order to gain some kind of  understanding as to why thei r 

businesses were suffer ing as a resul t  of  such poor  pr ic ing 

performance.  And I  – I  note in my aff idavi t  that  I  received no 10 

response to that  emai l .  

ADV SIBIYA:   Hm.  Instead what happened af ter that  emai l  

in paragraph 85? 

MR CRAYTHORNE:   Af ter I  ra ised ser ious concerns 

regarding the sharp decl ine in the pr ices of  our  diamonds my 

and severa l  other miners’ contracts were cancel led.  

ADV SIBIYA:   So in the t imel ine how soon af ter  these emai ls  

were your cont racts cancel led? 

MR CRAYTHORNE:   Wel l  before the cont racts were 

cancel led they were – they were actual ly cancel led by way of  20 

non-renewal.   So we had been contractors wi th Alexkor for  

many,  many years and the contracts would get  renewed 

every three years or so and what happened in our  instances 

the – the whist le  blowers f rom the EAC did not  have thei r  

contracts renewed but  in my case because they fel t  that  my 
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behaviour was part icu lar ly egregious to them they actual ly 

blocked me personal ly.   So before they cancel led my 

company’s contract  they knocked me out  as the key person 

involved in running the business and blocked my access into 

the mine.   So that  began what was to be the star t  of  the 

decimat ion of  my f inancial  wel lbeing.   Because that  resul ted 

in sixteen months of  shut  down without  you know vessel  

insurance which I  – to th is day I  cannot pay the insurance on 

my vessel .   This year  I  nearly lost  my vessel  twice.   Just  

before I  came to the commission I  st ruggled in a big storm 10 

35 knot  wind where the moorings broke and I  had to  go into 

the mine and mysel f  and swim out  to my vessel  to save that  

vessel .   I f  that  vessel  is gone on the rocks that  is the only 

th ing my wife and my fami ly have lef t  and we cannot insure i t  

because we – they are steal ing our diamonds in the plant .   

So – i t  has been a tough journey to get  here Chai rperson.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

ADV SIBIYA:   Mr Craythorne you say i t  was yours and 

several  other miners ’ cont racts that  were cancel led.   Were 

they also people that  had been vocal  against  certain th ings 20 

at  the PSJV? 

MR CRAYTHORNE:   Yes but  not  very vocal .   Look I  –  I  – 

over  the four years f rom the t ime that  I  f i rst  b lew the whist le 

in Parl iament in November 2016 i t  was not  as i f  we came out  

guns blazing.   I t  started off  you know f r iendly request  to – I  
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wrote to the Alexkor  board and I  said look there are things 

that  are going on in Alexander Bay which have ser ious 

impl icat ions for you as the 51% owner in  th is  PSJV and with 

regard to your  – your  assets – your  very va luable diamond 

assets that  we need to know about.   And I  gave an 

undertaking – I  corresponded with Zukiswa Rantho who was 

then the chai rperson of  the Port fo l io Commit tee.   She was 

very interested and we found out  in a subsequent meet ings 

that  we had my col league George and I  that  her son had 

been threatened in a street  coming out  of  school .   Okay.   10 

She told me and George that  she had t r ied t ime and t ime 

again to arrange an oversight  v is i t  to Alexander Bay and 

every t ime she t r ied to arrange i t  the answer was no because 

i t  was too dangerous and the members of  the Port fo l io 

Commit tee safety could not  be guaranteed.   The same 

al legat ions were made on record i t  is in the [00:15:37]  by 

Honourable Cathy Labuschange where she stated in a 

Port fo l io  Commit tee that  she was told to stay away f rom 

Alexkor and we need to f ind out  who i t  is that  was 

int imidat ing Zukiswa Rantho and Cathy Labuschange and 20 

going out  of  thei r  way to make sure that  Alexkor  or the 

Port fo l io  Commit tee could not  do oversight  of  what was 

going on in A lexkor.  

CHAIRPERSON:   What reasons were you given for the 

cancelat ion of  your cont racts? 
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MR CRAYTHORNE:   The breakdown of  the t rust  re lat ionship.  

CHAIRPERSON:   What were you told was the factual  basis 

for the conclus ion that  there was a breakdown in the t rust  

re lat ionship i f  th is  was clar i f ied to you at  al l?  

MR CRAYTHORNE:   There was not  much deta i l  g iven.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Hm.  Did you ask – ask them to tel l  you 

what they were talk ing about? 

MR CRAYTHORNE:   Wel l  we – one col league in part icu lar 

wrote to  Ms Phi l l ips.   I  could understand why they were 

upset  wi th me because I  was going to the press,  I  was going 10 

to the media but… 

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja.  

MR CRAYTHORNE:   That  had only come very late in the day.   

So there had been a bui ld-up of  tension of  tension so what – 

what became apparent  to me Chai rperson as someone – a 

member of  the publ ic that  is i f  you want to make – i f  you 

want to get  people’s at tent ion you have to put  yoursel f  in 

harm’s way.   They do not  take you ser iously.   I  had to put  

mysel f  in harm’s way and end up get t ing s lap sui ted by 

Webber Wentzel  and top advocates and then again get t ing 20 

another slap sui t  again.   That  dest royed my business.   I t  

destroyed my sense of  wel lbeing.   I t  has had an immense 

impact  but  that  is the k ind of  th ing that  you have to do before 

people actual ly s tart  th inking wel l  look why is  th is  guy so 

crazy?  You know is  he a lunat ic  or does he real ly have 
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something that  he has to be angry about? 

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

MR CRAYTHORNE:   Or upset  about .  

CHAIRPERSON:   And of  course somet imes what – what 

happens is that  harm is vis i ted upon you to – so as to deter  

others f rom fol lowing in your footsteps.  

MR CRAYTHORNE:   And that  is why there is  so much fear  

amongst  the – that  is  why we do not  have a support  base.    

We do not  have a power base because when – when Mr 

Wayne Cook very – when my – when I  – when my access into 10 

the mine was cancel led Wayne simply wrote a let ter to 

Reagan Phi l l ips saying look this is a bi t  heavy.   And you 

know she reacted very,  very harshly to him and that  resul ted 

in him having his  cont ract  cancel led.   And they – when he 

asked for an explanat ion they said to him because you Mr 

Wayne Cook are support ing Mr Gavin Craythorne.  

CHAIRPERSON:   What do you think they would say in  

defending thei r  decision to cancel  your contracts?  What do 

you think they would put  on the table?  Do you th ink they 

would have noth ing factual ly other  than to real ly ta lk about  20 

what indeed happened?  Namely you were rais ing issues that 

they were uncomfortable wi th or do you think they would 

come up wi th some? 

MR CRAYTHORNE:   When – Chai rperson when I  f i rst  rang 

the bel l  in late November 2016 my concerns were not  about  
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the Gupta ’s.   The – the Gupta emai ls had not  surfaced yet .   

The whole state capture story had not  real ly  dawned on us 

as a count ry of  what was going on.   I  was more concerned 

with whi te monopoly capi ta l  state capture because I  had read 

Sant ie Terblanche’s book Lost  in  Transformat ion and that 

woke me up to what apartheid was al l  about .   To what you 

know i t  is just  you have the insiders and you have the 

outsiders.   So i f  you are on the outside i t  is tough and 

somet imes you can get  on the inside but  then you got  to play 

the same game.  So the only indicat ion that  I  got  was when I  10 

t r ied to point  out  to the Alexkor  board who I  met in  

Parl iament l isten the issues that  you need to start  paying 

at tent ion to.   I  to ld them that  I  be l ieve that  the PSJV had 

been captured by Transhex okay.   The ent i re PSJV top 

management is  a l l  Transhex execut ives and they are also 

part  of  – oh okay let  me not  go there for now Chai rman.  But  

i t  was very clear to me what was going on and I  t r ied to warn 

the Alexkor board that  the narrat ive that  there was no future 

diamond mining potent ia l  for Alexkor was a horrendous l ie.   I  

In fact  authored a report  d iscussing the local  geology – 20 

histor ical  product ion and why i t  was so important  to start  

focussing on the marine.   And I  in i t ia l ly got  a very warm 

response f rom Zukiswa Nt langula who was a board member 

of  Alexkor at  the t ime.  And when I  met her in Parl iament I  

had a very good discussion wi th her and I  said to her,  look I  
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wi l l  put  together  a report  for you okay but  I  need your 

support .   A l l  that  happened was that  she referred what I  was 

saying to Mr Carstens and that  resul ted in a month later just  

before the mine closed I  got  ca l led into meet and face 

Mervin Carstens and Ms Reagan Phi l l ips who were l ivered 

because what I  had done and they said l isten I  am going to 

lose my cont ract .   And I  said st ra ight  to them and I  said 

l isten you know you bet rayed us you know in terms of  you 

know the Scarlet  Sky issue and you know this Quesko [?]  

p lan which had emerged and so on.  10 

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja okay al r ight .   We are – we have gone 

past  hal f  past  f ive.   I  th ink we must stop here unless there is  

a quest ion which you think should not  wai t .  

ADV SIBIYA:   I  have.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Unt i l  Monday.  

ADV SIBIYA:   I  have one quest ion but  I  cannot guarantee 

how long Mr Craythorne wi l l  take in answering.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay.  

ADV SIBIYA:   So we can stop here.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Let  is wai t .   Let  i t  wai t .  20 

ADV SIBIYA:   Yes Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay we are going to stop at  th is t ime.  

Thank you to  everybody for  cooperat ion for us to work unt i l   

now.  We wi l l  cont inue on Monday then at  ten o’clock and we 

wi l l  deal  wi th other issues connected wi th Monday on 
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Monday in terms of  other wi tnesses.   So we are going to 

adjourn.   We adjourn.  

REGISTRAR:   A l l  r ise.  

INQUIRY ADJOURNS TO 11 JANUARY 2021  
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